Annual Report
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Excellent health care, every time

Acknowledgement of
country and people
South Metropolitan Health Service respectfully acknowledges the Noongar people both past and present,
the traditional owners of the land on which we work. We affirm our commitment to reconciliation through
strengthening partnerships and continuing to work with Aboriginal peoples.

Sections from the artwork titled Welcome to Country
Artists: Wendy Hayden, Deborah Bonar, Ella Taylor and Joanna Robertson
Canvas wall panels feature ochres sourced from around the State and stalks to represent the five regions of WA.

2

Contents
Acknowledgement of country and people...................2
Statement of compliance..........................................................4

Overview
Executive summary...................................................................... 6
Operational structure..................................................................11
Strategic focus...............................................................................26
Strategic priorities.......................................................................34

5
Strategic highlights....................................................................36
Living with COVID-19...................................................................61
Performance Management Framework.......................62

Performance
Financial targets.......................................................................... 68
Summary of key performance indicators.................. 69

67
Emergency department access performance........72
Learning from clinical incidents.......................................75

Significant issues
Elective surgery............................................................................79
Emergency access......................................................................82

77
Outpatient reform.........................................................................83

Disclosure and compliance
Audit opinion...................................................................................87
Certification of financial statements..............................92
Financial statements.................................................................93

Appendices
Appendix 1: Addresses and contacts...........................192
Appendix 2: Board and committee
remuneration................................................................................194

85

Certification of key performance indicators...........152
Key performance indicators...............................................153
Governance and legal compliance............................... 172

191
Appendix 3: List of acronyms............................................198

3

Statement of
compliance
SOUTH METROPOLITAN HEALTH SERVICE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
HON MR ROGER COOK BA GradDipBus MBA MLA
MINISTER FOR HEALTH
In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report
of the South Metropolitan Health Service for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Financial Management Act 2006.

Adj. Associate Professor
Robyn Collins
Chair
South Metropolitan Health
Service Board
7 September 2021
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Mr Liam Roche
Board Member
South Metropolitan Health
Service Board
7 September 2021
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Overview

Executive summary
Board Chair’s overview
On behalf of the South Metropolitan Health Service
(SMHS) Board, I am pleased to introduce the SMHS
annual report for the 2020/21 financial year.
As I contemplated this foreword, I knew that I and my
Board colleagues wanted to acknowledge our people
above everything else.
Every single day, our hospital and community staff
and volunteers, put the needs of our patients ahead
of their own.
As we continue to navigate our way through the
COVID-19 pandemic, these dedicated professionals
leave their families and homes every day to do what
they do best for the benefit of our patients and our
community.
Our staff are now doing more than ever, better than
ever, while we experience increasingly high demand
for services in the midst of a global pandemic. It has
been inspiring to witness how our entire workforce
has managed enormous challenges throughout the
year while continuing to innovate and remain true to
our vision of excellent health care, every time.
It was therefore particularly heart-warming to see
the camaraderie as staff stood shoulder-to-shoulder
at COVID-19 memorial tree planting services across
hospital sites in June. These services acknowledged
the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on the professional
and personal lives of our staff and their many
sacrifices to help keep the community safe.
After being postponed due to COVID-19, we were also
able to gather to celebrate our high achieving staff
and teams at the SMHS Excellence Awards 2021.
It was inspiring to see the fantastic work being
done by our dedicated and passionate staff to drive
innovation and improvement in the services and care
we provide.
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It was my pleasure to present the SMHS Board Award
to Peta Fisher from Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH) in
recognition of her career-long efforts to improve
maternity service access and outcomes, in what is
best described as ‘a force for change’.
Amid the numbers and tables in reports such as
these, it can be difficult to see the real stories of how
our people make positive differences to the lives of
those within the SMHS community.
Through the Board to Ward program, however, my
Board colleagues and I are privileged to regularly
witness this care as it happens on the frontline.
Board members frequently visit our hospital and
health service sites to hear directly from patients,
their families and carers about how we deliver our
services. This feedback provides valuable information
about where SMHS can improve and provide
opportunities for Board members to identify areas of
exemplary practice.
At every turn, patients, families and carers had high
praise for the quality of our services. It was often
simple acts of kindness and compassion, coupled
with the professionalism of our teams, people
remembered most. Just as importantly, and without
exception, all staff voiced their commitment to our
health service and demonstrated a strong positive
culture.
Ensuring the health and wellbeing of our staff
through various workforce strategies is a key focus
for the Board. Key priorities in response to the
Minister for Health’s Your Voice in Health Survey
2021 will determine where we need to concentrate
our efforts over the next year. The Board also
remains committed to the strategic oversight of the
organisation to ensure community confidence in the
Board and SMHS is preserved and strengthened.

Through the Board’s four governance committees,
robust structures, systems and policies are
embedded in our practice to enable the delivery of
safe, high quality, efficient and cost-effective public
health services to the community. During the year
we continued to see improvements in our safety
and quality Health Service Performance Report
indicators, which guide our health service on all
matters relating to service provision.
It was also pleasing to see SMHS has maintained
its strong financial position throughout the year,
particularly in light of the ongoing impact of COVID-19
related activities. A small operational surplus of $4.5
million, on an annual spend of nearly $2 billion, is
testament to the focused efforts of our managers
and clinical leaders, and the ongoing contribution of
our staff. SMHS is well positioned to invest further
in innovative initiatives and technologies to support
delivery of our services.
In January, we launched the new SMHS Strategic
Plan 2020–2025, which will guide us as we continue
to improve service delivery and strengthen our
engagement our staff and our consumers.
The SMHS Board continued to celebrate the diversity
of our workforce by participating in many activities
held across SMHS during the year that celebrated the
different cultures, ethnicities and religions that make
up the SMHS family.

I extend my particular thanks and appreciation
to my fellow Board members for their leadership
and collective expertise. It is a privilege working
alongside such a high performing Board.
To Chief Executive, Paul Forden and his executive
team, I acknowledge your enormous energy,
passion, commitment and resilience in managing
our organisation through this extremely challenging
period, and ensuring that SMHS continues to deliver
the best health care possible.
I also acknowledge the support of the Department
of Health (DoH) Director General, Dr David RussellWeisz, and his team in assisting the SMHS Board and
executive in our operations.
And to our invaluable staff – your tireless efforts to
provide outstanding clinical and patient-centred care
are sincerely appreciated. I know that as a health
service, we are in good hands.
It is an honour to serve as the SMHS Board Chair and
I endorse the 2020/21 Annual Report.
Robyn Collins
Board Chair
South Metropolitan Health Service

Importantly, SMHS made real inroads in
strengthening relationships with the Noongar
community, contributing to better outcomes for
Aboriginal patients and highlighting the importance
of providing culturally appropriate care.
I would like to acknowledge my predecessor,
inaugural SMHS Board Chair Rob McDonald. Over
the past five years SMHS benefited significantly
from Rob’s guiding hand and strong leadership,
particularly patient safety and financial management.
On behalf of the SMHS Board, I thank Rob for his
commitment and dedication and wish him the very
best for the future.
We were also pleased to welcome Colin Murphy PSM
as a new Board member during the year.
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Chief Executive’s report
During the past year, SMHS became more adaptable
and versatile than ever before as we learned to live
in a world dominated by COVID-19. We reimagined
the way we do our jobs and how we run our health
service. Our energies were poured into adjusting and
strengthening the foundations of our health service
delivery to ensure we continue to thrive in the postpandemic future.
At the same time, demand for our services was at
unprecedented levels. SMHS sought, and found,
a balance between supporting the public health
system in caring for people with COVID-19 while
continuing to provide safe, quality care to vulnerable
members of our community.
In 2020/21, we treated 50,000 more people compared
to the year before. Almost 15,000 more patients have
accessed our emergency departments (ED) this year,
and over 380 additional women have chosen to have
their babies with us.
This is a clear indication that our staff are now
doing more than ever, and it is important as an
organisation that we protect their wellbeing, as they
do for our patients. To ensure we are well equipped
to respond to current and future demand, we
employed more staff in critical service delivery areas
such as emergency, maternity and intensive care.
SMHS now employs more than 400 additional fulltime equivalent staff than it did a year ago.
Demand for mental health care continues to rise,
with greater capacity needed for those at risk to
access services. Preliminary works have begun
on a new $40 million 40-bed mental health unit
at Fremantle Hospital (FH), funded by the State
Government and expected to open in early 2024.
Further funding has been allocated to build a 20-bed
inpatient unit and expand mental health ED services
at Peel Health Campus (PHC). Planning for the
redevelopment of the PHC site has commenced.
Initiatives such as a Clinical Psychology Diversion
Service pilot at FSH and new and innovative Hospital
in the Home services provided by the Fremantle
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and Rockingham Mental Health Services will enable
patients to receive hospital-level care in the comfort
of their own home.
At the beginning of 2021, SMHS launched its
refreshed SMHS Strategic Plan 2021-2025. The SMHS
vision, values, behaviours and goals are just as
relevant today as they were in 2017 and will continue
to see us through until 2025. Our new strategic
plan identifies a range of immediate and long-term
strategies that we believe will make a significant
difference to patients, staff and the community.
Of the many achievements in 2020/21, some are
worthy of special mention:
y In an incredible effort, our COVID clinic staff tested
more than 84,000 people for COVID-19.
y SMHS established dedicated vaccination centres
across all hospital sites when the COVID-19
vaccination became available in March 2021. The
staff vaccination uptake was encouraging, with
more than 74 per cent of SMHS staff rolling up
their sleeves in an effort to protect our staff, their
families and those they care for.
y To alleviate pressure on the FSH ED, the Acute
Medical Ambulatory Care Clinic was expanded into
an Ambulatory Emergency Care Centre to reduce
overnight ED admissions for patients who could
be managed at home. Similarly, to streamline
patient care and reduce ED pressure, the FSH ED
and SMHS Kaartdijin Innovation Team launched
a digital triage service for inbound ambulance
patients.
y The Aboriginal Nursing Students Transition to
Practice Partnership Program saw SMHS employ
16 Aboriginal nurses and midwives, or 40 per cent
of the graduating cohort of Aboriginal nurses.
y SMHS Research and Development was awarded an
$880,000 grant to develop the ‘TRANSFORM’ digital
platform to streamline data capture and access
for clinicians and researchers across WA Health to
use in research and quality improvement.

y As we continue our efforts to reduce the
organisation’s environmental impact, SMHS
became the first Western Australian (WA)
Health Service Provider (HSP) to employ an
Environmental Sustainability Officer.
In the latter half of 2020, the WA Government
announced that full responsibility for the operation
of PHC will transfer to SMHS from August 2023. This
is an exciting opportunity for the further integration
of PHC into SMHS, and we will work closely with key
stakeholders to coordinate the smooth transfer of
operations and patient care to SMHS during the twoyear transition.
Feedback from our staff in the 2021 Your Voice in
Health survey results will provide us with direction
on where we need to develop and improve at an
organisational and divisional level to ensure SMHS
remains an employer of choice.
Despite the extraordinary financial impact COVID-19
had, and continues to have, across SMHS, we
maintained financial stability during the past year.
We delivered an operational surplus of $4.5 million,
which was then supplemented in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income with a number of technical
and one-off funding adjustments. Managing a very
large and complex health service to deliver an
actual operating surplus is not easily achieved in a
demanding public health environment. It is, however
essential to SMHS investing more in the services that
create better patient experiences.

I acknowledge and thank the SMHS Board for their
steady support and guidance. The leadership of
Board Chair Robyn Collins and the expertise of our
Board members has provided robust governance and
vision for the organisation. To my fellow executive
colleagues, I continue to be amazed by your strong,
strategic and focused leadership as we grow a
strong and resilient organisation.
A pandemic magnifies the dedication and
importance of our health care workers and the staff
who support them. I sincerely thank each and every
one of our staff for their tremendous resilience and
tenacity this year.
The past year has been one like no other, and I look
forward to the opportunities ahead in the coming
year.
Paul Forden
Chief Executive
South Metropolitan Health Service

We know we could not achieve everything we do
without our amazing volunteers. They are the people
who each day set out to make someone else’s day
just that little bit better. I am incredibly proud to
report that we now have over 800 active volunteers
across SMHS. They provide a robust support system
for our patients, their families and carers and I
thank them all for their dedication to supporting our
community.
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Operational structure
Legislation

Responsible Minister

SMHS was established as a board-governed HSP in
the Health Services (Health Service Provider) Order
2016 made by the Minister for Health under section
32 of the Health Services Act 2016.

SMHS is responsible to the Minister for Health, the
Honourable Roger Cook MLA.

Governance structure
SMHS, as a HSP, is responsible and accountable to
the Minister for Health and WA DoH Director General,
as the System Manager.

metropolitan community. This is undertaken via
active monitoring of performance and setting the
health service’s strategic direction.

The System Manager is responsible for the overall
management, performance and strategic direction of
the WA public health system, ensuring the delivery of
high quality, safe and timely health services.

The Minister for Health appoints the SMHS Board and
the System Manager is the employing authority of
the SMHS Chief Executive.

The SMHS Board is legally responsible and
accountable for providing safe, high quality, efficient
and economical public health services to the south

Fiona Stanley Fremantle
Hospitals Group

Minister for Health
WA
Department
of Health

South
Metropolitan
Health Service
Board

Rockingham Peel Group
South
Metropolitan
Health Service

Peel Health Campus
Community-based services
Corporate services
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Board of the Authority
Robyn Collins, Board Chair
Safety and Quality Committee
Kim Gibson, Chair

Finance and Governance Committee
Liam Roche, Chair

Members
Amanda Boudville

Kim Gibson

Ryan Atkinson

Julian Henderson
Sue Le Souef

Colin Murphy
David Rowe

Purpose
Assists the SMHS Board in fostering safety and
quality in patient care across the health service
by monitoring and advising on matters relating to
safety and quality, as well as providing assurance
that the Clinical Governance, Safety and Quality
Policy Framework is implemented and adhered to,
and clinical systems, processes and outcomes are
effective.

Assists the SMHS Board by providing oversight
and strategic direction in the key areas of
financial management, governance, legislative
compliance, contract and procurement activities
and managing financial risks in the provision of
health services.

2020/21 focus
y Harm reduction with an emphasis on health
care-associated Staphylococcus aureus
bloodstream infection strategies.
y Concentration on improving workplace culture
and performance of Rockingham General
Hospital (RGH) Obstetrics.
y Developed a specific dashboard to closely
monitor Western Australian Elective Surgery
Targets performance.
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y Oversight of the 2020/21 budget ensuring
alignment to agreed business plans to
contribute towards an accessible and
responsive health service that meets the
needs of the community.
y Continued review of key financial-related
risks to ensure that, where appropriate, these
items have been addressed in future budget
builds to ensure long term sustainability.
y Ensured the implementation of, and
adherence to, the Financial Management
Framework.

Robyn Collins, Board Chair
Audit and Risk Committee
Colin Murphy, Chair

People, Culture and Engagement Committee
Amanda Boudville, Chair

Members
Julian Henderson
Sue Le Souef

Liam Roche
David Rowe

Ryan Atkinson
Yvonne Parnell

Julian Henderson
Kim Gibson

Purpose
Provides advice, independent assurance and
assistance to the SMHS Board in respect of
maintaining effective and efficient audit functions,
risk, control and compliance frameworks, and
ensures the implementation of, and adherence to,
the Risk, Compliance and Audit Policy Framework.

Supports the SMHS Board in fostering a positive
culture of open, appropriate and effective
engagement between staff, patients, carers
and the wider community, and advises on staff
matters related to culture, engagement and
work health and safety (WHS).

2020/21 focus
y Improved the monitoring of internal and external
audit recommendations identified from public
reports.
y Continued to regularly review risk management
practices enabling enhanced reporting to the
Board.
y Enhanced the focus on reporting and
management of occupational health and safety
matters.

y Strategies to improve the working
environment for junior doctors with a focus
on access to leave.
y Reintroduction of the Fiona Wood Public
Lecture Series.
y Increased engagement in the Your Voice in
Health survey with the SMHS engagement
score up by 18 per cent.
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SMHS Board
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SMHS Board pictured left to right, (back) Colin Murphy, Liam Roche, Yvonne Parnell,
Ryan Atkinson, Sue Le Souef, David Rowe, Amanda Boudville and Julian Henderson.
Front (seated) Kim Gibson and Robyn Collins.
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Board members

Adjunct Associate
Professor Robyn Collins

Mr Rob McDonald

Ms Kim Gibson

B.Bus CPA MAICD

B.App.Sci (Physio) MA Public Sector
Leadership FACHSM GAICD

RN RM B.App Sc MAICD

Chair
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Chair

Deputy Chair

(acting Chair from 25 July 2020
to 8 November 2020, before official
appointment from 9 November 2020)

(until 24 July 2020)

(from 9 November 2020)

Adj. Assoc. Professor Robyn
Collins is a committed and
highly successful health service
executive and board member
with an extensive career in a
broad range of governance,
strategic, operational and
financial management
environments. Professor Collins
is currently a Board member
of Rosewood Aged Care and
Curtin University Medical School
Advisory Board. Until early June
2019 Professor Collins was the
inaugural WA State Manager of
the Australian Health Practitioner
Regulation Agency (WA).
Professor Collins was the Acting
Chair of the SMHS Governing
Council for two years.

Rob McDonald has held
leadership roles with WA Police,
the Department of Treasury and
the State Supply Commission
and is the former Chair of the
North Metropolitan Health
Service Governing Council and
former Board Chair of the Ability
Centre. Mr McDonald has broad
experience in finance, human
resources, policy development
and information technology.
Mr McDonald resigned as the
SMHS Board Chair effective
24 July 2020.

Kim Gibson’s career in health
spans 30 years across clinical
practice, clinical education,
health professional regulation,
health reform, health service
management and governance
both in Australia and overseas.
Former Chair of the Clinical
Senate of WA, Ms Gibson is
passionate about health service
improvement through clinician
and consumer engagement.
An experienced board member,
she is also Chair of the
Physiotherapy Board of Australia.

Dr Ryan Atkinson

Dr Amanda Boudville

Mr Julian Henderson

MBBS BMedSc FRACGP

MBBS, FRACP

B.Eng MBA

Dr Ryan Atkinson is a general
practitioner (GP) with the
Broome Regional Aboriginal
Medical Service, delivering
clinical services to Aboriginal
communities in Broome.
Dr Atkinson is also a Board
member for Magabala books, a
national Indigenous publishing
house which celebrates and
nurtures the talent and diversity
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander voices. Dr Atkinson
has a strong commitment to
Aboriginal health and completed
his postgraduate training in
Aboriginal medical services in
the Kimberley region.

Dr Amanda Boudville is Head of
Aged Care and Rehabilitation at
St John of God Midland Public
and Private Hospital and is an
experienced geriatrician and
stroke physician. She has worked
across various public and
private health systems for more
than two decades. Dr Boudville
is a Federal Councillor of the
Australian and New Zealand
Society for Geriatric Medicine.

Julian Henderson is a highly
qualified senior executive
with wide-ranging experience
within the public and private
sectors. He has a breadth
of experience in diverse
areas including strategic
planning, policy development,
project development, project
management, operations and
general administration.
Mr Henderson was a member of
the North Metropolitan Health
Service Governing Council.
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Ms Sue Le Souef

Ms Yvonne Parnell

Mr Liam Roche

BA(Hons) MA, B Juris, LLB, GAICD

GAICD, GradCertDis, AIMM

B.Bus

Sue Le Souef has extensive
experience in health-related
fields including nursing and
health law. As a senior legal
officer at the DoH her work
included medical negligence,
coronial inquiries and freedom
of information. She played
a prominent role in the
introduction of legislation for
Advance Health Directives and
Enduring Power of Attorney in
WA. At the State Solicitor’s Office,
Sue worked as a senior solicitor
in civil litigation including
defending public hospitals in
medical negligence.

Yvonne Parnell is a Chief
Executive Officer within the
community sector assisting
people with disabilities and
their families overcome
significant life challenges. She
previously held senior executive
management and leadership
roles in the corporate sector.
Ms Parnell has a longstanding
and wide-ranging involvement
as a consumer representative
in health and health research
both in WA and nationally since
2003. She is a past member of
the North Metropolitan Health
Service Governing Council and
has served on a large number
of health-related committees
and reference groups including
the Australia Health Practitioner
Regulation Agency.

Liam Roche retired from the
role of Chief Operating Officer of
Seven West Media (WA) in 2015
following a 40 year career in
the media and manufacturing
industry. He currently serves
as Chair of the Perth Eye
Foundation, Deputy Chair of
Crime Stoppers WA, a member
of the WA Board of the Medical
Board of Australia, a NonExecutive Director for Multiple
Sclerosis Society of Western
Australia and an adviser to the
Murdoch University Emerging
Leaders Program.

Mr David Rowe

Mr Colin Murphy

BA (Soc Sc), Grad AASC, GAICD

PSM, BCom, FCPA, FCA, FIPAA, GAICD

David Rowe is an experienced
board member and corporate
executive with a background
in government and the private
sector. Previously the Chairman
of the Fremantle Hospital
Medical Research Foundation
Inc., Mr Rowe is also a past
member of the SMHS Governing
Council. He has an interest
in the challenge of delivering
high quality health care at
an affordable price and the
development and further
education of senior executives
and staff.

Colin Murphy was the former
and 18th Auditor General in
WA for a period of 12 years
until 2018. His career has
included senior executive
finance and administrative roles
across a range of State and
Commonwealth Government
departments. Mr Murphy serves
on a range of Boards including
ChemCentre WA, the Accounting
Professional and Ethical
Standards Board, Winja Wajarri
Barna Ltd, Winston Churchill
Memorial Trust Australia, and
the Financial Counsellors
Association WA. He is currently
serving as a Commissioner
with the Perth Casino Royal
Commission. Mr Murphy was
awarded a Public Service Medal
in the Australia Day Honours
2010.
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SMHS Executive
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SMHS Area Executive Group pictured left to right, Neil Doverty, Ged Williams, Paul Forden, Kath Smith, Kate Gatti, Rita Freijah,
Maxine Wardrop, Marc Warner, Paul Mark, Leon McIvor. Absent: Gemma Iles and Jodie Pudney.
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Table 1: SMHS Board members

South Metropolitan Health Service Board
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Meetings
attended

Name

Position

Term

Rob McDonald

Chair

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2022
Resigned as of 24 July 2020

0 of 1 meeting

Robyn Collins

Chair

1 July 2016 to 8 November 2023
(reappointed for a further 3 years on
9 November 2020)

11 of 11 meetings

Kim Gibson

Deputy Chair

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2022
(reappointed for a further 3 years on
1 July 2019)

11 of 11 meetings

Ryan Atkinson

Member

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022
(reappointed for a further 2 years on
1 July 2020)

11 of 11 meetings

Amanda Boudville

Member

17 July 2017 to 30 June 2023
(reappointed for a further 3 years on
1 July 2020)

11 of 11 meetings

Julian Henderson

Member

1 July 2016 to 8 November 2023
(reappointed for a further 3 years on
9 November 2020)

11 of 11 meetings

Sue Le Souef

Member

9 March 2020 to 8 November 2023
(reappointed for a further 3 years on
9 November 2020)

11 of 11 meetings

Yvonne Parnell

Member

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2023
(reappointed for a further 3 years on
1 July 2020)

11 of 11 meetings

Liam Roche

Member

12 August 2019 to 30 June 2022

11 of 11 meetings

David Rowe

Member

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2023
(reappointed for a further 3 years on
1 July 2020)

11 of 11 meetings

Colin Murphy

Member

9 November 2020 to 9 November 2022

6 of 6 meetings

Organisational structure
South
Metropolitan
Health Service
Paul Forden
Chief Executive

Marc Warner
Executive Director
Corporate and
Finance

Dr Maxine Wardrop
Executive Director
Safety, Quality and
Consumer Engagement

Neil Doverty
Executive Director
Fiona Stanley Fremantle
Hospitals Group

Kate Gatti
Executive Director
Clinical Service Planning
and Population Health

Jemma Iles
Executive Director
Transformation

Kathleen Smith
Executive Director
Rockingham Peel Group

Leon McIvor
Executive Director
Commissioning and
Redevelopment –
Peel Health Campus

Rita Freijah
Executive Director
Contract Management

Jodie Pudney
Manager
Corporate
Communications

Dr Paul Mark
Area Director
Clinical Services

Ged Williams
Area Director
Nursing and Midwifery
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Senior officers
(as at 30 June 2021)

Paul Forden
Chief Executive
South Metropolitan
Health Service

Marc Warner
Executive Director
Corporate and Finance

Dr Maxine Wardrop
Executive Director
Safety, Quality and Consumer
Engagement

Term contract

Term contract

Term contract

Audit and risk
Clinical coding
Finance
Legal
Library
Site services: infrastructure,
engineering, security,
telecommunications
y Soft facilities management
y
y
y
y
y
y

y
y
y
y
y
y
y
y
y
y
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y
y
y
y
y
y
y
y

Clinical incident management
Clinical governance
Consumer engagement
Patient and staff survey
Patient experience
Policy
Quality improvement
Safety improvement

Kate Gatti
Executive Director
Clinical Service Planning and
Population Health

Rita Freijah
Executive Director
Contract Management

Jemma Iles
Executive Director
Transformation

Term contract

Term contract

Term contract

Aboriginal health
Clinical planning
Community subacute services
Health promotion
Human resources
Industrial relations
Medical workforce
Mental health strategy
Occupational safety and health
Workforce planning

y Commercial property
y Contract management
y Information and communications
technology
y Major projects
y Procurement
y Public–private partnerships
y Environmental sustainability

y
y
y
y

Innovation
Research and development
Informatics
Organisation development

Leon McIvor
Executive Director
Commissioning and
Redevelopment
– Peel Health Campus

Neil Doverty
Executive Director
Fiona Stanley
Fremantle Hospitals
Group

Kathleen Smith
Executive Director
Rockingham Peel
Group

Term contract

Term contract

Term contract

y Fiona Stanley Hospital
y Fremantle Hospital
y Rottnest Island Nursing Post

y Rockingham General Hospital
y Murray District Hospital
y Peel Community Health

Dr Paul Mark*
Area Director
Clinical Services

Ged Williams*
Area Director
Nursing
and Midwifery

Jodie Pudney
Manager
Corporate
Communications

Term contract

Term contract

Substantive

y Area clinical services

y Area nursing and midwifery

y Corporate communications

*Note: Clinical advisers to the Chief Executive and Executive Directors on strategic matters
related to respective discipline areas.
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Strategic focus
Snapshot of the SMHS community
SMHS catchment has an
estimated population of

669,602
people

8.9%

of the adult population
continue to smoke

37.8%
of adults and

35.9%

25%
of WA’s
population

25.4%

of children do not undertake
sufficient physical activity

of the adult population
consume alcohol at levels
deemed high-risk of
long term harm

16.8%

Aboriginal
people
account for

~1.3%
of the SMHS
population

of adults have
high blood pressure and

34.6%

of adults people
consume fast food
at least weekly

17.7%

of adults have
high cholesterol

Life expectancy in the
SMHS catchment is

82.5 86.3
years
in males

26

years
in females

40%

Over
of the adult population
are overweight

16%

Almost
of the adult population
suffer from a diagnosed
mental health problem

Snapshot of care given during 2020/21
Our EDs treated in excess of
218,000 patients. More
than 47,000 emergency
patients were children
aged between 0 and 15 years.

More than 179,500 people attended in excess of

825,000* outpatient appointments.
In excess of 204,000 occasions of care were provided
via telehealth or telephone, collectively saving:
30 million km in
travel – or 19 return
trips to the moon

The baby boom
continued with more than
5,900 babies born during
the year. 63 of these deliveries
were multiple births.

495,000 hours,
or 20,623 days, or
57 years of travel
time

More than 173,000
people were discharged
from our hospitals during
the year.
Our surgical teams
performed more than
47,700 elective and

16,300 emergency
surgeries.
Our intensive care
teams treated more than
2,900 patients.

123 patients had their
lives changed by
receiving a transplant:

y 10 heart transplants
y 15 lung transplants
y 1 heart and lung transplant
y 34 kidney transplants
y 63 bone marrow transplants.

102,000 hours
sitting in outpatient
waiting rooms

PP

$5,568,327
$ in fuel costs

CO

7,495 tons of CO2
being emitted into
the atmosphere
468 hectares –
or 275 x Perth
stadiums –
of forest per year
to recover the CO2.

$918,000 in
parking costs

More
than 74%

of the SMHS
workforce
received a first

dose COVID
vaccine
More
than 68%
received a

second
dose COVID
vaccine

Over 84,000
COVID swab tests

were completed across
SMHS sites. Of those tested
at a SMHS COVID clinic,
6 people tested positive to
COVID-19
SMHS COVID
clinics completed

close to 1,700
COVID swab
tests during the busiest
day of the year

Notes:
Comparison cannot be made to the outpatient snapshot data reported in the SMHS Annual Report 2019/20. The methodology used continues to be
refined, and in some instances a different dataset was used to provide more precise statistics.
*Includes activity for metro-wide Rehabilitation In The Home, and Radiation Oncology services.

27

Vision

Excellent
health care,
every time

Values
Care
We provide compassionate care to the patient, their
carer and family. Caring for patients starts with
caring for our staff.
Kaaradj
Ngalak yoongi karadjiny patient-ak, baalabiny wer
moort. Karadjiny patient-ak moolyak kaaradjiny
ngaalang staff.

Integrity
We are accountable for our actions and always act
with professionalism.
Ngwidam
Ngalak accountable ngaalang warn wer kalyakoorl
yaka-l doora kartaga.
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Respect

Teamwork

We welcome diversity and treat each other with
dignity.

We recognise the importance of teams and together
work in partnership and collaboratively.

Kaaratj
Ngalak wandjoo goordawi wer noordo yennar
warma-al kaaratj.

Yaka-dandjoo
Ngalak kaadadj yardi of teams wer dandjoo yaka
banga.

Excellence
We embrace opportunities to learn and
continuously improve.
Beli-beli
Ngalak barang wilyan kaadadj wer kalyakoorl
kwobabiny.
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Service delivery
SMHS provides hospital and community-based
services to nearly a quarter of WA’s population within
nine local government areas as well as WA Country
Health Service patients from the Great Southern,
South West, Southern Wheatbelt and Goldfields
regions. In addition, SMHS provides community
services to the broader metropolitan area.
SMHS provides clinical care at:
y
y
y
y
y
y
y

Fiona Stanley Hospital
Rockingham General Hospital
Fremantle Hospital
Murray District Hospital
Peel Health Campus
Rottnest Island Nursing Post
community health services.

We offer a range of highly specialised multidisciplinary services including:
medical
surgical
emergency
cancer care
intensive and high dependency care
mental health, alcohol and other drug services,
including community mental health
y obstetric and neonatal
y paediatric
y radiology.
y
y
y
y
y
y

We also provide the following superspecialist
services:
y
y
y
y
y
y
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adult burns
hyperbaric
statewide rehabilitation centre
heart, lung and renal transplants
bone marrow transplants
haemophilia and haemostasis.

SMHS is also responsible for delivering local health
promotion and metropolitan wide community-based
services.
y Health Promotion partners with community
groups, workplaces, schools and local government
within the SMHS catchment to reduce the
prevalence of lifestyle-related chronic disease
through public policy initiatives, advocacy and
community-focused programs.
y Subacute services known collectively as REACH
facilitate early discharge from hospital by
supporting individuals to remain independent in
the community.
y Rehabilitation in the Home provides short
to medium-term, in-home multidisciplinary
assessment and rehabilitation post-discharge and
from the community to prevent admission.
y Complex Needs Coordination Team provides
an assessment and care coordination service to
patients in the community with complex health
needs.
y Community Physiotherapy Service provides
evidence-based, subacute group-based
physiotherapy assessment and rehabilitation at
local community facilities.
y Western Australian Limb Service for Amputees
provides funding for the purchase of essential
prostheses for eligible amputees through an
integrated client-focused service with contracted
community based private prosthetic service
providers.
y The Ventilator Dependent Quadriplegic
Community Care Program provides statewide
assistance to eligible persons requiring
mechanical ventilation and clinic care to be
re-established and supported in their community.
As part of its public health responsibilities,
SMHS works in partnership with the WA Health
Communicable Disease Control Directorate and other
service providers to prevent and control the spread
of communicable diseases.

Key:
Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH)
Fremantle Hospital (FH)
Murray District Hospital (MDH)
Peel Health Campus (PHC)
Rockingham General Hospital (RGH)
Rottnest Island Nursing Post (RINP)

Perth
Como

RINP
FSH

FH

Fremantle
Murdoch

Garden Island

Rockingham

RGH

Mandurah

PHC

Pinjarra

MDH

Dwellingup

Lake Clifton
Nanga Brook

Preston Beach
Scale
10

5

0

10km

Great Southern

South West

Goldfields

Southern Wheatbelt
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SMHS hospitals
Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group
Fiona Stanley Fremantle
Hospitals Group (FSFHG)
comprises:
y Fiona Stanley Hospital
y Fremantle Hospital
y Rottnest Island Nursing Post.
FSH is the major tertiary hospital
in the south metropolitan area
and offers comprehensive health
care services to adults, youth
and children including:
y acute, general and specialist
medical and surgical services
y subacute services including
rehabilitation and aged care
y comprehensive cancer
services
y State adult burns unit
y State rehabilitation service
including ventilator
dependent quadriplegic
service and spinal outreach
service
y State heart, lung and bone
marrow transplant service
y emergency and intensive care
y mental health
y maternity, paediatric and
neonatal services.
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Providing specialist hospital
services, FH plays a vital role in
supporting the tertiary services
of FSH and in the ongoing
delivery of services to patients
within the south metropolitan
catchment. FH offers a range
of services including mental
health, aged care, and elective
surgical services in the following
specialties:
y general medicine
y geriatric medicine, including
subacute services and
rehabilitation
y general surgery
y orthopaedics
y plastic surgery
y specialised hands surgery
y ear, nose and throat (ENT)
y gynaecological
y dental and maxillo-facial
y endoscopy
y ophthalmology
y vascular
y urology.

Rockingham Peel
Group
Rockingham Peel Group (RkPG)
comprises:
y Rockingham General Hospital
y Murray District Hospital (MDH)
y Mandurah Community Health
Centre
y Kwinana Community Health
Centre
y Rockingham Community
Mental Health Service
y Peel Community Mental
Health Service.
As a general hospital with an
ED, RGH supports the following
inpatient services:
acute and general medicine
geriatric medicine
palliative care
paediatrics
obstetric and neonatal
services
y surgical including ENT,
gastroenterology, general,
gynaecology, orthopaedic,
plastics and paediatric
(general)
y intensive care
y psychiatry (adult and
older adult), including
electroconvulsive therapy.
y
y
y
y
y

MDH provides aged care
services particularly to people
awaiting rehabilitation and also
end-of-life care. Medical care is
provided by medical staff from
RGH and local GPs credentialed
with admitting rights. Support
services delivered at the hospital
include medical imaging and
allied health.

Peel Health
Campus
PHC is a public and private
hospital managed in partnership
with private provider, Ramsay
Health Care Australia Pty Ltd.
PHC provides a full suite of
general hospital services,
including a 24-hour ED, medical
and surgical services, maternity,
aged care, rehabilitation, and
oncology services.

33

Strategic priorities
The SMHS Strategic Plan 2021–2025 provides a focus across five priorities areas:

Our focus
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Excellence in the
delivery of safe, high
quality clinical care

Provide a great
patient experience

SMHS provides consistent
high quality care through
the use of endorsed service
models and by minimising
variations in care. We
consistently strive for the
highest level of safe care
aiming towards a zero harm
patient safety culture. SMHS
aims to generate a culture
of continuous improvement
where research, innovation
and redesign are encouraged
and celebrated.

SMHS places the patient and
their family at the centre of
the decision making process.
We ensure equity of access to
care with a focus on minority
groups and the provision of
culturally sensitive care. We
ensure patients and their
families are effectively and
transparently communicated
with throughout their journey.
We aim to provide exceptional
customer service, which is
flexible and responsive, to
ensure the best possible
experience for patients and
our communities.

Engage, develop
and provide
opportunities for our
workforce

Strengthen
relationships with
our community and
partners

Achieve a productive
and innovative
organisation which
is environmentally
and financially
sustainable

SMHS aims to create an
environment of respect
and empowerment within
a culture of accountability,
trust and transparency.
SMHS focuses on developing
a culture that maintains
a highly engaged and
satisfied workforce as well
as creating a safe workplace
that promotes health and
wellbeing. A key component
of this priority is identifying,
developing and embedding
Aboriginal employment
opportunities and career
planning at all levels.

By engaging with the
community, SMHS can
better define and deliver
health services required
to appropriately meet the
health and wellbeing needs
of the local population. SMHS
aims to optimise existing
partnerships and explore new
opportunities for innovative
alliances both within and
outside of health care.

SMHS strives to optimise the
efficient use of our people and
physical resources, including
maintaining a sustainable
financial position. We
empower our staff to improve
productivity and quality,
ensuring that they have the
required skills and tools to
understand their business.
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Strategic highlights
With the inaugural SMHS Strategic Plan 2017–2020
coming to an end in December 2020, SMHS kicked off
the New Year with the launch of the SMHS Strategic
Plan 2021–2025, providing a refreshed outlook for the
next five years.
The SMHS vision, values, behaviours and goals
remain as relevant today as they were in 2017 and
will continue to see SMHS through until 2025.
However, SMHS is committed to reducing the
environmental impacts contributed by the health
care sector and this is now reflected in SMHS’ goals.
A range of key actions and initiatives will be
undertaken by SMHS over the next five years that will
move our goals and priorities forward; some will be

key areas of focus in 2021 and others will be explored
in 2021 and undertaken in future years.
These actions, to be guided by a rolling plan, will be
reviewed and critically evaluated on their impact,
relevance and currency every year. This will ensure
that SMHS has an up-to-date plan for the coming
years based on a current analysis of the needs of our
population, environment and opportunities.
The following new initiatives, programs and projects
were achieved throughout the year and demonstrate
the dedication and commitment of SMHS and its
staff to improving patient outcomes and delivering
excellent health care, every time.

Excellence in the delivery of safe, high quality clinical care
SMHS to resume full responsibility for the
operation of PHC
In November 2020 the WA Government announced
that full responsibility for the operation of PHC will
transfer to SMHS from August 2023, following expiry
of the existing contract with the current private
operator, Ramsay Health Care.
The announcement also included new funding
of $152 million for the major redevelopment and
expansion of PHC and plans for a private partner to
develop an integrated private hospital at PHC.
The redevelopment and expansion of PHC is
expected to include an additional 83 inpatient beds
(including mental health beds); 15 palliative care
hospice beds; 12 chemotherapy places; 1 additional
operating theatre; more outpatient services;
new build of medical imaging services; and the
introduction of a 10-bed Mental Health Emergency
Centre.
Approximately 890 staff at PHC will be offered
continuing employment with SMHS as part of the
transition.
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A new Executive Director was appointed in May
2021 to lead the PHC transition project to ensure a
seamless integration of services from Ramsay Health
Care to SMHS.

FH theatre upgrade project
The WA Government has allocated funding to
upgrade FH’s theatre complex, including replacing
the ageing air conditioning system in eight operating
theatres. This is another welcome investment in
FH as it secures the hospital’s future in further
developing elective surgery capacity. A complete
replacement of the mechanical air supply systems
commenced in April 2021 and is expected to be
completed in February 2022. A steering group
with representatives from FSH, FH and RGH was
established to manage the logistics and planning
required. This essential work is a large and
significant project for our health service, and once
completed, efforts will be directed to reducing
waitlists for specialities.

Transformation through digital innovation
Harnessing digital technology to transform and
improve the way SMHS delivers care remains a high
priority.
This year has seen rapid growth in demand for
digital solutions that empower patients and improve
outcomes. The SMHS Innovation and Informatics
teams expanded the support available to staff
throughout the year including innovation toolkits and
workshops, increased cross-sector collaborations
and new ways to prototype and pilot digital
solutions.

Virtual Emergency Medicine
Virtual models of emergency medicine present
an exciting opportunity for hospitals to embrace
a new way of delivering care by streamlining and
advancing the ED triage process and reducing
demand issues, and ultimately creating a better
patient experience.
Driven to improve patient flow, the FSH ED developed
a Virtual Emergency Medicine (VEM) concept in
collaboration with the SMHS Kaartdijin Innovation
team and St John Ambulance. VEM connects
patients, family, carers, paramedics and clinical
specialists using a direct video link between
ambulances and the command centre at FSH.

The service directs emergency patients to the most
appropriate area for their needs, ensuring care is
person-centred and efficient.
The proof of concept demonstrated impressive
results with almost 28 per cent of 678 patients
diverted from the ED to other hospital entry points.
Further, patients who were tele-triaged through VEM
prior to ED admission experienced a significantly
lower time between patient arrival and transfer of
care compared to non-VEM patients. The successful
implementation and outcomes of Phase 1 has led
to scoping and planning the expansion of the VEM
model to include all SMHS EDs and residential aged
care facilities.

37

Virtual fracture care

ePrescribing proof of concept

A new virtual clinic enabled patients with simple
fractures to be treated at home with access to a
rehabilitation program and telephone support from
specialist consultants and physiotherapists. A first
in WA, the Virtual Fracture Clinic (VFC) redesigned
the uncomplicated fracture care pathway, enabling
patients referred from FSH ED to be treated through a
telehealth model of care.

A first of its kind electronic prescribing system
was trialled at the FSH Burns Unit to enable safer
and more efficient prescribing of medication. The
introduction of an Electronic Closed Loop Prescribing
and Medication Management System for use in
non-intensive care unit (ICU) clinical areas is a key
priority of the WA Health Digital Strategy 2020–2030
and supports FSH’s ongoing commitment to
excellence in medication management. With overall
project management by the SMHS Clinical ICT Capital
Program and clinical sponsorship from Professor
Fiona Wood, the Dedalus MedChart electronic
prescribing system proof of concept went live in
December 2020, replacing the paper medication
chart. Over the past six months, the system improved
medications orders accuracy from 63 per cent to
100 per cent and reduced administrative tasks for
doctors, nurses and pharmacists who now spend
more time on patient care. The project team is
currently working to initiate a program of works to
implement MedChart more broadly across SMHS.

The clinic increased in orthopaedic trauma capacity
by 16 per cent and significantly reduced the number
of appointments and x-rays required for this patient
group. The service delivered care to over 600
patients in six months and recently expanded to
accept GP referrals, thereby reducing the need to
attend ED for eligible injuries.
The VFC concept has developed into an effective
collaboration between multiple departments driving
excellence in patient centred care. It enables
specialists to focus on treating more complex
fractures and significantly benefits patients and
families who can access the care they need in the
most convenient way possible.

Provide a great patient experience

38

Volunteer service recognised for
excellent care

New service offers mental health care
in the home

Across our hospitals, the dedication of our volunteers
has a huge impact on patients, visitors and staff.
From the moment patients and their families walk
through our hospital doors, our volunteers are there
to answer questions and provide support. The 2021
Health Consumer Excellence Awards’ Care Opinion
Award, given to the HSP that delivers the highest
level of compassionate care, was awarded to the FSH
Volunteer Service for consistently going above and
beyond for the patient experience.

A newly established mental health service is
enabling patients to receive hospital-level care in
their own home with their family and carers. Led by
multidisciplinary teams at FSFHG and RkPG, patients
are provided a recovery-oriented alternative to
hospital admission while simultaneously preventing
potential triggers and re-traumatisation often
associated with hospital environments. Up to 22
virtual inpatient beds across the two sites have
been assigned to mental health patients who would
usually require hospital admission.

A campaign for more compassionate care
A small gesture can have a lasting effect. As part
of our commitment to providing a great patient
experience, the #Hello my name is… program was
implemented across SMHS. Staff across all services
and departments were provided with a 'Hello my
name is...' badge and added their preferred first
name. Patients want to be seen as people rather than
just a condition, and the difference staff can make to
patients by taking the time to introduce themselves
and establish a rapport cannot be underestimated.

Recognising the needs of people with disability

at FSH. This important annual event on the SMHS
calendar gives attendees a valuable insight into
how we can work together to collectively empower
people with disability and embrace inclusiveness
and equality.
The 2020 theme – Not all disabilities are visible –
acknowledged that approximately 80 per cent of
all disabilities are invisible and not immediately
obvious to others. Guest speakers were diverse and
presented their unique perspectives of living with
disability. Attendees included SMHS staff, consumers,
community members and representatives across WA
Health and other government agencies.

In December 2020, more than 170 people recognised
International Day of People with Disability at an event
hosted by SMHS and the Disability Health Network
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Engage, develop and provide opportunities
for our workforce
‘Project A’ to improve working environment for
junior doctors
SMHS recognises doctors in training (DiT) are crucial
in the delivery of our health services and values their
views.
In response to feedback from DiT, SMHS has
established a DiT steering committee, chaired by
the Chief Executive and including significant DiT
representation, to place the concerns of our doctors
high on the organisation’s agenda. The committee
oversees the implementation of long-term and
sustained solutions to ensure a more inclusive and
supportive culture for our DiT.
An action plan was developed to consolidate existing
initiatives with new opportunities and initiatives. It is
hoped through this concerted approach there will be
an overall improvement for our DiT in particular, and
that this will flow into the broader medical workforce.
SMHS has also taken additional steps to engage
with our DiT workforce through an open and honest
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two-way dialogue. This includes regular information
sharing sessions and special working groups
so there can be a full understanding of issues
and concerns and joint solutions developed and
implemented.

Annual IMPROVE conference nurtures staff
development
The 2021 IMPROVE Conference saw hundreds of
multi-disciplinary professional staff gather to hear
the latest in quality improvement, education and
clinical practice projects. The annual conference
fosters a culture of continuous improvement and
interdisciplinary learning, enabling teams and
staff to showcase their diverse work and learn the
value of applying quality improvement principles,
methodologies and project design. Since 2015, more
than 1,000 people have attended the conference to
share knowledge, ideas and inspiration.
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SMHS Culture Survey
A strong and positive culture is key for SMHS to be a
high performing organisation and ensure we attract
and retain the very best people.
In partnership with PwC, a review was undertaken
to better understand our workplace culture and how
we work and connect with each other to support
a strong culture within SMHS. The review, which
included a staff survey, focus groups and interviews,
showed that employees across the organisation
remain committed to the SMHS vision. It also
provided important information about necessary
improvements to ensure we meet our future needs.
The implementation of an action plan in 2021 will
aim to deliver key culture initiatives that have a
meaningful positive impact on staff engagement and
wellbeing, and ensure behaviours are aligned with
SMHS’ values of Care, Integrity, Respect, Excellence
and Teamwork.

SMHS proud to engage Aboriginal businesses

Investing to support future leaders
across SMHS

A new partnership between SMHS and Murdoch
University provided an opportunity for Aboriginal
nursing students to complete their clinical
placements at any SMHS hospital. As part of their
Bachelor of Nursing degree, Aboriginal nursing
students gain experience across a variety of clinical
settings during their placement. The program was
trialled successfully at FSH in February 2020 and
saw the first cohort of 16 first year students begin in
November 2020.

SMHS recognises that a workforce supported by
effective leadership can positively influence patient
and health care organisational outcomes. In 2020,
SMHS in partnership with Serco, launched the ‘Care
to Lead’ pilot program to further develop the skillset
of frontline and emerging operational leaders with
the aim of creating a long-term foundation for a
positive and sustainable leadership culture across
SMHS.
The program is a learning experience over
several months, where first-time leaders immerse
themselves in a holistic approach to leadership that
enhances their ability simultaneously to serve and
to lead, and to catalyse positive change. Following
the success of the 2020 pilot, the program is being
expanded in 2021 to include people leaders at
all levels, ensuring we continue to develop the
leadership capability of our workforce in higher and
executive leadership roles.
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Strengthen relationships
with our community and
partners

SMHS awarded more than 6 per cent of contracts
to Aboriginal businesses in the last financial year,
exceeding the 3 per cent target set out under the
Aboriginal Procurement Policy. Building company
Kardan Construction was selected to complete a
$500,000 refurbishment of the premises for the
Hampton House mental health service and has
completed several other projects for FH. SMHS also
engaged Tjuart Architects to provide consultancy for
the carpark extension at RGH and CareyMC Pty Ltd to
supply and install transportable buildings at PHC.

Partnership provides great opportunities for
Aboriginal nursing students
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Social Work in General Practice project
A co-commissioned project between the SMHS
Complex Needs Coordination Team and Western
Australian Primary Health Alliance (WAPHA) has
shown understanding in addressing the social
determinants likely to negatively impact on patients’
health in the primary care setting can significantly
improve patient outcomes. FSH social workers
deployed to eight comprehensive primary care
practices between January 2020 and June 2021
worked directly with patients and their carers to
better understand and address the underlying
causes of their health issues. In turn, this provided
GPs and clinicians with better insight into the
complex health and social challenges of their
patients for improved patient care. Patient outcomes
were shown to have improved by more than 20 per
cent, with 237 new referrals made to community
organisations for services.

City of Mandurah Aquatic and Recreation Centre.
The Healthy Venues Project supported local
community and State-owned sport and recreation
centres to increase healthy food and drink choices
and reduce children’s exposure to marketing of
unhealthy food. During the year, SMHS Health
Promotion partnered with the City of Rockingham
and Shire of Murray to successfully access
Healthway grants.
y SMHS Health Promotion took a leadership
and support role with the development,
implementation and evaluation of local
government public health plans. During the
year three new Local Public Health Plans were
adopted (City of Mandurah, Shire of Murray and
Shire of Waroona). Eight of nine SMHS local
governments now have a public health plan. SMHS
is recognised by the other HSPs and WA Public
Health Directorate as a leader in local government
planning.

Health Promotion community partnerships
Addressing the underlying causes of ill health and
creating supportive environments decreases demand
for health services. SMHS Health Promotion strongly
supports the need to increase partnerships between
service providers and across sectors. During the
year, SMHS Health Promotion continued to build
and strengthen partnerships with the nine local
government authorities and various organisations
to help reduce preventable chronic diseases. For
example:
y SMHS Health Promotion partnered with the Mental
Health Commission to deliver a free, interactive
Mental Health Promotion and Wellbeing forum to
build the capacity of local governments to support
optimal mental health promotion and wellbeing in
the community. Representatives from eight of the
nine local governments in the south metorpolitan
region attended, including three mayors. The 57
participants learnt about best practice health
promotion programs, initiatives and funding
opportunities available to local government.
y In December 2020, Healthway launched a new
Healthy Venues Project grant program for local
government following a successful pilot project
conducted by SMHS Health Promotion at the
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Achieve a productive
and innovative organisation
which is environmentally and
financially sustainable
Clinical trial tackling ‘below the belt’ cancers
SMHS continued to build its reputation for research
excellence with eight clinical trials underway for
patients with urogenital cancers. The BCGMM trial at
FSH is looking at whether the addition of mitomycin
chemotherapy to standard therapy for high risk,
non-muscle invasive bladder cancer can reduce
the need to remove the entire bladder. The trial is
now the largest Australian-led bladder cancer trial
ever undertaken, with over 350 participants across
15 sites in Australia. FSH has 98 patients currently
participating in the trial. FSH and The University of
Western Australia are leading the first translational
studies using samples from the trial which may in
the future allow us to know the best treatment for
new bladder cancers, curing them while minimising
any unpleasant side effects.

LifeFit-SurgFit Program

Home first model of care

A new holistic approach to preparing patients for
general surgery at FSH aims to improve outcomes
and speed up recovery. LifeFit-SurgFit encourages
patients to be in the best health possible before
coming to hospital by eating the right food,
exercising, reducing alcohol intake and stopping
smoking. Patients are supported through their
surgical journey by a multidisciplinary team who
provide health and wellbeing tools, including short
videos, for people to integrate into their lifestyle
in the lead-up to surgery. With a preoperative
education focus, studies have shown that hospital
acquired respiratory complications for general
surgery patients can be reduced by over 30 per
cent. Combining pre-surgery education and strength
training exercise is associated with a reduction in
ICU and hospital length of stay, and significantly
improved mental health outcomes. From initial
testing in ENT head and neck surgery patients,
the program is now being extended to upper
gastrointestinal and colorectal surgery patients.

An initiative launched by the Consider Home
Over Inpatient Care Every time (CHOICE) Team
has transformed the way we care for our elderly
patients across FSFHG by delivering supportive and
earlier-than-usual home discharge pathways. The
CHOICE program has empowered staff to evaluate
perceived discharge risks against known admission
risks and ensures each patient has the equipment,
social care support and clinical follow-up needed to
thrive at home. This eliminates delays for patients
awaiting inpatient assessments that could be better
completed after discharge and is linked to improved
patient outcomes, more appropriate prescription of
home care, reduced hospital costs and improved
hospital capacity. The CHOICE Team received more
than 2,000 referrals in 2020/21 and significantly
reduced patients’ length of stay in the hospital by
more than 20 per cent. Similarly, RkPG’s Integrated
Care for Older People Every time service aligns with
this home first model of care.

45

Leading in environmental sustainability
Since the introduction of the SMHS Environmental
Sustainability Framework in April 2019, health
service staff have committed to finding opportunities
to reduce their carbon footprint and promote
environmental sustainability. In 2020, SMHS
became the first HSP in WA to appoint a dedicated
Sustainability Officer to lead and drive sustainability
efforts across the whole organisation in line with the
SMHS Sustainability Framework.
New initiatives are continually emerging and
significant changes have been made throughout the
year:
y Environmental sustainability special interest
groups have been established across SMHS sites,
bringing together teams of enthusiastic staff to
identify opportunities and promote and implement
change.
y The FSFHG Anaesthetic Department became
the first in Australia to phase out the use of the
anaesthetic gas desflurane, which is a volatile
greenhouse gas.
y SMHS Contract Management sourced sustainable
alternatives to replace plastic items including
straws, pill cups, denture cups and lids. These
product swaps will result in 850,000 fewer plastic
items going into landfill each year.
y SMHS launched a Green Ambassadors program
to harness the drive and commitment of staff
for a more sustainable workplace. The program
provides staff with opportunities to be local
leaders and champions for change. More than 70
passionate people across SMHS have signed on
as Green Ambassadors to progress environmental
sustainability initiatives.
y Information about waste management,
procurement and SMHS’ environmental
sustainability commitment is now included in
induction information provided to all new staff.
y Development and implementation of the ‘Think Act
Change’ call to action as a unifying concept for
SMHS environmental sustainability activities.
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Excellence in the delivery of safe,
high quality clinical care

Comprehensive oral care project to
reduce hospital-acquired pneumonia
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 2021
for Excellence in Clinical Care
Patients with hospital-acquired pneumonia and hospital-acquired aspiration pneumonia experience
longer hospital stays, higher mortality rates and discharge delays.
Clinical case and literature reviews by the FSFHG Hospital Acquired Complications Reduction team
identified comprehensive oral care as an effective prevention strategy for general medical, surgical and
geriatric inpatients.
A new oral care protocol was subsequently developed based on patient’s clinical and dependency
requirements. It included storing oral products on participating wards, a ‘Take 5’ education package for
nursing teams and a patient information sheet.
With evidence-based data showing improved patient outcomes, project learnings have been
incorporated into policy and these practices are now embedded into clinical practice on six wards.
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Provide a great patient experience
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My Choice Fixed Menu and
Allergy Mapping Project
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 2021 for
Excellence in Improving the Patient Experience
Providing tasty hospital meals suited to patients’ therapeutic, allergy and cultural dietary
needs can be challenging. This collaborative project between support services and
clinical staff created an innovative à la carte patient dining experience which improved
meal choice, patient safety and patient satisfaction, while reducing waste.
FSH Patient Catering and Dietetics consulted widely with patients, visitors, staff and
consumer advisory groups on menu concepts and meal options. In what is thought to be
an Australian first, over 150 food allergies were mapped in the menu system, improving
patient safety and dramatically improving choices for patients with food allergies.
The final menu increased options for all patients, particularly those on restrictive
therapeutic diets like gluten free and renal, and preference diets like vegetarian and
vegan, and was well received by patients and staff.
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Engage, develop and provide
opportunities for our workforce
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Annual IMPROVE Conference, FSFHG
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 2021 for
Excellence in developing and engaging our staff
This event aims to develop FSFHG capacity and capability while fostering a culture of continuous
improvement and interdisciplinary learning.
Individuals and teams showcase their diverse work while learning the value of applying improvement
tools for clinical effectiveness, efficiency, productivity and sustainability. It is also a safe environment for
beginning practitioners to delve into more complex improvement efforts.
Since the first event in 2015, an increasing level of project complexity has been noted along with
improved abstract writing, data management, poster and oral presentation skills. Some projects have
also been embedded in everyday FSFHG practice or published in internationally peer-reviewed journals.
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Strengthen relationships with our
community and partners

Aged Care Transition
and Liaison Nurse
Winner of the SMHS Excellence
Award 2021 for Excellence in
Strengthening Partnerships
This RGH collaboration with the WAPHA supports and
enables older people at risk of hospital readmission
to manage their care across hospital, community and
primary health boundaries.
The nurse works with patients on discharge to ensure
hospital developed treatment and management plans
translate into sustainable self-management health
care plans in the community. Assistance is provided to
communicate this plan to primary health care providers
including GPs, pharmacies and care service providers.
Employment of this clinical nurse specialist was initially
made possible through WAPHA project funding.
In addition to reducing readmission rates from 20 to
15 per cent for patients aged 80 years and older, this
collaboration contributed to improved safe medication
management in the community, identification of unmet
care needs and reinforced chronic disease management
education.
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Frailty Assessment Unit
Winner of the SMHS Excellence Award 2021 for
Excellence in Innovation
Hospital management, frontline clinical staff, external agencies and stakeholders
collaborated on this integrated continuum of care for frail elderly patients through
hospital back to their own home.
Admitted directly from the FSH ED, patients undergo an early comprehensive geriatric
assessment by a multidisciplinary team. This includes clinical and functional
assessments and development of a comprehensive management plan with the CHOICE
principles in mind.
The model of best practice developed incorporated early staff engagement, training in
frailty assessment tools and daily team huddles.
This evidence-based, clinician-led design service has seen a 30 per cent reduction in
length of stay, a 20 per cent increase in patient’s returning home within 30 hours of
hospital admission, and positive impacts on hospital and financial sustainability.
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Top honours for
Rockingham Peel
Group nurse
RkPG Aged Care Transition and Liaison Nurse
Deb Jones was named WA Nurse/Midwife of
the Year at the 2020 WA Nursing and Midwifery
Excellence Awards.
Deb also took out the award for the Excellence
in Primary, Public and Community Care category
for her work to help hundreds of elderly patients
transition from hospital discharge to home
through the creation of individualised treatment
and management plans and conducting followup home visits.
“I really enjoy working with my patients to help
them achieve their health goals and improve
their quality of life,” said Deb.
“I am proud of being able to provide patient
centred care, including chronic disease
education and working on management plans
with the patient and all members in [sic] the
primary health setting.”
SMHS staff also took out category awards at the
event which was postponed last year due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.
Sharon Rowe, Adult Burns Service Clinical Nurse
Consultant at FSFHG, won the Excellence in
Rural and Remote Health award for supporting
and educating nursing staff in remote and rural
areas to provide high quality burns care.
FSH Acute Medical Unit Enrolled Nurse Jacob
Brown won the Excellence in Enrolled Nursing
award for his ability to maintain a positive
patient experience while being a great mentor to
new staff and students.
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Living with COVID-19
Over the past 12 months, the COVID-19 pandemic
remained an ongoing threat to the WA community.
While we continued to see fewer daily local COVID-19
cases, the small number of positive COVID-19 cases
detected in the community over the year reinforced
that this highly infectious virus is likely to remain a
part of our lives for years to come.

The impact of COVID on our patients, their families
and carers was significant. Visitor restrictions were
imposed at various times across our hospitals and
care facilities in order to protect vulnerable people
in our care. SMHS staff were also encouraged to stay
home when feeling unwell to keep their colleagues
and the community safe from illness.

COVID-19 vaccinations became available to SMHS
staff at the beginning of March, with the first
vaccination clinic opening at FSH. Vaccinations
were initially rolled out in a phased manner to
appropriately manage the supply of vaccines in
WA, however as more doses became available,
the program was expanded to all SMHS staff
and volunteers. Making sure as many staff as
possible received the vaccine was a priority for
SMHS to ensure staff, patients and the community
were protected. Throughout March, a total of five
vaccination clinics were opened across SMHS sites
as well as at St John of God Murdoch Hospital. This
partnership with St John of God Murdoch allowed
additional appointment times for SMHS staff.

SMHS COVID testing clinics worked around the clock,
including public holidays, to provide the community
with access to testing. Opening and closing times of
the clinics were often extended for at-risk travellers
returning to Perth via airlines and ships.

Following the necessary suspension of non-urgent
category 2 and all category 3 elective surgery
procedures in 2020, a funding boost from the State
Government enabled SMHS to significantly reduce
its over boundary waitlist and return elective surgery
performance to pre-COVID levels across all sites.

On 21 June 2021, staff across SMHS took time out to
acknowledge the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on
their professional and personal lives and the many
sacrifices made to help keep the community safe.
Clinical and non-clinical staff attended memorial
tree planting services at all hospital sites, organised
by the FSFHG Pastoral Care team. The memorial
acknowledged the many losses shared by SMHS
staff, including missed or postponed life events
such as weddings, births, graduations, birthdays,
anniversaries and important cultural celebrations,
and lost opportunities to say final goodbyes to loved
ones.
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Performance Management
Framework
To comply with its legislative obligation as a WA
government agency, SMHS operates under the
Outcome Based Management (OBM) Framework
determined by DoH. This framework describes how
outcomes, services and key performance indicators
(KPIs) are used to measure agency performance
towards achieving the relevant overarching wholeof-government goals.
This framework is underpinned by key principles of:
Transparency: transparent reporting of
performance against agreed outcome targets.
Accountability: clearly defined roles and
responsibilities to achieve agreed outcome targets.
Recognition: acknowledgment of performance
against agreed outcome targets.
Consistency: consistent systems to support the
achievement of agreed outcome targets.
Integration: integrated systems and policies
to support the achievement of agreed outcome
targets.

The 2020/21 KPIs measure the effectiveness
and efficiency of SMHS in achieving the health
outcomes of:

Outcome one:
Public hospital-based services that enable
effective treatment and restorative health care
for Western Australians.
SMHS activities that support outcome one:
y
y
y
y

Public hospital admitted services
Public hospital emergency services
Public hospital non-admitted services
Mental health services.

Outcome two:
Prevention, health promotion and aged continuing
care services that help Western Australians to live
healthy and safe lives.
SMHS activities that support outcome two:
6. Public and community health services.

Table 2 aligns the SMHS KPIs to the WA Health
system outcomes and WA Government goals.
Performance against these activities and outcomes
is summarised in the Summary of KPIs (page 69)
and described in detail within the Disclosure and
Compliance section (page 154) of this report.
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Table 2: Services delivered by SMHS to achieve outcomes
WA Government goal: Strong communities – safe communities and supported families
WA Health agency goal: Delivery of safe, high quality, financially sustainable
and accountable healthcare for all Western Australians
Outcome 1: Public hospital based services that enable effective
treatment and restorative health care for Western Australians

Key effectiveness indicators
contributing to Outcome 1
Unplanned hospital readmissions for
patients within 28 days for selected surgical
procedures: (a) knee replacement;
(b) hip replacement; (c) tonsillectomy and
adenoidectomy; (d) hysterectomy;
(e) prostatectomy; (f) cataract surgery;
(g) appendicectomy
Percentage of elective wait list patients
waiting over boundary for reportable
procedures
(a) % Category 1 over 30 days (b) % Category 2
over 90 days (c) % Category 3 over 365 days
Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus
bloodstream infections (HA-SABSI) per 10,000
occupied bed-days

Key efficiency
indicators within
Outcome 1
Average admitted cost
per weighted activity unit
(WAU)
Average Emergency
Department cost per WAU

Outcome 2: Prevention, health
promotion and aged and
continuing care services that
help Western Australians to live
healthy and safe lives
Key efficiency indicators
within Outcome 2
Average cost per person of
delivering population health
programs by population health
units

Average non-admitted
cost per WAU
Average cost per bed-day
in specialised mental
health inpatient services
Average cost per treatment
day of non-admitted care
provided by mental health
services

Survival rates for sentinel conditions
Percentage of admitted patients who
discharged against medical advice:
a) Aboriginal patients; and b) Non-Aboriginal
patients
Percentage of live-born term infants with an
Apgar score of less than 7 at 5 minutes post
delivery
Readmissions to acute specialised mental
health inpatient services within 28 days of
discharge
Percentage of post-discharge community care
within 7 days following discharge from acute
specialised mental health inpatient services
Source: Extracted from Outcome based Management (OBM) Policy 2019/20, 2020/21 OBM KPI Data Definition Manual and Addendum 2
OBM Framework Service, Sub-Service and Programs 2020/21.
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Changes to OBM
Framework
DoH introduced a new OBM Framework, which came
into effect in 2017/18. Implementation of this new
framework resulted in the re-alignment of costs and
KPIs between hospitals and non-hospital services.
This framework remains in place in 2020/21.

Shared responsibility
with other agencies
Central to the success of SMHS in delivering
health services is the ability to partner with other
government and non-government agencies. In
delivering care SMHS works closely with DoH, and
other HSPs, plus various human service agencies.
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Performance

Performance
Financial targets
The total cost of SMHS providing health services in 2020/21 was $2.0 billion. Results for 2020/21 compared to the
initial estimates are presented in Table 3. Full details of financial performance during 2020/21 are provided in the
financial statements (page 92).
Table 3: Financial results 2020/21
2020/21 target
($ ‘000)

2020/21 actual
($ ‘000)

Variation (+/-)
($ ‘000)

Total cost of services

1,939,883

1,986,308

46,425

Net cost of services

1,764,529

1,804,211

39,682

Total equity

2,635,379

2,643,360

7,981

27,014

38,900

11,886

1,030,682

1,088,098

57,416

Net increase/decrease in cash held
Approved salary expense level

Total cost of services
variation
The total cost of services was higher than the
original estimates by $46 million, where this variance
was largely due to funding changes occurring after
the 2020/21 estimate was developed. The extra
funding received, supported the additional service
delivery levels catering for the COVID-19 impacts
and elective surgery requirements. The results were
further impacted by a drop in the value of the land
portfolio and a requirement to recognise additional
employee costs for the casual workforce.

Net cost of services variation
The variance of $40 million is similar to the above,
where the additional health services activities were
funded by the WA Government.
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Total equity variation
The total equity balance was higher due to a
revaluation increase in the buildings held.

Net increase/decrease in cash
held variation
The $12 million improvement in the cash position,
occurs from a combination of sustained operational
efficiencies, increased revenue and the carryover of
funds reserved for commitments where the outlays
are expected in the following year.

Approved salary expense
level variation
As described in the total cost of services variation
section, the variance in the salary expenses of
$57 million reflects the higher funding levels with
associated full-time equivelent (FTE), to support price
increases, the growth in delivery of health services
and the additional COVID-19 activities.

Summary of key performance indicators
A summary of SMHS KPIs and variations from the
targets are given in Table 4. This is to be read in
conjunction with the detailed information of each
KPI found in the Disclosure and Compliance section
(page 153) of this report.

KPIs assist SMHS to assess and monitor the
extent to which WA Government outcomes are
being achieved:
y Effectiveness indicators provide information
that aid with assessment of the extent to
which outcomes have been achieved through
the resourcing and delivery of services to the
community.
y Efficiency indicators monitor the relationship
between service delivery and the resources used
to produce the service.
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Table 4: summary of SMHS key performance indicators
Calendar year
Key Performance Indicator (KPI)

2020
target

2020
actual

Variation

Outcome 1: Public hospital-based services that enable effective treatment and restorative
healthcare for Western Australians.
Key Effectiveness Indicators
Unplanned hospital readmissions of patients within 28 days for selected
surgical procedures: (a) knee replacement; (b) hip replacement; (c)
tonsillectomy & adenoidectomy; (d) hysterectomy; (e) prostatectomy;
(f) cataract surgery; (g) appendicectomy (represented as per 1,000
separations)
Knee replacement
Hip replacement
Tonsillectomy & adenoidectomy
Hysterectomy
Prostatectomy
Cataract surgery
Appendicectomy

≤
≤
≤
≤
≤
≤
≤

23.0
17.1
81.8
42.3
36.1
1.1
25.7

7.9
21.8
93.3
47.1
44.9
0.5
30.9

15.1
-4.7
-11.5
-4.8
-8.8
0.6
-5.2

Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections
(HA-SABSI) per 10,000 occupied bed-days

≤

1.0

1.1

-0.1

Survival rates for sentinel conditions
Survival rate for stroke, by age group
0–49
50–59
60–69
70–79
80 and above

≥
≥
≥
≥
≥

95.2%
94.9%
94.1%
92.3%
86.0%

97.7%
96.8%
95.6%
91.7%
88.6%

2.5%
1.9%
1.5%
-0.6%
2.6%

Survival rate for acute myocardial infarction, by age group
0–49
50–59
60–69
70–79
80 and above

≥
≥
≥
≥
≥

99.1%
98.8%
98.1%
96.8%
92.1%

98.6%
99.3%
97.3%
97.6%
93.7%

-0.5%
0.5%
-0.8%
0.8%
1.6%

Survival rate for fractured neck of femur, by age group
70–79
80 and above

≥
≥

98.9%
96.9%

99.4%
99.4%

0.5%
2.5%

Percentage of admitted patients who discharged against medical advice:
a) Aboriginal patients; and b) Non-Aboriginal patients
Aboriginal
≤
Non-Aboriginal
≤

2.78%
0.99%

3.59%
0.71%

-0.81%
0.28%

Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of less than 7 at
5 minutes post delivery
≤

1.8%

1.0%

0.8%

Readmissions to acute specialised mental health inpatient services
within 28 days of discharge

≤

12%

16%

-4%

≥

75%

82%

7%

Percentage of post-discharge community care within seven days
following discharge from acute specialised mental health inpatient
services
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Financial year
Key Performance Indicator (KPI)

2020/21
target

2020/21
actual

Variation

Outcome 1: Public hospital-based services that enable effective treatment and restorative
healthcare for Western Australians.
Key Effectiveness Indicators
Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary for
reportable procedures (a) % Category 1 over 30 days (b) % Category 2
over 90 days (c) % Category 3 over 365 days
Urgency Category 1

0.0%

11.2%

-11.2%

Urgency Category 2

0.0%

10.9%

-10.9%

Urgency Category 3

0.0%

4.6%

-4.6%

Key Efficiency Indicators
Average admitted cost per weighted activity unit

≤

$7,073

$7,075

-$2

Average Emergency Department cost per weighted activity unit

≤

$6,853

$6,799

$54

Average non-admitted cost per weighted activity unit

≤

$7,025

$6,597

$428

Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient services ≤

$1,773

$1,731

$42

Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care provided by mental
≤
health services

$513

$497

$16

$23

-$8

Outcome 2: Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care services that help
Western Australians to live healthy and safe lives.
Key Efficiency Indicators
Average cost per person of delivering population health programs by
population health units

≤

$15
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Emergency department access performance
EDs are specialist multidisciplinary units with expertise in providing health care to acutely unwell patients in their
first few hours in hospital. With the increasing demand on EDs and health services, it is essential the provision
of health services is continually monitored to ensure the effective and efficient delivery of safe high quality care.
This in turn can enable the development of improvement strategies to ensure optimal service delivery and patient
outcomes.
This indicator measures how effective EDs are at the beginning of a patient’s journey. When patients first enter an
ED they are assessed on how urgently treatment should be provided.
A patient is allocated a triage category between 1 (immediate) and 5 (least urgent). Treatment should commence
within the recommended time of the triage category allocated (refer to Table 5). The aim of this process is to
ensure treatment is given in the appropriate time and should prevent adverse outcomes arising from deterioration
in the patient’s condition.
SMHS hospitals strive to treat all ED patients within the recommended period (refer to Table 6).
For further information on SMHS improvement programs and SMHS hospital performance against the WA
Emergency Access Target (WEAT) please refer to the Significant Issues section (page 82).
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Table 5: Triage category, treatment acuity and WA performance targets
Triage
category

Treatment
acuity

Description

Target

1

Immediate life-threatening

Immediate
(≤2 minutes)

100%

2

Imminently life-threatening

≤10 minutes

≥80%

3

Potentially life-threatening or important time-critical
treatment or severe pain

≤30 minutes

≥75%

4

Potentially life-serious or situational urgency or
significant complexity

≤60 minutes

≥70%

5

Less urgent

≤120 minutes

≥70%

Note: The triage process and scores are recognised by the Australasian College for Emergency Medicine.

Table 6: Percentage of SMHS ED patients seen within recommended times, by triage category, 2020/21
Triage 1

Triage 2

Triage 3

Triage 4

Triage 5

Fiona Stanley
Hospital

100%

70.2%

22.6%

45.8%

79%

Rockingham
General Hospital

100%

67.8%

31.6%

52.1%

83.9%

Peel Health
Campus

99%

77.8%

33.1%

50.8%

86.8%

SMHS total
Data source: ED data collection

73

74

Learning from clinical
incidents
SMHS adoption of the towards zero harm approach
ensures a strong focus on providing safe, high
quality care to our patients. This includes the
effective management of clinical incidents when
health care does not go to plan. SMHS has systems
in place to identify and robustly investigate clinical
incidents with the aim of preventing recurrence, with
an emphasis on the sharing of learnings across the
organisation.
SMHS saw an increase in the number of clinical
incidents notified in 2020/21 compared with 2019/20.
This trend demonstrates a return to normal hospital
activity following the initial impact of the COVID-19
outbreak, with patients again accessing SMHS
services in 2020/21. The majority of these incidents
were associated with no or minor harm, indicating
that SMHS has a strong reporting culture with a low
level of harm.
Clinical incidents are reported and assigned a
Severity Assessment Code (SAC) rating that guides
the level of investigation undertaken. SAC1 clinical
incidents are those where serious harm or death
was or could have been a result of the health
care provided rather than the patient’s underlying
condition. SMHS takes clinical incidents seriously
and applies a comprehensive investigation process
to SAC1 incidents to ensure contributory or causative
factors are identified and recommendations are
identified to address these.
During 2020/21, there were 182 confirmed SAC 1
clinical incidents notified within SMHS compared
with 154 for last financial year.

Figure 1: confirmed SMHS SAC 1 clinical
incidents

154
2019/20

182

2020/21

At the time of reporting (12 July 2021) the
investigation of 164 incidents had been completed
and 18 were in progress.
Of the 164 clinical incidents investigated:
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110

Confirmed as SAC1
clinical incidents
Declassified*

*declassified after investigations determined the healthcare provided
did not contribute to the patient’s outcome.

Of the 110 SAC1 clinical incidents where health care
was found to be a contributing factor:
Patient outcome

Number

No harm

3

Minor to moderate harm

21

Serious harm

68

Death

18

For the three clinical incidents where no harm
occurred, these were considered to have had
the potential for serious harm and as such were
investigated as SAC1 clinical incidents to prevent
recurrence.
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Significant issues

Significant
issues
The SMHS population is estimated at approximately
669,602 in 2020, representing 25 per cent of the WA
population. This population is projected to increase
by 2 per cent per year in the years from 2018 to 2028,
with the highest population growth projected in
Rockingham of 3.3 per cent per year followed by the
Peel/Mandurah area at 2.7 per cent per year.
Older adults are typically higher users of health
services as many health conditions become more
prevalent with age. The SMHS population is ageing,
with the projected population of older adults aged 65
year or more growing at a faster rate – 3.9 per cent
per year – than people under 65, which will grow at
1.7 per cent per year. The Peel/Mandurah area has
the highest proportion of residents aged 65 years
and over, accounting for 21 per cent of the total Peel/
Mandurah population.
The main lifestyle factors associated with poor health
outcomes are being overweight or obese, smoking
(including past history of smoking), excessive
alcohol consumption, poor nutrition and insufficient
physical activity. These behavioural risk factors
contribute to high blood pressure, high cholesterol
and a range of chronic diseases. Leading causes of
death in SMHS are cardiovascular disease, various
cancers and stroke.
The population growth and rise in health risk areas
in the catchment area challenges SMHS to provide
timely access to outpatient appointments, elective
surgery and emergency care.
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Elective surgery
Hospitals across Australia actively manage
waitlists to provide patients with timely and
appropriate access to elective surgery. A person
requiring elective surgery is prioritised based on
their assigned clinical urgency category:
y Category 1 – urgent: procedures that are
clinically indicated within 30 days
y Category 2 – semi-urgent: procedures that
are clinically indicated within 90 days
y Category 3 – non-urgent: procedures that
are clinically indicated within 365 days.
SMHS endeavours to meet the clinically
recommended times for elective surgery as it
understands and acknowledges that delays have
the potential to impact a patient’s quality of life
and surgical outcomes.
A patient who has been waiting longer than the
recommended timeframe in one of the three
clinical urgency categories is defined as over
boundary.
During 2020/21, SMHS continued to work towards
reducing over boundary cases and improve

the timeliness of treatment for elective surgery
waitlisted patients.
Improvement on previous years’ results towards
the target of treating all patients within clinically
recommended times was achieved in urgency
categories 1 and 2. Significant progress was
inhibited by COVID-19, with non-urgent category
2 and all category 3 elective surgeries suspended
during the lockdown periods in February, April
and June 2021.
SMHS elective surgery was further impacted
by the FH Theatre Project which commenced in
April 2021 and required the temporary closure
of some theatres to facilitate refurbishment
works. Additional demand was placed on other
SMHS sites and surgical services as activity was
redistributed to minimise delays for waitlisted
patients. This program of work is expected to
continue into 2022.
SMHS will continue to proactively manage
elective wait lists and implement initiatives to
reduce over boundary case numbers across all
urgency categories.

Table 7: Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary for reportable procedures

Urgency
category

2016/17
actual
(%)

2017/18
actual
(%)

2018/19
actual
(%)

2019/20
actual
(%)

2020/21
actual
(%)

Target
(%)

1

22.6

25.3

17.6

11.5

11.2

0

2

30.9

20.6

16.4

14.8

10.9

0

3

4.8

1.9

2.9

3.9

4.6

0

Data source: Elective Services Wait List Data Collection.
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Emergency access
Managing demand for emergency care continues to be an area of focus for the health service. Although ED
attendances decreased during the COVID-19 pandemic, more than 218,000 people attended a SMHS ED during the
year. Fifty one per cent of these presentations were seen at FSH and across the health service 41 per cent were
triage four patients (refer to Table 8).
Table 8: ED presentations by triage category
Presentations by triage
Hospital
Fiona Stanley
Hospital
Rockingham
General Hospital
Peel Health
Campus
Total

1

2

3

4

5

Total

1,477

20,828

42,339

41,623

4,640

110,907

1%

19%

38%

38%

4%

333

8,891

22,412

26,268

2,788

1%

15%

37%

43%

5%

193

5,363

15,838

22,295

2,937

0%

12%

34%

48%

6%

2,003

35,082

80,589

90,186

10,365

1%

16%

37%

41%

5%

60,692

46,626

218,225

Note: The percentages above have been rounded to the fullest number.

Managing wait times in EDs at FSH, RGH and PHC is critical. Overall, SMHS performance remained below the 90
per cent target; however, there continues to be improvement year-on-year.
SMHS hospitals will continue to focus on the entire patient journey, from the ED to the wards through to hospital
discharge, to improve the WEAT performance.
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Outpatient reform
Outpatient services play a vital role in the patient
care journey and are a key component of healthcare
available to the SMHS population.
These services represent a significant portion of
overall activity for SMHS and form a link between
primary and acute care provision. They also perform
an important function in managing inpatient hospital
demand through admission prevention, hospital
avoidance and hospital substitution.
Outpatient appointments are sometimes referred
to as ‘the wait for the wait’ – the wait to be seen by
a specialist prior to being waitlisted for an elective
surgery procedure if required. SMHS recognises that
innovative and sustainable solutions are required
to continue to meet demand and improve patients
access to outpatient services.
The SMHS Outpatient Reform Program is a key focus
area of the SMHS Strategic Plan 2021–2025 with
reforms that aim to:
y provide patients with greater choice in how they
attend appointments, including by phone and
video where possible
y reduce wait times and improve access to our
services
y improve data quality, analytics and access to
service information to shape reform
y improve the value of each appointment for our
patients and clinicians.

The program has helped SMHS provide more than:

716,000*

204,000

appointments
to patients

virtual appointments
by phone or video

100,000 more than
last year and growing to
meet increased demand

50,000 more
than last year

180,000

20,000

appointments for
new referrals

virtual appointments
to our country patients

25,000 more than last year

9,000 more than last year.

Continuing in 2021/22, the reform program will
focus on further improving virtual care delivery and
implementing service improvements across the
patient’s journey.
*Outpatient appointments attended as SMHS sites.
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Disclosure and compliance
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Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S OPINION
2021
South Metropolitan Health Service
To the Parliament of Western Australia

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the South Metropolitan Health Service (Health Service)
which comprise:


the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2021, and the Statement of Comprehensive
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and Schedule of
Income and Expenses by Service for the year then ended



Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

In my opinion, the financial statements are:


based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results
and cash flows of the South Metropolitan Health Service for the year ended 30 June 2021
and the financial position at the end of that period



in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006
and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of my report.
I am independent of the Health Service in accordance with the Auditor General Act 2006 and the
relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s APES
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code)
that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I have also fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion.

Page 1 of 5
7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth

MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849
7500

TEL: 08 6557
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Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board is responsible for:


keeping proper accounts



preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s
Instructions



such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for:


assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern



disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern



using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government
has made policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Health
Service.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.
A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.

Report on the audit of controls
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of
controls exercised by the South Metropolitan Health Service. The controls exercised by the
Health Service are those policies and procedures established by the Board to ensure that the
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control
objectives).
My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report.
In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the South Metropolitan Health
Service are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2021.
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The Board’s responsibilities
The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure that the
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the
incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer’s
Instructions and other relevant written law.

Auditor General’s responsibilities
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to
express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control
objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on
Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard
requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably
designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented as designed.
An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the
suitability of the controls design to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation
of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including an assessment
of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My procedures
included testing the implementation of those controls that I consider necessary to achieve the
overall control objectives.
I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.

Limitations of controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the
controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once in operation, the overall
control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or non-compliance with laws and
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of
the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may
become unsuitable because of changes in conditions.

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators
Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the
South Metropolitan Health Service for the year ended 30 June 2021. The key performance
indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key effectiveness indicators and key efficiency
indicators that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and delivering
services.
In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the South Metropolitan
Health Service are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Health Service’s
performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2021.
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The Board responsibilities for the key performance indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s
Instructions and for such internal control it determines necessary to enable the preparation of key
performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the key performance indicators, the Board is responsible for identifying key
performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in
accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators.

Auditor General’s responsibilities
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to
express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and
appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key performance
indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with
Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating
to assurance engagements.
An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and
guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and
the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In
making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.
I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.

My independence and quality control relating to the reports on controls and key
performance indicators
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1
Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other
Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and
procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information is the information in the
entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but not the financial statements, key
performance indicators and my auditor’s report.
My opinions do not cover the other information and, accordingly, I do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements
and key performance indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators
of the South Metropolitan Health Service for the year ended 30 June 2021 included on the Health
Service’s website. The Health Service’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Health
Service’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Health Service’s
website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements, controls and key
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information
which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements, controls or key
performance indicators. If users of the financial statements, controls and key performance
indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are
advised to contact the entity to confirm the information contained in the website version of the
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators.

Caroline Spencer
Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
8 September 2021
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Certification of
financial statements
SOUTH METROPOLITAN HEALTH SERVICE
CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
The accompanying financial statements of South Metropolitan Health Service have been prepared in
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records
to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period ended 30 June 2021 and the financial
position as at 30 June 2021.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included
in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Adj. Associate Professor
Robyn Collins
Chair
South Metropolitan Health
Service Board
7 September 2021
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Mr Liam Roche
Board Member
South Metropolitan Health
Service Board
7 September 2021

Mr Marc Warner
Chief Finance Officer
South Metropolitan
Health Service
7 September 2021

Financial statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021
$’000

Notes

2020
$’000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Fees for contracted medical practitioners
Contracts for services
Patient support costs
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Asset revaluation decrement
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment
Other supplies and services
Other expenses
Total cost of services

3.1.1
3.3
3.2
7.2
5.1 – 5.4
9.10
4.6
3.4
3.5
3.6

1,088,098
11,979
139,646
392,444
3,557
93,961
1,981
43
56,960
59,403
138,236
1,986,308

1,037,248
10,220
139,130
371,889
5,408
99,616
3,224
53,286
57,451
128,300
1,905,772

(a)

77,323
81,586
3,186
2,240
81
2
385
17,294
182,097

76,087
80,857
2,166
279
6
382
15,072
174,849

(a)
(a)
(a)
(a)

-

18
18

182,097

174,867

(a)

1,804,211

1,730,905

(a)

1,586,441
133,305
25,630
929
84,367
1,830,672

1,491,019
126,058
16,724
2
73,773
1,707,576

(a)
(a)
(a)

26,461

(23,329)

6,831
6,831

7,029
7,029

33,292

(16,300)

(a)

(a)
(a)
(a)
(a)

INCOME
Revenue
Patient charges
Other fees for services
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other grants and contributions
Donation revenue
Interest revenue
Commercial activities
Other revenue
Total revenue
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets

Total gains

4.2
4.3
4.4
4.4
4.6
4.5
4.6
4.6

Total income other than income from State Government

NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Department of Health – Service agreement
Mental Health – Service agreement
Grants from other state government agencies
Assets (transferred)/assumed
Services received free of charge
Total income from State Government

4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1
4.1

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation reserve
Total other comprehensive income
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

9.10

(a)
(a)

(a)

See also the ‘Schedule of income and expenses by service’.
The Statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.
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Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021
$’000

Notes

2020
$’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Total Current Assets

7.3
7.3
6.1
6.3
6.4

88,712
16,420
54,046
5,482
3,505
168,165

55,938
14,294
51,532
6,183
3,962
131,909

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Service concession assets
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

7.3
6.2
5.1
5.3
5.2
5.4

18,848
1,034,441
1,764,047
59,571
50,811
13,860
2,941,578

14,848
931,751
1,801,373
61,425
77,586
16,692
2,903,675

3,109,743

3,035,584

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Contract liabilities
Grant liabilities
Lease liabilities
Employee related provisions
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

6.5
6.6
6.7
7.1
3.1.2
6.8

108,915
583
379
19,265
225,957
273
355,372

109,764
329
186
29,776
206,755
182
346,992

Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Employee related provisions
Total non-current liabilities

6.6
7.1
3.1.2

294
33,950
76,767
111,011

766
49,780
73,812
124,358

466,383

471,350

2,643,360

2,564,234

2,534,903
78,742
29,715

2,489,069
71,911
3,254

2,643,360

2,564,234

Total liabilities

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY

9.10
9.10
9.10

The Statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
(a) The initial application of AASB 1059 has resulted in the reclassification of property, plant and equipment held under a service
concession arrangement to service concession assets. Refer to note 9.2 for further information.
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(a)
(a)

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

2021
$’000

Notes
CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

2020
$’000

9.10

Balance at 1 July 2020

2,489,069

2,433,935

45,834

55,134

-

-

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations administered by Department of Health
Other contributions by owners
Distributions to owners

-

-

Balance at 30 June 2021

2,534,903

2,489,069

Balance at 1 July 2020

71,911

64,882

Other comprehensive income

6,831

7,029

78,742

71,911

3,254

22,750

-

3,833

Restated balance at 1 July

3,254

26,583

Surplus/(deficit) for the period

26,461

(23,329)

Balance at 30 June 2021

29,715

3,254

2,564,234

2,521,567

-

3,833

2,564,234

2,525,400

Total comprehensive income for the period

33,292

(16,300)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

45,834

55,134

2,643,360

2,564,234

RESERVES

9.10

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Balance at 30 June 2021

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

9.10

Balance at 1 July 2020
Initial application of AASB 16

TOTAL EQUITY
Balance at 1 July 2020
Initial application of AASB 16

9.10

Restated balance at 1 July

Balance at 30 June 2021

The Statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Notes

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Revenues from State Govt Agencies

1,642,686

1,529,855

45,834

52,253

1,688,520

1,582,108

(a)

(1,062,902)

(994,968)

(a)

(706,014)

(683,273)

(a)

-

3

Receipts from customers

71,713

80,280

(a)

Commonwealth grants and contributions

3,186

-

(a)

Other grants and contributions

2,240

2,167

(a)

48

201

2

6

Capital appropriations administered by Department of Health
Net cash provided by State Government

(a)

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Receipts

Donations received
Interest received
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities

7.3.2

93,365

97,177

(a)

(1,598,362)

(1,498,407)

(a)

(17,817)

(14,129)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Payment for purchase of non-current physical and intangible assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash used in investing activities

(15)

(62)

(17,832)

(14,191)

(33,426)

(40,921)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Repayment of lease liabilities
Receipts
-

-

(33,426)

(40,921)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

38,900

28,589

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

85,080

56,491

123,980

85,080

Net cash used in financing activities

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

7.3.1

The Statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2021
1.

Basis of Preparation

The Health Service is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The entity
is a not-for-profit entity.
A description of the nature of its operations and its principle activities has been included in the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of
these financial statements.
The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Health Service on 7 September 2021.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements are prepared in accordance with:
1.
2.
3.
4.

The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)
The Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs)
Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) including applicable interpretations
Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for notforprofit entities have been applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions take precedence over AASs. Several AASs are modified by the
TIs to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial
effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and using the historical cost
convention. Certain balances will apply different measurement basis (such as fair value basis). Where this is the case the different
measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. The significant
judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts effected by
those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on the professional judgements
derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of
equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the
owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior, to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.
Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by Treasurer’s Instruction 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made
to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated
as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

2.

Health Service outputs

How the health service operates
This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the Health Service receives and how this funding is utilised to achieve
the Health Service’s objectives:
Notes
Health Service objectives

2.1

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service

2.2
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2.1

Health Service objectives

Services
To comply with its legislative obligation as a WA Government agency, the Health Service operates under an Outcome Based
Management framework (OBM). The OBM framework is determined by WA Health and replaces the former activity based costing
framework for annual reporting from 2017/2018 and beyond. This framework describes how outcomes, activities, services and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are used to measure agency performance towards achieving the relevant overarching whole of
government goal of strong communities, safe communities and supported families and the WA health system agency goal of delivery of
safe, quality, financially sustainable and accountable healthcare for all Western Australians.
The six key services of the Health Service under the OBM framework are listed below.

Public Hospital Admitted Patient
The provision of health care services to patients in metropolitan and major rural hospitals that meet the criteria for admission and
receive treatment and/or care for a period of time, including public patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health.
Admission to hospital and the treatment provided may include access to acute and/or sub-acute inpatient services, as well as hospital
in the home services. Public Hospital Admitted Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health
service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to admitted services. This service does
not include any component of the Mental Health Services reported under ‘Service 4 – Mental Health Services’.

Public Hospital Emergency Services
The provision of services for the treatment of patients in emergency departments of metropolitan and major rural hospitals, inclusive
of public patients treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health. The services provided to patients are specifically designed
to provide emergency care, including a range of pre-admission, post-acute and other specialist medical, allied health, nursing and
ancillary services. Public Hospital Emergency Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health
service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to emergency services. This service
does not include any component of the Mental Health Services reported under ‘Service 4 – Mental Health Services’.

Public Hospital Non-Admitted Services
The provision of metropolitan and major rural hospital services to patients who do not undergo a formal admission process, inclusive of
public patients treated by private facilities under contract to WA Health. This service includes services provided to patients in outpatient
clinics, community based clinics or in the home, procedures, medical consultation, allied health or treatment provided by clinical nurse
specialists. Public Hospital Non-Admitted Services includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health
service to facilitate development of skills and acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to non-admitted services. This service
does not include any component of the Mental Health Services reported under ‘Service 4 – Mental Health Services’.

Mental Health Services
The provision of inpatient services where an admitted patient occupies a bed in a designated mental health facility or a designated
mental health unit in a hospital setting; and the provision of non-admitted services inclusive of community and ambulatory specialised
mental health programs such as prevention and promotion, community support services, community treatment services, community
bed-based services and forensic services. This service includes the provision of statewide mental health services such as perinatal
mental health and eating disorder outreach programs as well as the provision of assessment, treatment, management, care or
rehabilitation of persons experiencing alcohol or other drug use problems or co-occurring health issues. Mental Health Services
includes teaching, training and research activities provided by the public health service to facilitate development of skills and
acquisition or advancement of knowledge related to mental health or alcohol and drug services. This service includes public patients
treated in private facilities under contract to WA Health.

Aged and Continuing Care Services
The provision of aged and continuing care services and community based palliative care services. Aged and continuing care services
include programs that assess the care needs of older people, provide functional interim care or support for older, frail, aged and younger
people with disabilities to continue living independently in the community and maintain independence, inclusive of the services
provided by the WA Quadriplegic Centre. Aged and Continuing Care Services is inclusive of community based palliative care services
that are delivered by private facilities under contract to the WA health system, which focus on the prevention and relief of suffering,
quality of life and the choice of care close to home for patients.

Public and Community Health Services
The provision of health care services and programs delivered to increase optimal health and wellbeing, encourage healthy lifestyles,
reduce the onset of disease and disability, reduce the risk of long-term illness as well as detect, protect and monitor the incidence
of disease in the population. Public and Community Health Services includes public health programs, Aboriginal health programs,
disaster management, environmental health, the provision of grants to non-government organisations for public and community health
purposes, emergency road and air ambulance services, services to assist rural-based patients travel to receive care, and statewide
pathology services provided to external Western Australian agencies.
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2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service

Public Hospital
Admitted Patient

Public Hospital
Emergency Services

2021
$’000

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Public Hospital
Non-Admitted
Services

2020
$’000

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Fees for contracted medical practitioners
Contracts for services
Patient support costs
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Asset revaluation decrement
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Repairs, maintenance and consumable
equipment
Other supplies and services
Other expenses

666,778
8,225
95,883
258,097
2,442
65,726
1,360
31

635,576
7,025
95,619
245,577
3,701
64,698
2,216
-

100,828
1,244
14,499
42,257
369
6,552
206
4

97,309
1,075
14,640
40,639
567
8,547
339
-

167,306
2,064
24,058
64,756
613
14,237
341
7

158,891
1,756
23,905
61,401
925
14,733
554
-

38,550
40,787
89,943

36,217
39,486
84,379

5,829
6,168
19,589

5,545
6,045
17,680

9,673
10,235
22,042

9,054
9,871
20,627

1,267,822

1,214,494

197,545

192,386

315,332

301,717

53,092
56,020
2,188
1,537
56
2
265
11,874

52,294
55,572
1,488
192
4
262
10,359

8,029
8,471
331
233
8
40
1,796

8,006
8,508
228
29
1
40
1,586

13,322
14,056
549
386
14
66
2,980

13,073
13,893
372
48
1
66
2,590

-

13

125,034

120,184

18,908

18,400

31,373

30,046

1,142,788

1,094,310

178,637

173,986

283,959

271,671

1,084,621
17,598
639
52,202

1,020,068
11,494
2
45,788

164,013
2,661
96
17,110

156,176
1,760
14,813

272,151
4,416
160
12,567

255,012
2,873
10,988

Total income from State Government

1,155,060

1,077,352

183,880

172,749

289,294

268,873

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

12,262

(16,958)

5,243

(1,237)

5,335

(2,798)

Total cost of services

INCOME
Revenue
Patient charges
Other fees and services
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other grants and contributions
Donation revenue
Interest revenue
Commercial activities
Other revenue
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total income other than income from
State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

2

3

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Department of Health – Service agreement
Mental Health – Service agreement
Grants from other state government agencies
Assets (transferred)/assumed
Services received free of charge

The Schedule of income and expenses by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.
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2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service
Mental Health
Services

2021
$’000

Aged Continuing
Care Services

2020
$’000

2021
$’000

Public and Community
Health Services

2020
$’000

2021
$’000

Total

2020
$’000

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

117,020
6
13,635
6,826
-

112,487
3
11,781
23
6,824
-

8,625
106
1,240
3,310
32
212
18
-

8,792
97
1,323
3,357
51
1,215
31
-

27,541
340
3,960
10,389
101
408
56
1

24,193
267
3,640
9,134
141
3,599
84
-

1,088,098
11,979
139,646
392,444
3,557
93,961
1,981
43

1,037,248 (a)
10,220
139,130
371,889 (a)
5,408
99,616
3,224
-

817
2,419

590
1,683

499
528
1,121

501
546
1,106

1,592
1,685
3,122

1,379
1,503
2,825

56,960
59,403
138,236

53,286 (a)
57,451 (a)
128,300 (a)

140,723

133,391

15,691

17,019

49,195

46,765

1,986,308

1,905,772 (a)

-

-

687
725
28
20
1
3
154

723
769
21
3
4
143

2,193
2,314
90
64
2
11
490

1,991
2,115
57
7
10
394

77,323
81,586
3,186
2,240
81
2
385
17,294

76,087
80,857
2,166
279
6
382
15,072

-

-

-

-

18

-

-

1,618

1,663

5,164

4,574

182,097

174,867 (a)

140,723

133,391

14,073

15,356

44,031

42,191

1,804,211

1,730,905 (a)

6,826

6,824

14,030

14,110

44,800

38,829

1,586,441

1,491,019 (a)

133,305

126,058

-

-

-

-

133,305

126,058

-

-

228

159

727

438

25,630

16,724

592

509

8
604

532

26
1,292

1,143

929
84,367

2
73,773

140,723

133,391

14,870

14,801

46,845

40,410

1,830,672

1,707,576

-

-

797

(555)

2,814

(1,782)

26,461

(23,329)

-

(a)
(a)
(a)

(a)
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3.

Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how the Health Service’s funding is applied and the accounting policies that are
relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Health Service
in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

2021
$’000

Notes
Employee benefits expenses

3.1.1

Employee related provisions

2020
$’000

1,088,098

1,037,248

(a)

3.1.2

302,724

280,567

Patient support costs

3.2

392,444

371,889

Contracts for services

3.3

139,646

139,130

Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment

3.4

56,960

53,286

Other supplies and services

3.5

59,403

57,451

(a)

Other expenses

3.6

138,236

128,300

(a)

997,843

951,747

(a)

3.1.1

(a)

Employee benefits expenses

Salaries and wages
Termination benefits

762

717

89,487

84,771

(a)

Total employee benefits expenses

1,088,092

1,037,235

(a)

Add: AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits

35

41

(29)

(28)

1,088,098

1,037,248

Superannuation – defined contributions plans (b)

Less: Employee Contribution
Net employee benefits

(a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State Superannuation (WSS), Gold State Superannuation (GSS), Government Employees Superannuation
Board (GESB) and other eligible funds.

Salaries and wages: Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including salaries and wages, fringe benefits tax
(FBT), leave entitlements, paid sick leave, and non-monetary benefits for employees.
Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when and employee accepts
an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the Health Service is
demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of
withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.
Superannuation: Superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the
GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, GESB, and other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of
the GSS is paid back into the consolidated account by GESB.
GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. It is,
however, a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the
Health Service to GESB extinguishes the Health Service’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.
The Health Service does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future
benefits relating to its employees. The Liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable
to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent
contributions made by the Health Service to GESB.
GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to
commencement and implementation dates.
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3.1.1

Employee benefits expenses (continued)

AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits: non-monetary employee benefits that are employee benefits expenses, predominantly relate to the
provision of the vehicle and housing benefits are measured at the cost incurred by the Health Service.
Employee Contributions: contributions made to the Health Service by employees towards employee benefits that have been provided
by the Health Service. This includes both AASB 16 and non-AASB 16 employee contributions.

3.1.2 Employee related provisions
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries and wages, annual leave, time off in lieu and long service
leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current
Employee benefits provisions
Annual leave(a)
Time off in lieu

(a)

Long service leave

(b)

Deferred salary scheme

(c)

120,359

107,171

36,032

35,720

68,244

62,764

1,322

1,100

225,957

206,755

76,767

73,812

76,767

73,812

302,724

280,567

Non-current
Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave(b)

Total employee related provisions

Annual leave liabilities and time off in lieu leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is
expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

85,197

77,261

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

71,194

65,630

156,391

142,891

The provision for annual leave and time of in lieu leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation
to services provided by employees up to the reporting date.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Health Service does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Health Service has an
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the required years of service. Assessments
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

16,342

16,178

128,669

120,398

145,011

136,576
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3.1.2 Employee related provisions (continued)
The provision for long service leave liabilities are calculated at present value as the Health Service does not expect to wholly settle the
amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be
made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, discounted using the market yields at the end of the reporting period on national
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

409

154

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

913

946

1,322

1,100

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Health Service’s long service leave provision. These include, expected
future salary rates, discount rates employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimates and assumptions
may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provisions. Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of
long service leave is recognised as employee benefits expenses.

3.2

Patient support costs

Medical supplies and services

268,742

254,734

63,228

56,534

24,028

22,828

11,135

12,959

Food supplies

16,752

16,946

Patient transport costs

8,437

7,881

122

7

392,444

371,889

Domestic charges
Pathology services provided by PathWest
Fuel, light and power

Research, development and other grants
Total patient support costs

(b) (c)

(a)

(a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.
(b) Pathology services provided by PathWest are in addition to the fee for services (FFS) charges already paid to PathWest, within medical supplies
and services shown above.
(c) See Note 4.1 Income from State Government.

Patient support costs: Patient support costs are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.
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3.3

Contracts for services
2021
$’000

Public patients services(a)

2020
$’000

137,422

134,507

Mental Health

868

189

Home and Comm Care (HACC)

727

3,903

Child, community and primary health

410

424

Blood & Organs

185

36

Patient transport service

18

43

Chronic diseases

2

15

Other contracts

14

13

139,646

139,130

Total contracts for services

(a) Private hospitals and non-government organisations are contracted to provide various services to public patients and the community

Contracts for services: Contracts for services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

3.4

Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment

Repairs and maintenance
Consumable equipment
Total repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment

9,291

8,941

47,669

44,345

56,960

53,286

Repairs, maintenance and consumable equipment: Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except
where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

3.5

Other supplies and services

Sanitisation and waste removal services

2,370

2,133

Administration and management services

54,191

52,227

Interpreter services

1,764

1,627

Security services

633

656

Other

445

808

59,403

57,451

Total other supplies and services

(a)

(a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.

Other supplies and services: Other supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are
incurred.
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3.6

Other expenses
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Communications

6,375

5,929

Computer services

25,122

25,368

Workers’ compensation insurance

10,809

17,109

Lease expenses

1,437

1,485

Other insurances

8,670

7,087

Consultancy fees

3,144

2,658

Other employee related expenses

1,829

1,554 (a)

Printing and stationery

2,998

2,733

Expected credit losses

8,877

6,317

Freight and cartage

459

366

1,497

1,514

60,327

50,933

Motor vehicle expenses

675

691

Audit fees

662

429

Periodical subscription
Services provided by HSS

Other
Legal expenses
Total other expenses

5,348
7
138,236

4,127 (a)
128,300 (a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.

Employee on-cost include workers’ compensation insurance only. Any on costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and
long service leave liabilities are included in note 3.1.2 Employee related provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the
provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.
Lease expenses include low value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less, variable lease payments which are recognised in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs and lease maintenance expenses. Refer to note 5.2 Right-ofuse for variable lease payments and low value leases
Expected credit losses is an allowance of trade receivables, measured at the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting
date. The Health Service has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. Refer to note 6.1.1 Movement in the allowance for impairment of
receivables.
Write down of non-current assets includes works in progress capitalised in prior years but expensed in the current financial year.
Services provided by Health Support Services (HSS) are services received free of charge or for nominal cost and are recognised
as expenses at the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured, and which would have been purchased if they were not
donated.
Motor vehicle expenses include expenses associated with the operation, repair and maintenance and management of motor vehicles.
Audit fees include the final audit fee for the previous year’s audit and any interim audit fees (if any) for the current year’s audit and an
accrual for the current year’s final audit fee. A breakdown of which is shown below:
Internal audit fee – PwC internal audit services
External audit fee – accrual 2020/21 SMHS OAG audit fee

368
294
662

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations and are recognised as an
expense in the period it is incurred.

106

4.

Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding
This section provides additional information about how the Health Service obtains its funding and the relevant accounting policy
notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the Health Service and the relevant
notes are:

Notes
Income from State Government
Patient charges
Other fees for services
Grants and contributions
Commercial activities
Other revenue
Gains/(losses) on disposal

4.1

4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.6

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

1,830,672
77,323
81,586
5,426
385
17,375
(43)

1,707,576
76,087
80,857
2,166
382
15,351
18

(a)
(a)
(a)
(a)

1,586,441
133,305
25,630
1,745,376

1,491,019
126,058
16,724
1,633,801

(a)
(a)
(a)
(a)

929
929

2
2

44,160
6,268
2,118
7,781
24,028
12
84,367
1,830,672

35,256
5,634
2,032
8,011
22,828
12
73,773
1,707,576

(a)

Income from State Government

Income received from other public sector entities during the period: (b)
Department of Health – Service agreement
Mental Health – Service agreement
Grants from other state government agencies
Total income received
Assets transferred from/(to) other State government agencies during the period: (c)
– Transfer of medical equipment from East Metropolitan Health Service
– Transfer of medical equipment from Health Support Services
Total assets (transferred)/assumed
Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies
during the period: (d)
HSS Support Services (HSS)
ICT Services
Supply chain services
Financial services
Human resources services
PathWest – Pathology Services
Department of Finance – Lease Management Services
Total services received
Total income from State Government

(a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.
(b) Income received from other public sector entities are recognised as income when the Health Service has satisfied its performance
obligations under the funding agreement. If there are no performance obligations, income will be recognised when the Health Service receives the
funds.
For non-reciprocal grants, the Health Service recognises revenue when the grant is receivable at its fair value as and when its fair value can be
reliably measured.
Activity based funding and block grant funding have been received from the Commonwealth Government under the National Health Reform
Agreement for services, health teaching, training and research provided by local hospital networks (Health Services). The funding arrangement
established under the Agreement requires the Commonwealth Government to make funding payments to the State Pool Account from which
distributions to the local hospital networks (Health Services) are made by the Department of Health and Mental Health Commission.
(c) Assets transferred from other parties are recognised as income at fair value when the assets are transferred.
(d) Services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that the Health Service would otherwise be purchase if not donated, are recognised as
income at the fair value of the services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for the services received.
Pathology services provided by PathWest are in addition to the FFS charges already paid to PathWest included in Note 3.2 Patient support costs.
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4.2

Patient charges
2021
$’000

Inpatient bed charges
Inpatient other charges
Outpatient charges
Total patient charges

2020
$’000

59,819
6,544
10,960
77,323

  

59,075
6,500
10,512
76,087

(a)
(a)
(a)
(a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.

Revenue relating to patient charges is recognised at a point-in-time. The performance obligations for patient charges are satisfied when
the services have been provided; in this case the patient has been treated and discharged by the Health Service.

4.3

Other fees for services

Recoveries from the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS)
Clinical services to other health organisations
Non-clinical services to other health organisations
Total other fees for services

77,622
3,964
81,586

74,369
6,488 (a)
80,857 (a)

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.

4.4

Grants and contributions

i)

Commonwealth grants and contributions

Recurrent grants:
Community Health and Hospitals Program

3,186

-

Research Grant Revenue

2,240

2,166

(a)

Total grants and contributions

5,426

2,166

(a)

ii)

Other grants and contributions

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.

Grants and contributions are recognised as revenue when the grants or contributions are received or receivable.

4.5

Commercial activities
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Income from commercial activities
Pharmacy clinical trials and research activity revenue
Research and development activity revenue
Ramsay Health Care Australia Pty Ltd (PHC) rent revenue
Expenses from commercial activities
Pharmacy clinical trials and research activity revenue
Research and development activity revenue
Ramsay Health Care Australia Pty Ltd (PHC) rent revenue
Profit/(loss) from commercial activities

1,090
362
104
1,556

1,080
277
267
1,624

(949)
(198)
(24)
385

(1,210)
(32)
382

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when the Health Service transfers control of the goods and/or services to customers.
The Health Service has engaged in a number of commercial activities including the provision of pharmacy services to commercially
sponsored clinical trials, provision of services to support research into pharmaceutical and medication usage and the leasing of space
at public hospitals.

108

4.6

Other revenue

Donation revenue
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

General public contributions

81

279

Total donation revenue

81

279

61

41

3,367

4,015

44

46

Boarders’ accommodation

5

6

RiskCover insurance premium rebate

-

-

Other revenue
Use of hospital facilities
Rent from commercial properties
Rent from residential properties

(a)

Parking

6,648

6,126

Research and clinical trial revenue

6,312

5,231

Royalties

341

(977)

Course fees

131

93

385

491

(a)

17,294

15,072

(a)

Other
Total other revenue

Gains/(losses)
Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

15

62

Property, plant and equipment

(58)

(44)

Total Gain/(losses)

(43)

18

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current
assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount
of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income
(from the proceeds of sale).

5.

Key Assets

Assets the Health Service utilises for economic benefit or service potential
This section includes information regarding the key assets the Health Service utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service
potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the performance of these assets.

2021
$’000

Notes
Property, plant and equipment

5.1

1,764,047

2020
$’000
1,801,373

Right-of-use assets

5.2

50,811

77,586

Service concession assets

5.3

59,571

61,425

Intangible assets

5.4

13,860

16,692

1,888,289

1,957,076

Total key assets

(a)

(a)

(a) The initial application of AASB 1059 has resulted in the reclassification of property, plant and equipment held under a service concession
arrangement to service concession assets. Refer to note 9.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards for further information.
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5.1

Property, plan and equipment
Land
$’000

Site
infrastructure
$’000

Buildings
$’000

Computer
equipment
$’000

Furniture
and fittings
$’000

1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at start of year
Adjustment for change in accounting policy
– AASB 16 (a)
Reclass of Assets under AASB 1059 Service
Concession Arrangements: Grantors (b)
Restated opening carrying amount
Additions
Transfers
Transfer to Expense
Transfers to/(from) work in progress
Transfer from/(to) other reporting entities
Revaluation increments / (decrements)
Disposals
Depreciation
Transfers between asset classes
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment loss

74,322

1,649,218
1,649,218

128,436
(9,192)
119,244

143,094
(76,416)
66,678

14,524
(6,237)
8,287

74,322
-

-

-

(41,361)

(7,235)

(7,540)
66,782

(50,864)
1,598,354

(4,535)
114,709

25,317

1,052

(2,474)
700
65,008
65,008
-

2,576
7,257
(43,653)
(21)
1,564,513
1,564,513
-

(2,913)
21
111,817
123,922
(12,105)
-

1,025
1,796
(704)
(25,079)
2,355
3,072
(717)
-

416
(2)
(7)
(206)
1,253
1,855
(602)
-

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Carrying amount at start of year

65,008
65,008

1,564,513
1,564,513

123,922
(12,105)
111,817

3,072
(717)
2,355

1,855
(602)
1,253

Additions
Transfers
Transfer to Expense
Transfers to/(from) work in progress
Transfer from/(to) other reporting entities
Revaluation increments / (decrements)
Disposals
Depreciation
Transfers between asset classes
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated depreciation
Accumulated impairment loss

(1,961)
63,047
63,047
-

9
9,884
(43,661)
1,530,745
1,530,745
-

(2,913)
108,904
123,468
(14,564)
-

182
4,494
(5,653)
23,864
25,242
31,625
(6,383)
-

1,008
(236)
102
2,127
3,039
(912)
-

1 July 2020
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5.1

Property, plan and equipment (continued)
Medical
equipment
$’000

Motor vehicles
$’000

Other plant
and equipment
$’000

Work in
progress
$’000

Artworks
$’000

Total
$’000

73
(41)
32

126,952
(62,448)
64,504

29,267
(7,649)
21,618

227
227

1,390
1,390

2,167,503
(161,983)
2,005,520

(32)

(50,735)

(5,396)

(219)

-

(104,978)

-

(86)
13,683

(567)
15,655

8

1,390

(63,592)
1,836,950

-

147
(4)
(1,680)

-

3,539
(68)
(2,001)
-

-

3,901
2
(31)
(3,193)

-

-

14,362
29,814
(15,452)
-

14,118
20,826
(6,708)
-

8
8
-

25,079
27,939
27,939
-

9,028
(68)
2,371
4,783
(42)
(52,349)
700
1,801,373
1,836,957
(35,584)
-

-

29,814
(15,452)
14,362

20,826
(6,708)
14,118

8
8

27,939
27,939

1,836,957
(35,584)
1,801,373

-

5,960
929
(54)
(3,415)
(711)
17,071
33,731
(16,660)
-

1,012
90
(4)
(1,788)
599
14,027
22,666
(8,639)
-

8
8
-

3,666
(12)
(4,859)
(23,858)
2,876
2,876
-

11,837
(12)
(275)
929
7,923
(58)
(57,666)
(4)
1,764,047
1,811,205
(47,158)
-

(a) The application of AASB 16 has resulted in the reclassification of finance leased assets to right-of-use assets. Refer to note 5.2 Right-of-use assets.
(b) The application of AASB 1059 has resulted in the reclassification of property, plant and equipment held under a service concession arrangement as service
concession assets. Refer to note 5.3 Service concession assets.
(c) Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to able amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement
in other comprehensive income. Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3 Fair value measurements.
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5.1

Property, plan and equipment (continued)

Initial recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or
nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than
$5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the statement of comprehensive income (other than where they form part of a group of
similar items which are significant in total).
Assets transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred at their fair value.
The initial cost for a non-financial physical asset under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased
asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of:
•
•

Land
buildings

Land is carried at fair value. Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. All
other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) and
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting
period.
Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2020 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate). The valuations
were performed during the year ended 30 June 2021 and recognised at 30 June 2021. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was
determined by reference to market values for land: $2.630 million (2020: $2.721 million) and buildings: $0.87 million (2020: $0.86 million).
For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost and fair value of land
was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

Revaluation model:
1.

Fair Value where market-based evidence is available:
The fair value of land and buildings (non-clinical sites) is determined on the basis of current market values determined by
reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated
depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

2. Fair value in the absence of market-based evidence
Where buildings are specialised or where land is restricted, the fair value of land and buildings (clinical sites) is determined on the
basis of existing use.
Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits
embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated
replacement costs basis, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount restated to the revalued amount.
The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use
basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does
not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.
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5.1.2 Depreciation and impairment
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Charge for the period
Buildings

43,661

43,653

Site infrastructure

2,913

2,913

Computer equipment

5,653

704

Furniture and fittings

236

206

Motor vehicles

-

-

Medical equipment

3,415

3,193

Other plant and equipment

1,788

1,680

57,666

52,349

Total depreciation for the period

Impairment
During 2018/19 engineering consultants engaged by the Health Service identified structural issues in Fremantle Hospital F Block. Due
to the extent of the potential risk to the Health Service, the building was vacated, and rectification work is to be undertaken. For this
reason, Fremantle Hospital F Block was considered an impaired asset and the impairment loss was recognised at the carrying amount,
of $12.325 million, in the 2018/19.
As at 30 June 2021 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2021 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have been written-off.
Refer to note 5.4 Intangible assets for guidance in relation to the impairment assessment that has been performed for intangible assets.

Finite useful lives
All property, plant and equipment having limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include items under operating leases, assets
held for sale, land and investment properties.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its
estimated useful life.
Estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below:

Asset

Useful life:

Buildings
Site infrastructure
Computer equipment
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Medical equipment
Other plant and equipment

50 years
50 years
4 to 20 years
2 to 20 years
3 to 10 years
2 to 25 years
3 to 25 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting year, and any
adjustments are made where appropriate.
Land and artworks, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of
these assets because their service potential had not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period.
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5.1.2 Depreciation and impairment (continued)
Impairment
Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the asset may be impaired and at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount
is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to
the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised
Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit and loss in
statement of comprehensive income.
Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other
comprehensive income.
As the Health Service is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount.
However, this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to
verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair
value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement
cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications
of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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5.2

Right-of-use assests
Information,
computer and
telecommunications
equipment
$’000

Buildings nonaccommodation
$’000

Plant and
equipment
$’000

Motor vehicles
$’000

Furniture
fittings
$’000

Medical
equipment
$’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

628

4,785

1,697

49,461

7,470

53,469

117,510

628
304
(530)

4,785
33
(1,708)

1,697
1,052
(18)
(670)

49,461
(17,202)

7,470
(2,597)

53,469
(18,588)

117,510
1,389
(18)
(41,295)

402
705

3,110
4,776

2,061
2,644

32,259
49,461

4,873
7,470

34,881
53,469

77,586
118,525

(303)

(1,666)

(583)

(17,202)

(2,597)

(18,588)

(40,939)

705

4,776

2,644

49,461

7,470

53,469

118,525

(303)

(1,666)

(583)

(17,202)

(2,597)

(18,588)

(40,939)

402

3,110

2,061

32,259

4,873

34,881

77,586

3,894
(637)
(454)

20
(8)
(1,217)

210
(605)

85
(12,579)

(1,898)

(13,586)

4,209
(645)
(30,339)

3,205
3,379

1,905
4,763

1,666
2,793

19,765
49,546

2,975
7,470

21,295
53,469

50,811
121,420

(174)

(2,858)

(1,127)

(29,781)

(4,495)

(32,174)

(70,609)

Total
$’000

1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated
amortisation
Carrying amount at
start of period
Recognition of rightof-use asset on initial
application of AASB 16
Adjusted balance at
1 July 2019
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at
30 June 2020
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated
amortisation

1 July 2020
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated
amortisation
Carrying amount at
start of period
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount at
30 June 2021
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated
amortisation

Initial recognition
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:
•
•
•
•

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and
restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

The Health Service has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases (with a lease term of 12
months or less) and low value leases (with an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments associated with these leases are
expensed over a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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5.2

Right-of-use assests (continued)

Subsequent Measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liability.

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the
underlying assets.
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Agency at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified. The policy in connection with testing for
impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment.
The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income:

2021
$’000
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets

2020
$’000

30,307

41,258

3,557

5,362

-

1

1,421

1,482

Short-term leases

7

-

Low-value leases

2

1

(4)

-

35,290

48,104

Lease interest expense
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in lease liabilities
Lease maintenance expense

Gains or losses arising from sale and leaseback transactions
Total amount recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was $33.388 million (2020: $44.641 million).
The Health Services leasing activities and how these are accounted for:

The Health Service has leases for equipment, furniture and fittings, vehicles, office and residential accommodations.
The Health Service has also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding Agreements (MOU) with the Department of Finance for the
leasing of office accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 because of substitution rights held by the Department of
Finance and are accounted for as an expense as incurred.
The Health Service recognises leases as right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position
The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been disclosed in note 7.1 Lease liabilities.
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5.3

Service concession assets

Year ended 30 June 2021
Land
$’000

Buildings
$’000

Site
infrastructure
$’000

Other
plant and
equipment
$’000

Medical
equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount at start of period

-

-

-

-

-

-

7,540
7,540
(700)
(750)
6,090
6,090
-

50,864
50,864
21
1,216
(848)
(227)
(1,679)
49,347
51,026
(1,679)

4,535
4,535
848
(168)
5,215
5,383
(168)

567
567
190
(66)
691
757
(66)

85
85
(3)
82
85
(3)

63,591
63,591
211
1,216
(700)
(977)
(1,916)
61,425
63,341
(1,916)

Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation
Carrying amount at start of period

6,090
6,090

51,026
(1,679)
49,347

5,383
(168)
5,215

757
(66)
691

85
(3)
82

63,341
(1,916)
61,425

Additions
Transfers
Revaluation increments / (decrements)
Depreciation
Carrying amount at 30 June 2021
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation

(20)
6,070
6,070
-

2,798
(3,053)
(1,729)
47,363
47,363
-

3
(180)
5,038
5,386
(348)

6
(66)
631
763
(132)

401
(14)
469
487
(18)

3,202
6
(3,073)
(1,989)
59,571
60,069
(498)

Recognition of service concession assets on
initial application of AASB 1059
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2019
Additions
Transfers to/(from) work in progress
Disposals
Transfers between asset classes
Impairment loss
Revaluation increments / (decrements)
Depreciation
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020
Gross carrying amount
Accumulated amortisation

1 July 2020

Initial recognition
A service concession arrangement is an arrangement which involves an operator:
•
•

that is contractually obliged to provide public services related to a service concession asset on behalf of the grantor; and
managing at least some of those services under its own discretion, rather than at the direction of the grantor.

The health service as the grantor has identified one service concession arrangement in operation at the time of initial recognition on 1
July 2019.
Peel Health Campus (PHC) is a general hospital established in September 1997 by the State Government of Western Australia. The
hospital is operated on behalf of the State Government under a 20-year service contract, by Health Solutions WA until 2013 when the
remainder of licence was transferred to Ramsay Health Care. The agreement is made between South Metropolitan Health Service (State
/ Grantor) and Ramsay Health Care Australia Pty Ltd (Operator).
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5.3

Service concession assets (continued)

The Facility known as the Peel Health Campus was developed on the Site and then sublet to the Operator. Service concession assets
identified within the service agreement are the Facility and Facility Equipment. The Facility and Facility Equipment are existing assets
of the grantor, which the operator is given access to, to provide public services, as the basic purpose of the campus is to provide health
services that are necessary or essential to the general public.
Where the health service has existing assets which meet the conditions specified in the policy, these assets have been reclassified as
service concession assets and have been measured based on the current replacement cost in accordance with the cost approach to fair
value in AASB 13 as at the date of reclassification.
Subsequent to initial recognition or reclassification, a service concession asset is depreciated or amortised in accordance with AASB 116
Property, Plant and Equipment with any impairment recognised in accordance with AASB 136.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of:
•
•

land
buildings

The policy in connection with the revaluation model is outlined in note 5.1 Property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation and impairment of service concession assets
2021
$’000
Charge for the period
Buildings
Site infrastructure
Medical equipment
Other plant and equipment
Total depreciation for the period

2020
$’000

1,729
180
14
66
1,989

1,679
168
4
66
1,917

Impairment
As at 30 June 2021 there were no indications of impairment to service concession assets.

Finite useful lives
Service concession assets are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of
their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its
estimated useful life.
Estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below:

Asset

Useful life:

Buildings
Site infrastructure
Medical equipment
Other plant and equipment

50 years
50 years
2 to 25 years
3 to 25 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting year, and any
adjustments are made where appropriate.
Land and artworks, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. Depreciation is not recognised in respect of
these assets because their service potential had not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period.

Impairment
Service concession assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.2 Depreciation and impairment.
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5.4

Intangible assets
Computer
software
$’000

Works in
progress
$’000

Total
$’000

Year ended 30 June 2020

1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount

39,085

5,505

44,590

Accumulated amortisation

(17,526)

-

(17,526)

Accumulated impairment losses

-

-

-

Carrying amount at start of year

21,559

5,505

27,064

Adjustment for change in accounting policy – AASB 16(a)

(6,362)

-

(6,362)

15,197

5,505

20,702

-

4,267

4,267

1,577

(1,577)

-

-

(597)

(597)

Transfer between asset classes

(4,092)

(3,588)

(7,680)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020

12,682

4,010

16,692

Gross carrying amount

25,763

4,010

29,773

Accumulated amortisation

(13,081)

-

(13,081)

-

-

-

12,682

4,010

16,692

723

174

897

4,439

(4,164)

275

(5)

(5)

Restated opening carrying amount
Additions
Transfers from work in progress
Transfers to expense

Year ended 30 June 2021

1 July 2020

Accumulated impairment losses
Carrying amount at start of year
Additions
Transfers from work in progress
Impairment losses

-

Trf from Expense (Prior Year)
Amortisation expense

(3,999)

-

(3,999)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2021

13,845

15

13,860

The application of AASB 16 has resulted in the reclassification of finance leased assets to right-of-use assets. Refer to note 5.2 Right-ofuse assets.

Initial recognition
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date
of acquisition.
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are
capitalised.
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the statement of comprehensive income.
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5.4

Intangible assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets, requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation and impairment
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Charge for the period
Computer software

3,999

4,092

Total amortisation for the year

3,999

4,092

As at 30 June 2021 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.
The Health Service held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the
reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated
useful life. All intangible assets controlled by the Health Service have a finite useful life and zero residual value. Estimated useful lives
are reviewed annually.
The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Computer software

5 to 15 years

Computer software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not
an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year
of acquisition.

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when an indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 5.1.1 Depreciation and impairment.
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6.

Other assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Health Services controlled operations and includes other assets
utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations.

Notes
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Inventories
Other current assets
Payables
Contract liabilities
Grant liabilities
Other liabilities

2020
$’000

54,046
1,034,441
5,482
3,505
108,915
877
379
273

51,532
931,751
6,183
3,962
109,764
1,095
186
182

Patient fee debtors (a)
Other receivables
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables
Accrued revenue
GST receivable

31,388
2,903
(10,521)
26,103
4,173

33,998
2,269
(6,875)
17,786
4,354

Total current

54,046

51,532

6.1

6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7
6.8

2021
$’000

Receivables

Current

(a) Under the Private Patient Scheme approved by the State Government, the Department of Health provides ex-gratia payments towards private
patient fees not paid in full by health insurance funds. The total amounts of ex-gratia payments is $1.86 million for 2021 ($2.18 million for 2020).

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectible amounts, i.e. impairment. The carrying
amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

Accounting procedure for Goods and Services Tax
Rights to collect amounts receivable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) and responsibilities to make payments for GST have been
assigned to the Department of Health. This accounting procedure was a result of application of the grouping provisions of A New Tax
System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 whereby the Department of Health became the Nominated Group Representative (NGR) for
the GST group as from 1 July 2012. The entities in the GST group includes the Department of Health, Mental Health Commission, North
Metropolitan Health Service, South Metropolitan Health Service, East Metropolitan Health Service, Health Support Services, PathWest
Laboratory Medicine WA, WA Country Health Service, QE II Medical Centre Trust, and Health and Disability Services Complaints Office.
GST receivables on accrued expenses are recognised by the Health Service. Upon the receipt of tax invoices, GST receivables for the GST
group are recorded in the accounts of the Department of Health.

6.1.1

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of
trade receivables
Opening Balance
Expected credit losses expense
Amount written off during the period
Amount recovered during the period
Balance at end of period

6,875
8,876
(5,380)
150

13,264
6,317
(12,856)
150

10,521

6,875

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for receivables is the carrying amount of the asset inclusive of
any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at Note 8.1(c) Financial instruments disclosures.
The Health Service does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements for receivables.
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6.2

Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
2021
$’000

Non-current
Balance at end of period

2020
$’000

1,034,441

931,751

1,034,441

931,751

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be
used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit loss of the holding accounts).

6.3

Inventories

Current
Pharmaceutical stores – at cost
Engineering stores – at cost

5,397
85

6,097
86

Balance at end of period

5,482

6,183

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on a weighted average cost basis.
Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are measured at net
realisable value.

6.4

Other assets

Current
Prepayments
Other

3,337
168

3,711
251

Balance at end of period

3,505

3,962

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of
expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

6.5

Payables

Current
12,811

16,761

Other creditors (a)

33

7,964

Accrued expenses

62,335

61,759

Trade creditors

Accrued salaries

33,736

23,280

Balance at end of period

108,915

109,764

(a) Includes $0.03 million Fringe Benefits Tax due to the ATO for 2021 Fringe Benefits Tax liability.

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Health Service becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within
a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Health Service considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair
value.
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 7.3 Cash and cash equivalents) consists of amounts paid annually, from the Health
Service’s appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary
payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
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6.6

Contract liabilities
2021
$’000

Curent

2020
$’000
583

329

Non-current

294

766

Total contract liabilities

877

1,095

The Health Services contract liabilities relate to revenue received in advance of contract obligations being satisfied, including rental
contracts, prepaid patient revenue and salary funding.

6.6.1 Movement in contract liabilities
Reconciliation of changes in contract liabilities
Opening balance
Additions
Revenue recognised in the reporting period
Balance at end of period

1,095

–

241

1,095

(459)

-

877

1,095

The Health Service expects to satisfy the performance obligations unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period, within the next 12
months for all current contract liabilities and the 36 months for all non-current contract liabilities.

6.7

Grant liabilities

Curent
Non-current
Total Grant liabilities

379

186

-

-

379

186

The Health Services grant liabilities relate to grant revenue received in advance of the performance obligations being satisfied, including
grants for clinical trials, salary funding and student training.

6.7.1 Movement in grant liabilities
Reconciliation of changes in grant liabilities
Opening balance

186

-

Additions

379

186

Income recognised in the reporting period
Balance at end of period

(186)

-

379

186
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6.7.2 Expected satisfaction of grant liabilities
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Income recognition
1 year

379

186

1 to 5 years

-

-

Over 5 years

-

-

379

186

-

-

92

35

-

-

Paid parental leave scheme

210

180

Other

(29)

(33)

Balance at end of period

273

182

6.8

Other liabilities

Current
Income received in advance
Refundable deposits
Lease discount received in advance

Revenue is recognised at the transactions price when the Health Service transfer controls of the services to customers.
Income received in advance relating to patient charges is disclosed in note 6.6 Contract liabilities. The performance obligations for
patient charges are satisfied when the Health Service has treated and discharged the patient.
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7.

Financing

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cash flows of the Health Service.

Notes

$’000

$’000

Lease liabilities

7.1

53,215

79,556

Finance costs

7.2

3,557

5,408

Cash and cash equivalents

7.3

123,980

85,080

Capital commitments

7.4.1

40,257

11,594

Private sector contracts

7.4.2

417,732

568,638

Other expenditure commitments

7.4.3

1,047,159

1,212,113

7.1

Lease liabilities
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Current
Finance lease – Fiona Stanley (a)

18,365

28,821

Leases – State Fleet

515

528

Leases – Other

385

427

19,265

29,776

29,859

48,223

1,182

1,538

2,909

19

Total non-current

33,950

49,780

Total lease liabilities

53,215

79,556

Total current

Non-current
Finance lease – Fiona Stanley (a)
Leases – State Fleet
Leases – Other

Initial Measurement
The Health Service measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the
Health Service uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western Australia Treasury Corporation.
Lease payments included by the Agency as part of the present value calculation of lease liability include:
•
•
•
•
•

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
the exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be exercised);
payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects the agency exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes in variable lease payments
(that depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-ofuse asset.
Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by the Agency if the lease is reasonably certain
to be extended (or not terminated).
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7.1

Lease liabilities (continued)

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are dependent on sales are recognised by the Agency in
profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.
This section should be read in conjunction with Note 5.2 Right-of-use assets.

Subsequent measurement
Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made; and remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications
(a) During the 2012 financial year, the ‘Minister for Health in his Capacity as the Deemed Board of the Metropolitan Public Hospitals’
entered into a facilities management contract for a minimum period of 10 years for FSH with Serco Limited, whereby, subject to approval
by the Health Service, Serco is to acquire specified assets for use at the hospital. The specified assets are to be acquired under a lease
facility with a bank. Under the terms of the Facilities Management Contract and the related agreements, an element of the fee paid
to Serco is linked to the fixed lease payments detailed on each leasing schedule for each group of assets, and at the end of the lease
period for each group of assets, the Health Service is required to take ownership directly or dispose of the asset.
Although the arrangement, that is under a Tripartite Agreement 21.72 between the Minister for Health, the private sector provider and
the bank, is not in the legal form of a lease, the Health Service concluded that the arrangement contains a lease of assets, because
fulfilment of the arrangement is economically dependent on the use of the assets and the Health Service receives the full service
potential from the assets through the services provided at FSH.
The Health Service is able to determine the fair value of the lease element of the Facilities Management Contract with direct reference to
the underlying lease payments agreed on each leasing schedule between Serco and the bank, which has been authorised by the Health
Service. Therefore, at lease inception, being the various dates on which the leasing schedules for the individual assets are entered into,
the Health Service recognises the leased asset and liability at the lower of the fair value or present value of future lease payments. The
imputed finance costs on the liability were determined based on the interest rate implicit in the lease.

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

The carrying amounts of non-current assets pledged as security are:
Right-of-use assets – Plant and equipment leased

1,888

3,093

10

20

19,675

32,225

Right-of-use assets – Furniture and fittings leased

2,974

4,872

Right-of-use assets – Medical equipment leased

21,295

34,881

45,842

75,091

Right-of-use assets – Motor vehicles leased
Right-of-use assets – Information, computer and telecommunications equipment (ICT)
leased

Total assets pledged as security
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7.2

Finance costs
2021
$’000

Lease interest expense
Interest expense
Finance costs expensed

2020
$’000

3,557

5,362

-

46

3,557

5,408

Finance costs expensed include interest costs associated with the lease liabilities and WA Treasury Loan repayments.

7.3

Cash and cash equivalents

7.3.1 Reconciliation of cash
Cash assets at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows are reconciled to the related items in the statement
of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
88,712

55,938

15,940

13,816

480

478

16,420

14,294

Accrued salaries suspense account (d)

18,848

14,848

Total non-current

18,848

14,848

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

35,268

29,142

Balance at end of period

123,980

85,080

Current (a)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current
Restricted cash assets held for other specific purposes(b)
Fiona Stanley Hospital – Upgrade Works Account (c)
Total current
Non-current

(a) Includes cash assigned to meet ongoing internal obligations arising from allocated donations, research program commitments, education
and training grants, funds directed and quarantined under medical industrial agreement and funds directed and quarantined under previous
Ministerial Directive.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are assets, the uses of which are restricted by specific legal or other externally imposed
requirements.
(b) These include medical research grants, donations for the benefits of patients, medical education, scholarships, capital projects, employee
contributions and staff benevolent funds.
(c) The moneys deposited to the Fiona Stanley Hospital Upgrade Works Account must be used for the purposes of the upgrade works in respect of the
building and site services assets.
(d) Funds held in the suspense account at the Department of Treasury will be used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that
occurs every 11 years. In a normal year there are 26 payroll periods where cash is outlaid. Every 11 years, however, there is an additional fortnightly
payroll to the standard 26. This additional pay period is termed the ‘27th pay’ and the next occurrence is in the year 2027/28. To ensure sufficient
cash resources are available, it is prudent to reserve a portion of cash funds towards this event each year. The value reserved represents an
estimated payroll amount for one day.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise
cash on hand, cash at bank and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
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7.3.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities
2021
$’000

Notes
Net cost of services

(1,804,211)

2020
$’000
(1,730,905) (a)

Non-cash items:
Expected credit losses expense
Write off of receivables
Receivables amount recovered during the period
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of non-current assets
Interest paid by Department of Health
Capitalisation of finance lease charges
Net donation of non-current assets
Services received free of charge
Revaluation decrement – land
Adjustment for other non-cash items

3.6
6.1.1
6.1.1
5.1 – 5.4
4.6

4.1
9.10

8,876
(5,380)
150
93,961
43
3,557
(33)
84,367
1,981
-

6,317
(12,856)
150
99,616
(18)
54
5,365
(79)
73,773
3,224
-

182
(6,340)
701
457

403
16,450
(912)
702

1,104
19,202
2,955
91
(218)
193

2,762
18,277
18,080
(91)
1,095
186

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
GST receivable
Other current receivables
Inventories
Prepayments and other current assets

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Payables
Current provisions
Non-current provisions
Other current liabilities
Contract liabilities
Grant liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

(1,598,362)

(1,498,407) (a)

Notional cash flows
Revenues from government agencies as per statement of comprehensive income
Capital contributions credited directly to Contributed equity (refer note 9.10 Equity)
Less notional cash flows:
Items paid directly by the Department of Health for the Health Service and are therefore not
included in the statement of cash flows:
Interest paid to Department of Treasury
Repayment of interest-bearing liabilities to Department of Treasury
Accrual appropriations
Other non-cash adjustments to service appropriations
Cash flows from State Government as per statement of cash flows

1,745,376
45,834
1,791,210

1,633,802
55,134
1,688,936

(102,690)
-

(54)
(2,881)
(103,893)

1,688,520

1,582,108

-

At the end of the reporting period the Health Service had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in the
financial statements.
(a) Restated amounts for 2020 financial year due to changes in Treasurer’s Instructions 1101, 1102 and 1103.
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7.4

Commitments

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.

7.4.1

Capital expenditure commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements
are payable as follows:

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Capital expenditure commitments being contracted capital expenditure additional to the
amounts reported in the financial statements are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

19,048

9,756

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

21,209

1,838

Later than 5 years

-

-

40,257

11,594

7.4.2 Private sector contracts for the provision of health services
Expenditure commitments in relation to private sector organisations contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised
as liabilities, are payable as follows:
Expenditure commitments in relation to private sector organisations contracted for at the
end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

179,627

176,297

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

237,084

392,341

1,021

-

417,732

568,638

Later than 5 years

7.4.3 Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:
Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the reporting period but not recognised
as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

165,900

205,483

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

653,193

621,195

Later than 5 years

228,066

385,435

1,047,159

1,212,113
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8.

Risks and Contingencies

This section sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the Health Service.

Notes
Financial risk management

8.1

Contingent assets

8.2

Contingent liabilities

8.2

Fair value measurements

8.3

8.1

Financial risk management

Financial instruments held by the Health Service are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, borrowings,
finance leases, receivables and payables. The Health Service has limited exposure to financial risks. The Health Service’s overall risk
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

(a)

Summary of risks and risk management

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Health Service’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Health Service.
Credit risk associated with the Health Service’s financial assets is generally confined to patient fee debtors (see note 6.1 Receivables).
The main receivable of the Health Service is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than
government agencies and patient fee debtors, the Health Service trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Health
Service has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Health Service’s exposure to bad debts is
minimised. Debt will be written-off against the allowance account when it is improbable or uneconomical to recover the debt. At the end
of the reporting period, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Health Service is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Health Service is exposed to
liquidity risk through its normal course of operations.
The Health Service has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Health Service’s
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Health Service does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially
exposed to other price risks. The Health Service’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the longterm debt obligations. The Health Service’s borrowings include the Department of Treasury loans and leases (fixed rates with varying
maturities). The interest rate risk for the loans is managed by Department of Treasury through portfolio diversification and variation in
maturity dates.
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8.1

Financial risk management (continued)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are:

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

88,712

55,938

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

16,420

14,294

Receivables (a)

1,084,314

978,930

1,189,446

1,049,162

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

163,386

190,601

Total financial liabilities

163,386

190,601

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

The amount of Loans and receivables / Financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)

(c)

Credit risk exposure

The following table details the credit risk exposure on the Health Service’s receivables using a provision matrix.

Days past due
Total
$’000

Current
$’000

<30 days
$’000

31–60 days
$’000

61–90 days
$’000

>91 days
$’000

30 June 2021
Expected credit loss rate

18%

1%

16%

18%

30%

43%

Estimated total gross carrying amount at
default

60,742

34,621

2,607

1,221

1,696

20,597

Expected credit losses

10,521

431

420

215

506

8,949

Days past due
Total
$’000

Current
$’000

<30 days
$’000

31–60 days
$’000

61–90 days
$’000

>91 days
$’000

30 June 2020
Expected credit loss rate
Estimated total gross carrying amount at
default
Expected credit losses

13%

2%

4%

6%

8%

20%

54,052

17,605

3,445

1,620

1,383

29,999

6,875

435

136

89

113

6,102
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8.1

Financial risk management (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk and Interest rate exposure

The following table details the Health Service’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and
financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses
only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure
Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

Carrying
amount
$’000

Fixed
interest rate
$’000

Variable
interest rate
$’000

Non-interest
bearing
$’000

88,712
16,420
49,873
1,034,441

-

-

88,712
16,420
49,873
1,034,441

1,189,446

-

-

1,189,446

108,364
878
379
48,223
1,698
3,294

48,223
1,698
-

3,294

108,364
878
379
-

162,836

49,921

3,294

109,621

55,938
14,294
47,178
931,751

-

-

55,938
14,294
47,178
931,751

1,049,161

-

-

1,049,161

109,764
1,095
186
77,044
2,066
446

77,044
2,066
-

446

109,764
1,095
186
-

190,601

79,110

446

111,045

2021
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (a)
Loans and advances
Amounts receivable for services
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Contract liabilities
Grant liabilities
Department of Treasury loans
Finance lease – Fiona Stanley Hospital
Leases – State Fleet
Leases – Other

6.13
3.20
2.10

2020
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables(a)
Loans and advances
Amounts receivable for services
Financial Liabilities
Payables
Contract liabilities
Grant liabilities
Department of Treasury loans
Finance lease – Fiona Stanley Hospital
Leases – State Fleet
Leases – Other

-

5.97
2.96
1.59

(a) The amount reported for receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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8.1
(d)

Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk and Interest rate exposure (continued)

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Maturity dates
Nominal
amount
$’000

Up to 3 months
$’000

3 months
to 1 year
$’000

More than
5 years
$’000

1 to 5 years
$’000

88,712
16,420
49,873
1,034,441

88,712
16,420
49,873
-

-

-

1,034,441

1,189,446

155,005

-

-

1,034,441

108,364
878
379
48,223
1,698
3,294

108,364
312
379
4,886
132
75

272
13,479
383
310

294
26,865
1,167
1,400

2,993
16
1,509

162,836

114,148

14,444

29,726

4,518

55,938
14,294
47,178
931,751

55,938
14,294
47,178
-

-

-

931,751

1,049,161

117,410

-

-

931,751

109,764
1,095
186
77,044
2,066
446

109,764
140
70
7,861
136
141

189
116
20,960
392
285

766
44,276
1,494
20

3,947
44
-

190,601

118,112

21,942

46,556

3,991
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8.1

Financial risk management (continued)

(e)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Health Service’s financial assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1 per cent change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in
interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 basis points
Carrying
amount
$’000

Surplus
$’000

+100 basis points

Equity
$’000

Surplus
$’000

Equity
$’000

2021
Financial liabilities
Department of Treasury loans

-

-

-

-

Total increase/(decrease)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2020
Financial liabilities
Department of Treasury loans
Total increase/(decrease)

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are
recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

8.2

Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are disclosed and, if
quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate.
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable retrospectively.

Contingent assets
In addition to the assets included in the financial statements, the Health Service has the following contingent assets:

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Other
There are facilities management matters under negotiation that may or may not become
assets. The negotiations are an ongoing part of contract management processes
invoking formal contractual dispute mechanisms. These matters have not progressed to
the ‘litigation in process’ stage.
Number of disputes
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861

-

1

-

8.2

Contingent assets and liabilities (continued)

Contingent liabilities
In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, the Health Service has the following contingent liabilities:

2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Other
There are facilities management matters under negotiation that may or may not become
liabilities. The negotiations are an ongoing part of contract management processes
invoking formal contractual dispute mechanisms. These matters have not progressed to the
‘litigation in process’ stage.
Number of disputes

16,138

15,574

18

13

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 the Health Service is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation. In accordance with the Act, the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation
classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified
as contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the Health Service may have a liability in
respect of investigation or remediation expenses.
At the reporting date, the Health Service does not have any suspected contaminated sites reported under the Act.

Hospital cladding
The Department of Health is reviewing all Health Service’s Hospitals that have Aluminium Composite Panels (ACPs), following concerns
about the potential fire risk associated with the use of some ACP cladding products. The review identified the Fiona Stanley Hospital
(FSH) and Rockingham General Hospital (RGH) sites as having ACPs not meeting the requirements of the amended building code of
Australia. The FSH site assessment of ACP risks and remediation requirements is ongoing, with assessment on some buildings nearing
completion. The RGH remediation is in progress with Practical Completion planned for December 2021.

Long service leave for casual employees
Under the Long Service Leave Act 1958 (LSL Act) casual employees who have been employed for more than 10 years and meet
continuous service requirements may be entitled to long service leave. Whilst a provision for casual employees who are currently still
employed by WA Health and who meet the criteria has been recognised in the financial statements, the amount of the obligation for
those casual employees who are no longer employed by WA Health cannot be measured with sufficient reliability at reporting date. We
are currently assessing the impact of the LSL Act for those casual employees.
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8.3

Fair value measurements

Fair value hierarchy
AASB 13 requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
1)

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (level 1)

2)

input other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset either directly or indirectly (level 2)

3)

inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable input) (level 3).

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

2021
Assets measured and recognised at fair value:
Land
Specialised

-

2,630

66,487

69,117

Residential and commercial car park

-

-

54,911

54,911

Specialised

-

870

1,522,327

1,523,197

-

3,500

1,643,725

1,647,225

Buildings

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

2020
Assets measured and recognised at fair value:
Land
Specialised

-

2,721

68,377

71,098

Residential and commercial car park

-

-

56,364

56,364

Specialised

-

860

1,556,637

1,557,497

-

3,581

1,681,378

1,684,959

Buildings

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 and Level 3 fair values
The Health Service obtains independent valuations of land and buildings from the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Landgate Valuation Services) annually. Two principal valuation techniques are applied to the measurement of fair values:

Market Approach (Comparable Sales)
The Health Service’s residential properties, commercial car park and vacant land are valued under the market approach. This approach
provides an indication of value by comparing the asset with identical or similar properties for which price information is available.
Analysis of comparable sales information and market data provides the basis for fair value measurement.
The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such information is not available,
Landgate Valuation Services considers current prices in an active market for properties of different nature or recent prices of similar
properties in less active markets and adjusts the valuation for differences in property characteristics and market conditions.
For properties with buildings and other improvements, the land value is measured by comparison and analysis of open market
transactions on the assumption that the land is in a vacant and marketable condition. The amount determined is deducted from the total
property value and the residual amount represents the building value.
The Health Service’s residential properties mainly consist of residential buildings that have been re-configured to be used as health
centres or clinics.
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8.3

Fair value measurements (continued)

Cost Approach
Properties of a specialised nature that are rarely sold in an active market or are held to deliver public services are referred to as nonmarket or current use type assets. These properties do not normally have a feasible alternative use due to restrictions or limitations on
their use and disposal. The existing use is their highest and best use.
For current use land assets, fair value is measured firstly by establishing the opportunity cost of public purpose land, which is termed
the hypothetical alternate land use value. This approach assumes unencumbered land use based upon potential highest and best
alternative use as represented by surrounding land uses and market analysis.
Fair value of the land is then determined on the assumption that the site is rehabilitated to a vacant marketable condition. This requires
costs associated with rehabilitation to be deducted from the hypothetical alternate land use value of the land. Costs may include
building demolition, clearing, planning approvals and time allowances associated with realising that potential.
In some instances, the legal, physical, economic and socio political restrictions on a land results in a minimal or negative current use
land value. In this situation the land value adopted is the higher of the calculated rehabilitation amount or the amount determined on the
basis of comparison to market corroborated evidence of land with low level utility. Land of low level utility is considered to be grazing
land on the urban fringe of the metropolitan area with no economic farming potential or foreseeable development or redevelopment
potential at the measurement date.
The Health Service’s hospitals and medical centres are specialised buildings valued under the cost approach. Staff accommodation on
hospital grounds is also considered as specialised buildings for valuation purpose.
This approach uses the depreciated replacement cost method which estimates the current cost of reproduction or replacement of the
buildings, on its current site, less deduction for physical deterioration and relevant forms of obsolescence. Depreciated replacement cost
is the current replacement cost of an asset less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to
reflect the already consumed or expired future economic benefits of the asset.
The techniques involved in the determination of the current replacement costs include:
(a) review and updating of the ‘as-constructed’ drawing documentation
(b) categorisation of the drawings using the Building Utilisation Categories (BUC) which designate the functional areas typically
provided by the following types of clinical facilities. Each BUC has different cost rates which are calculated from the historical
construction costs of similar clinical facilities and are adjusted for the year-to-year change in building costs using building cost
index
•
•

nursing posts and medical centres
metropolitan secondary hospitals

(c) measurement of the general floor areas
(d) application of the BUC cost rates per square meter of general floor areas
(e) application of the applicable regional cost indices, which are used throughout the construction industry to estimate the additional
costs associated with building construction in locations outside of the Perth area.
The maximum effective age used in the valuation of specialised buildings is 50 years. The effective age of buildings is initially calculated
from the commissioning date and is reviewed after the buildings have undergone substantial renewal, upgrade or expansion.
The straight-line method of depreciation is applied to derive the depreciated replacement cost, assuming a uniform pattern of
consumption over the initial 37 years of asset life (up to 75 per cent of current replacement costs). All specialised buildings are assumed
to have a residual value of 25 per cent of their current replacement costs.
The valuations are prepared on a going concern basis until the year in which the current use is discontinued.
Buildings with definite demolition plan are not subject to annual revaluation. The depreciated replacement costs at the last valuation
dates for these buildings are written down to the statement of comprehensive income as depreciation expenses over their remaining
useful life.
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8.3

Fair value measurements (continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
The following table represents the changes in level 3 items for the period ended 30 June 2021.

Land
$’000

Buildings
$’000

Total
$’000

2021
Fair value at start of period

68,377

1,613,000

1,681,377

-

2,807

2,807

(1,890)

-

(1,890)

Revaluation increments/(decrements)

-

6,803

6,803

Depreciation

-

(45,373)

(45,373)

66,487

1,577,237

1,643,724

71,487

1,648,348

1,719,835

-

2,945

2,945

(3,110)

-

(3,110)

Revaluation increments/(decrements)

-

7,022

7,022

Depreciation

-

(45,315)

(45,315)

68,377

1,613,000

1,681,377

Additions
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in profit or loss

Fair value at end of period

2020
Fair value at start of period
Additions
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in profit or loss

Fair value at end of period

Valuation processes
The Health Service manages its own valuation processes. This includes the provision of property information to a quantity surveyor,
Landgate Valuation Services, and the review of valuation reports. Valuation processes and results are discussed with the chief finance
officer at least once every year.
Landgate Valuation Service determines the fair values of the Health Service’s land and building. A quantity surveyor is engaged by
the Health Service to provide an update of the current replacement costs for specialised buildings. The Landgate Valuation Services
endorses the current replacement costs calculated by the quantity surveyor for specialised buildings and calculates the depreciated
replacement costs.
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9.

Other disclosures

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other pronouncements, for the understanding
of this financial report.

Notes
Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

9.1

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

9.2

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

9.3

Key management personnel

9.4

Related party transactions

9.5

Related bodies

9.6

Affiliated bodies

9.7

Special purpose accounts

9.8

Remuneration of auditor

9.9

Equity

9.10

Supplementary financial information

9.11

Explanatory statement

9.12

9.1

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

There were no events occurring after the reporting period which had significant financial effects on these financial statements

9.2

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor (AASB1059) introduces the accounting treatment for assets in service concession
arrangements from the perspective of public sector grantors for annual reporting periods on or after 1 January 2020.
The Health Service applies AASB 1059 using the modified retrospective approach on transition. Under the specific transition provisions,
the Health service will recognise service concession arrangements as at 1 July 2019 and restate prior period comparatives for 2019/20 in
the 2020/21 annual report.
As defined in AASB 1059, a service concession arrangement is an arrangement which involves an operator:
that is contractually obliged to provide public services related to a service concession asset on behalf of the grantor; and
managing at least some of those services under its own discretion, rather than at the direction of the grantor.
Upon transition the grantor is to measure the cost of the service concession asset (including an existing asset of the grantor reclassified
as a service concession asset) as fair value (current replacement cost).
When the grantor recognises a service concession asset, the grantor shall also recognise a liability. However, the grantor shall not
recognise a liability when an existing asset of the grantor is reclassified as a service concession asset, except in circumstances where
additional consideration is provided by the operator.
At the application date, the Health Service has recognised all property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at Peel Health
Campus as service concession assets. See also note 5.3 Service concession assets.

30 June 2020
under AASB 1059
$’000
Property, plant & equipment
Service concession assets

30 June 2020
reported
$’000

Adjustments
$’000

1,801,373

(61,425)

1,862,798

61,425

61,425

-

1,862,798

-

1,862,798
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9.3

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Health Service cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where applicable, the Health Service
plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
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AASB 17

Insurance Contracts
This Standard establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of insurance contracts.
The Agency has not assessed the impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2023

AASB 1060

General Purpose Financial Statements – Simplified Disclosures for For-Profit and Not-forProfit Tier 2 Entities
This Standard sets out a new, separate disclosure standard to be applied by all entities
that are reporting under Tier 2 of the Differential Reporting Framework in AASB 1053.
These is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2021

AASB 2020-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current
This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities
in the statement of financial position as current or non-current.
These is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2023

AASB 2020-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018–2020 and 1 Jan 2022
Other Amendments
This Standard amends: (a) AASB 1 to simplify the application of AASB 1; (b) AASB 3 to
update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting; (c) AASB 9 to
clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial
liability; (d) AASB 116 to require an entity to recognise the sales proceeds from selling
items produced while preparing property, plant and equipment for its intended use and
the related cost in profit or loss, instead of deducting the amounts received from the
cost of the asset; (e) AASB 137 to specify the costs that an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making; and (f) AASB 141 to remove the requirement
to exclude cash flows from taxation when measuring fair value.
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2020-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Insurance Contracts
This Standard amends AASB 17 to reduce the costs of applying AASB 17 by simplifying
some of its requirements.
The Health Service has not assessed the impact of the Standard.

AASB 2020-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current 1 Jan 2022
or Non-current – Deferral of Effective Date
This Standard amends AASB 101 to defer requirements for the presentation of liabilities
in the statement of financial position as current or non-current that were added to AASB
101 in AASB 2020-1.
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2020-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions:
Tier 2 Disclosures
This Standard adds new disclosure requirements to AASB 1060.
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2021

1 Jul 2021

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 2021-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition to Tier 2: Simplified Disclo- 1 Jul 2021
sures for Not-for-Profit Entities
This Standard amends AASB 1060 to provide not-for-profit entities with optional relief
from presenting comparative information in the notes to the financial statements where
the entity did not disclose the comparable information in its most recent previous
general-purpose financial statements.
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2021-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and 1 Jan 2023
Definition of Accounting Estimates
This Standard amends: (a) AASB 7, to clarify that information about measurement bases
for financial instruments is expected to be material to an entity’s financial statements;
(b) AASB 101, to require entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies; (c) AASB 108, to clarify how entities
should distinguish changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates; (d) AASB 134, to identify material accounting policy information as a component
of a complete set of financial statements; and (e) AASB Practice Statement 2, to provide
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2021-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021
This Standard amends AASB 16 to extend by one year the application period of the
practical expedient added to AASB 16 by AASB 2020-4.
There is no financial impact.

1 Apr 2021
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9.4

Key management personnel

The Health Service has determined that key management personnel include ministers, members and senior officers of the Authority.
However, the Health Service is not obligated to compensate ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to ministers’ compensation
may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.
The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of the for the reporting period are
presented within the following bands:

2021

2020

Compensation of members of the accountable authority
Compensation band ($)
80,001 – 90,000
40,001 – 50,000
30,001 – 40,000
20,001 – 30,000
10,001 – 20,000
0 – 10,000

1
8
1
1

1
7
1
1
1

1
1
1
2
2
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1
1
1
1
2
1
2
1
1
1
-

Compensation of senior officers
Compensation band ($)
590,001 – 600,000
550,001 – 560,000
490,001 – 500,000
460,001 – 470,000
340,001 – 350,000
320,001 – 330,000
310,001 – 320,000
240,001 – 250,000
230,001 - 240,000
220,001 – 230,000
210,001 – 220,000
190,001 – 200,000
170,001 – 180,000
160,001 – 170,000
150,001 - 160,000
140,001 – 150,000
100,001 – 110,000
90,001 – 100,000
60,001 – 70,000
40,001 – 50,000
30,001 – 40,000
2021
$000
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Total compensation of key management personnel

3,290
302
(4)
3,588

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Health Service in respect of senior officers.
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2020
$000
3,388
319
88
93
3,888

9.5

Related party transactions

The Health Service is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the Health
Service is required to pay various taxes and levies to the State and entities related to the State. The payment of these taxes and levies, is
based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers.
Related parties of the Health Service include:
•
•
•
•
•

all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities
all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities
other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government consolidated financial
statements
associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements
the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Significant transactions with government related entities
In conducting its activities, the Health Service is required to transact with the State and entities related to the State. These transactions
are generally based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all agencies. Such transactions include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

income from State Government (note 4.1)
capital appropriations (note 9.10)
superannuation payments to GESB (note 3.1.1)
lease rentals payments for accommodation and fleet leasing to the Department of Finance (note 3.6)
commitments for future lease payments to the Department of Finance (note 7.4)
insurance transactions with the Insurance Commission (note 3.6)
remuneration for services provided by the Office of the Auditor General (note 9.9)
utility payments to Water Corporation (note 3.2)
utility payments to Electricity Generation and Retail Corporation (Synergy) (note 3.2)
payments for legal advice to Department of the Attorney General (note 3.6)
maintenance transactions with the Department of Fire and Emergency Services (note 3.4 and note 3.5)
funding agreement with Disability Services Commision (note 3.3)
transactions with the Department of Health and other Metropolitan and Country Health Services (note 4.1).

Material transactions with related parties
The Health Service had no material related party transaction with Ministers/senior officers or their close family members or their
controlled (or jointly controlled) entities for disclosure.

9.6

Related bodies

A related body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the Health Service and is subject to operational
control by the Health Service.
The Health Service had no related bodies during the financial year.

9.7

Affiliated bodies

An affiliated body is a body which receives more than half its funding and resources from the Health Service but is not subject to
operational control by the Health Service.
The Health Service had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.
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9.8

Special purpose accounts

Mental Health Commission Fund (South Metropolitan Health Service) Account
The purpose of the special purpose account is to receive funds from the Mental Health Commission, to fund the provision of mental
health services as jointly endorsed by the Department of Health and the Mental Health Commission, in the South Metropolitan Health
Service, in accordance with the annual Service Agreement and subsequent agreements.

2021
$’000
Balance at start of period
Add receipts
Service delivery arrangement:
Commonwealth contributions
State contributions
Payments
Balance at end of period

9.9

2020
$’000
-

-

(44,752)
(88,552)
(133,304)
133,304
-

(38,501)
(87,557)
(126,058)
126,058
-

300

261

300

261

Remuneration of auditors

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit is as follows:
Auditing the accounts, controls, financial statements and key performance indicators
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9.10

Equity

Contributed equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Health Service on behalf of the community. Equity represents the
residual interest in the net assets of the Health Service. The asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the
revaluation of non current assets.

2021
$’000
Balance at start of period

2020
$’000

2,489,069

2,433,935

45,834

55,134

45,834

55,134

Contribution by owners(b)
Capital Appropriations administered by Department of Health
Distributions to owners

(b) (c) (d) (e)

Transfer of net assets (other than cash) to other agencies(d)
Total contribution by owners
Balance at end of period

-

-

2,534,903

2,489,069

(a) TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ designates capital appropriations as contributions by owners in
accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’.
(b) AASB 1004 ‘Contributions’ requires transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements to be accounted for as
contributions by owners and distributions to owners.
TI 955 designates non-discretionary and non-reciprocal transfers of net assets between state government agencies as contributions by owners in
accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038. Where the transferee agency accounts for a non-discretionary and non-reciprocal transfer of net assets
as a contribution by owners, the transferor agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owners.
(c) TI 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to Government to be accounted for as distribution to owners in accordance with AASB
Interpretation 1038.
(d) Transfer of net assets (other than cash) to other agencies is made up of the following items:

Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve (a)
Balance at the start of period

71,911

64,882

-

-

Net revaluation increments/(decrements) :
(b)

Land
Buildings
Balance at end of period

6,831

7,029

78,742

71,911

1,981

3,224

1,981

3,224

Asset revaluation decrements recognised as an expense(b):
Land

(a) The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets.
(b) Any increment is credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent that any increment reverses a revaluation decrement
previously recognised as an expense.
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9.10

Equity (continued)

Accumulated surplus
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period

3,254

22,750

-

3,833

Restated balance at the start of the period

3,254

26,583

Result for the period

26,461

(23,329)

Balance at end of period

29,715

3,254

Initial application of AASB 16

9.11

Supplementary financial information

(a)

Revenue, public and other property written off
2021
$’000

2020
$’000

Revenue and debts written off under the authority of the Accountable Authority

3,832

12,644

Revenue and debts written off under the authority of the Minister

1,548

211

Public and other property written off under the authority of the Accountable Authority

134

47

Public and other property written off under the authority of the Minister

138

-

5,652

12,902

Losses of public monies and public or other property through theft or default

-

-

Less amount recovered

-

-

Net losses

-

-

-

-

-

-

(b)

(c)

Losses of public monies and other property

Gifts of public property

Gifts of public property provided by the Health Service

9.12

Explanatory statement

All variances between annual estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2021, and between the actual results for 2021 and 2020
are shown below. Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are generally greater than 10% and 1% of Total Cost of Services
for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows and are greater than 10%, and 1% of Total Assets for the Statement of
Financial Position.
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9.12.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances

Variance
Notes

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Fees for contracted medical practitioners
Contracts for services
Patient support costs
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Asset revaluation decrement
Repairs, maintenance and consumable
equipment
Other supplies and services
Other expenses
Total cost of services

Estimate
2021
$’000

Actual 2021
$’000

Actual
2020
$’000

Variance
between actual
and estimate
$’000

Variance
between actual
results for 2020
and 2021
$’000

1,030,682
11,492
138,773
368,655
3,561
101,379
-

1,088,098
11,979
139,646
392,444
3,557
93,961
43
1,981

1,037,248
10,220
139,130
371,889
5,408
99,616
3,224

57,416
487
873
23,789
(4)
(7,418)
43
1,981

50,850
1,759
516
20,555
(1,851)
(5,655)
43
(1,243)

53,367
59,331
172,643
1,939,883

56,960
59,403
138,236
1,986,308

53,286
57,451
128,300
1,905,772

3,593
72
(34,407)
46,425

3,674
1,952
9,936
80,536

80,046
75,491
983
40
(109)
18,904
175,355

77,323
81,586
3,186
2,240
81
2
385
17,294
182,097

76,087
80,857
2,166
279
6
382
15,072
174,849

(2,723)
6,095
3,186
1,257
41
2
494
(1,610)
6,742

1,236
729
3,186
74
(198)
(4)
3
2,222
7,248

(1)
(1)

-

18
18

1
1

(18)
(18)

175,354

182,097

174,867

6,743

7,230

NET COST OF SERVICES

1,764,529

1,804,211

1,730,905

39,682

73,306

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Department of Health – Service agreement
Mental Health – Service agreement
Grants from other state government agencies
Assets (transferred)/assumed
Services received free of charge
Total income from State Government

1,552,170
132,032
10,508
72,937
1,767,647

1,586,441
133,305
25,630
929
84,367
1,830,672

1,491,019
126,058
16,724
2
73,773
1,707,576

34,271
1,273
15,122
929
11,430
63,025

95,422
7,247
8,906
927
10,594
123,096

3,118

26,461

(23,329)

23,343

49,790

-

6,831
6,831

7,029
7,029

6,831
6,831

(198)
(198)

3,118

33,292

(16,300)

30,174

49,592

1

INCOME
Revenue
Patient charges
Other fees for services
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other grants and contributions
Donation revenue
Interest revenue
Commercial activities
Other revenue
Total revenue
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total gains
Total income other than income from
State Government

Surplus/(deficit) for the period
Other comprehensive income
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation reserve
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period

Major Variance Narratives
Variances between estimate and actual results for 2021
1. Other expenses
The variance $34 million is largely due to budget reallocations occurring during the year to support employee expenses and ongoing
health service activities.
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9.12.2 Statement of Financial Position Variances

Variance
Notes

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Total Current Assets

Actual
2021
$’000

Actual
2020
$’000

Variance
between actual
results for 2020
and 2021
$’000

78,952
14,294
45,532
6,183
3,962
148,923

88,712
16,420
54,046
5,482
3,505
168,165

55,938
14,294
51,532
6,183
3,962
131,909

9,760
2,126
8,514
(701)
(457)
19,242

32,774
2,126
2,514
(701)
(457)
36,256

18,848
1,033,130
1,776,095
59,475
46,755
13,390
2,947,693

18,848
1,034,441
1,764,047
59,571
50,811
13,860
2,941,578

14,848
931,751
1,801,373
61,425
77,586
16,692
2,903,675

1,311
(12,048)
96
4,056
470
(6,115)

4,000
102,690
(37,326)
(1,854)
(26,775)
(2,832)
37,903

3,096,616

3,109,743

3,035,584

13,127

74,159

109,764
329
186
19,052
218,922
183
348,436

108,915
583
379
19,265
225,957
273
355,372

109,764
329
186
29,776
206,755
182
346,992

(849)
254
193
213
7,035
90
6,936

(849)
254
193
(10,511)
19,202
91
8,380

Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

555
30,014
82,232
112,801

294
33,950
76,767
111,011

766
49,780
73,812
124,358

(261)
3,936
(5,465)
(1,790)

(472)
(15,830)
2,955
(13,347)

Total liabilities

461,237

466,383

471,350

5,146

(4,967)

2,635,379

2,643,360

2,564,234

7,981

79,126

2,557,096
71,911
6,372

2,534,903
78,742
29,715

2,489,069
71,911
3,254

(22,193)
6,831
23,343

45,834
6,831
26,461

2,635,379

2,643,360

2,564,234

7,981

79,126

Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Amounts receivable for services
Property, plant and equipment
Service concession assets
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

2

Estimate
2021
$’000

Variance
between actual
and estimate
$’000

3

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Contract liabilities
Grant liabilities
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY

Major Variance Narratives
Variances between actual results for 2021 and 2020
2. Cash & cash equivalents
The improved cash position is a combination of sustained operational efficiencies, increased revenue and the carryover of funds for
commitments where outlays are expected in the following year.

3. Amounts receivable for services
The increased movement between the years is due to the 2020/21 accrual funding received from government for the depreciation costs.
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9.12.3 Statement of Cash Flows Variances

Variance
Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Revenues from State Govt Agencies
Capital appropriations administered by
Department of Health
Net cash provided by State Government

4

Variance
between actual
and estimate
$’000

Variance
between actual
results for 2020
and 2021
$’000

Actual
2021
$’000

Actual
2020
$’000

1,593,331

1,642,686

1,529,855

49,355

112,831

68,027
1,661,358

45,834
1,688,520

52,253
1,582,108

(22,193)
27,162

(6,419)
106,412

(1,010,095)
(725,325)
(3,561)

(1,062,902)
(706,014)
-

(994,968)
(683,273)
3

(52,807)
19,311
3,561

(67,934)
(22,741)
(3)

80,046
983
40
94,075
(1,563,837)

71,713
3,186
2,240
48
2
93,365
(1,598,362)

80,280
2,167
201
6
97,177
(1,498,407)

(8,333)
3,186
1,257
8
2
(710)
(34,525)

(8,567)
3,186
73
(153)
(4)
(3,812)
(99,955)

(40,018)

(17,817)

(14,129)

22,201

(3,688)

(40,018)

(15)
(17,832)

(62)
(14,191)

(15)
22,186

47
(3,641)

(30,490)

(33,426)

(40,921)

(2,936)

7,495

(30,490)

(33,426)

(40,921)

(2,936)

7,495

27,014

38,900

28,589

11,886

10,311

85,080

85,080

56,491

-

28,589

112,094

123,980

85,080

11,886

38,900

Estimate 2021
$’000

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Receipts
Receipts from customers
Commonwealth grants and contributions
Other grants and contributions
Donations received
Interest received
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Payment for purchase of non-current physical
and intangible assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical
assets
Net cash used in investing activities

5

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Repayment of lease liabilities
Receipts
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
OF THE PERIOD
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6

Major Variance Narratives
Variances between estimates and actual results for 2021
4. Capital appropriations
The $22 million variation results from changes in the capital project deliverables and outlays which have occurred since the preparation
and release of the initial estimates. These changes stemmed from the refinement in the project timelines, complications in tendering
processes and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic delaying progress.

5. Payment for purchase of non-current physical and intangible assets
The $22 million variation results from changes in the capital project deliverables and outlays which have occurred since the preparation
and release of the initial estimates. These changes stemmed from the refinement in the project timelines, complications in tendering
processes and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic delaying progress.

Variances between actual results for 2021 and 2020
6. Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
The improved cash position is a combination of sustained operational efficiencies, increased revenue and the carryover of funds for
commitments where outlays are expected in the following year.
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Certification of
key performance indicators
SOUTH METROPOLITAN HEALTH SERVICE
CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021
We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and
appropriate for assisting users to assess South Metropolitan Health Service’s performance and fairly
represent the performance of South Metropolitan Health Service for the financial year ended 30 June 2021.

Adj. Associate Professor
Robyn Collins
Chair
South Metropolitan Health
Service Board
7 September 2021
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Mr Liam Roche
Board Member
South Metropolitan Health
Service Board
7 September 2021

Key performance indicators
Unplanned hospital readmissions
for patients within 28 days for
selected surgical procedures: (a) knee
replacement; (b) hip replacement;
(c) tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy;
(d) hysterectomy; (e) prostatectomy;
(f) cataract surgery;
(g) appendicectomy

Percentage of elective wait list
patients waiting over boundary
for reportable procedures
(a) % Category 1 over 30 days
(b) % Category 2 over 90 days
(c) % Category 3 over 365 days

Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus
aureus bloodstream infections
(HA-SABSI) per 10,000 occupied beddays

Survival rates for sentinel conditions

Percentage of admitted patients
who discharged against medical
advice: a) Aboriginal patients; and
b) non-Aboriginal patients

Percentage of live-born term infants
with an Apgar score of less than 7 at
5 minutes post delivery

Readmissions to acute specialised
mental health inpatient services
within 28 days of discharge

Percentage of post-discharge
community care within seven days
following discharge from acute
specialised mental health inpatient
services

Average admitted cost per weighted
activity unit

Average Emergency Department cost
per weighted activity unit

Average non-admitted cost per
weighted activity unit

Average cost per bed-day in
specialised mental health inpatient
services

Average cost per treatment day
of non-admitted care provided by
mental health services

Average cost per person of delivering
population health programs by
population health units
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Unplanned hospital readmissions for patients within 28 days for
selected surgical procedures: (a) knee replacement; (b) hip replacement;
(c) tonsillectomy and adenoidectomy; (d) hysterectomy; (e)
prostatectomy; (f) cataract surgery; (g) appendicectomy

Rationale

Results

Unplanned hospital readmissions may reflect less
than optimal patient management and ineffective
care pre-discharge, post discharge and/or during
the transition between acute and community-based
care1. These readmissions necessitate patients
spending additional periods of time in hospital as
well as utilising additional hospital resources.

For the period January to December 2020, SMHS
unplanned readmission rates for selected surgical
procedures are presented in Table 9.

Readmission rate is considered a global performance
measure, as it potentially points to deficiencies in
the functioning of the overall healthcare system.
Along with providing appropriate interventions, good
discharge planning can help decrease the likelihood
of unplanned hospital readmissions by providing
patients with the care instructions they need after
a hospital stay and helping patients recognise
symptoms that may require medical attention.
The seven surgeries selected for this indicator
are based on those in the current National Health
Agreement Unplanned Readmission performance
indicator (NHA PI 23).

Target

The hospital readmission rate for patients
undergoing cataract surgery was within the target
in 2020, the first time since 2016. The readmission
rate for knee replacement showed a significant fall
between 2019 and 2020 and was also within target.
For procedures where the target is not met,
unplanned readmissions are reviewed on a caseby-case basis, in order to identify and address any
system issues that may adversely impact the care
provided to patients at any point in their journey
through the health service.

Hip replacement
The readmission rate for hip replacement was above
the target in 2020 but saw a significant reduction
from 2019. Clinical review of these cases indicated
they were primarily associated with post-operative
swelling and pain and were managed conservatively,
requiring only short hospital stays.

The target is represented as the upper limit per 1,000
separations. Improved or maintained performance
is demonstrated by a result below or equal to the
target.

1
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Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2009). Towards national indicators of safety and quality in health care. Cat. no. HSE 75. Canberra: AIHW. Available at: https://
www.aihw.gov.au/reports/health-care-quality-performance/towards-national-indicators-of-safety-and-quality/contents/table-of-contents

Tonsillectomy and
adenoidectomy

Prostatectomy
The readmission rate for patients undergoing
prostatectomy rose in 2020 and was above the
target. A clinical review of these readmissions
identified that all related to known post-surgical
complications for this surgery, such as urinary or
blood clot retention and haematuria.

The readmission rate for tonsillectomy and
adenoidectomy remained above the target in 2020.
As with 2019, the majority of cases were related
to minor post-operative bleeds, a recognised
complication of the procedure and not considered
preventable.

Appendicectomy

Hysterectomy
The readmission rate following hysterectomy
fell again in 2020 and was just above the target.
Clinical review of the cases identified the majority of
readmissions related to superficial wound infections
and pain management. There were no systemrelated factors identified in the review of the patients’
surgery or post-operative care.

The readmission rate for appendicectomy rose in
2020 and was above target. Readmissions were
primarily due to infection and pain, for which
patients were treated and then discharged. Review
of these cases did not identify any concerns with the
clinical care provided.

Table 9: Rate of unplanned readmissions within 28 days for selected surgical procedures
Calendar Year

2016
(part year)
actual
(per 1,000)

2017
actual
(per 1,000)

2018
actual
(per 1,000)

2019
actual
(per 1,000)

2020
actual
(per 1,000)

Target
(per 1,000)

Knee replacement

21

19.2

25.5

21.7

7.9

≤23.0

Hip replacement

10

13.1

18.3

27.2

21.8

≤17.1

Tonsillectomy & adenoidectomy

97

82.6

109.4

84.5

93.3

≤81.8

Hysterectomy

49

61.5

69.0

61.5

47.1

≤42.3

Prostatectomy

30

53.1

40.2

28.9

44.9

≤36.1

Cataract surgery

1

3.7

3.7

2.7

0.5

≤1.1

Appendicectomy

32

32.1

26.0

25.9

30.9

≤25.7

Surgical Procedure

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary for
reportable procedures (a) % Category 1 over 30 days (b) % Category 2
over 90 days (c) % Category 3 over 365 days

Rationale

Target

Elective surgery refers to planned surgery that
can be booked in advance following specialist
assessment that results in placement on an elective
surgery waiting list.

The target requires that no patients (0 per cent)
on elective waiting lists for reportable procedures
wait longer than the clinically recommended time,
according to their urgency category.

Elective surgical services delivered in the WA health
system are those deemed to be clinically necessary.
Excessive waiting times for these services can lead
to deterioration of the patient’s condition and/or
quality of life, or even death2. Waiting lists must be
actively managed by hospitals to ensure fair and
equitable access to limited services, and that all
patients are treated within clinically appropriate
timeframes.
Patients are prioritised based on their assigned
clinical urgency category:
y Category 1 – procedures that are clinically
indicated within 30 days
y Category 2 – procedures that are clinically
indicated within 90 days
y Category 3 – procedures that are clinically
indicated within 365 days.
On 1 April 2016, the WA health system introduced a
new statewide performance target for the provision
of elective services. For reportable procedures, the
target requires that no patients (0 per cent) on the
elective waiting lists wait longer than the clinically
recommended time for their procedure, according to
their urgency category.

2
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Results
During 2020/21, SMHS continued to work towards
reducing over boundary cases and improve the
timeliness of treatment for elective surgery waitlisted
patients.
Improvement on previous years’ results towards
the target of treating all patients within clinically
recommended times was achieved in urgency
categories 1 and 2. More significant progress was
inhibited by COVID-19, with non-urgent category
2 and all category 3 elective surgeries suspended
during the lockdown periods in February, April and
June 2021.
SMHS elective surgery was further impacted by
the Fremantle Hospital Theatre Project which
commenced in April 2021 and required the temporary
closure of some theatres to facilitate refurbishment
works. Additional demand was placed on other
SMHS sites and surgical services as activity was
redistributed to minimise delays for waitlisted
patients. This program of work is expected to
continue into 2022.
SMHS will continue to proactively manage elective
wait lists and implement initiatives to reduce
over boundary case numbers across all urgency
categories.

Derrett, S., Paul, C., Morris, J.M. (1999). Waiting for Elective Surgery: Effects on Health-Related Quality of Life, International Journal of Quality in Health Care, Vol 11 No. 1,
47-57.

Table 10: Percentage of elective wait list patients waiting over boundary for reportable procedures
2016/17
actual
(%)

2017/18
actual
(%)

2018/19
actual
(%)

2019/20
actual
(%)

2020/21
actual
(%)

Target
(%)

Urgency category 1

22.6

25.3

17.6

11.5

11.2

0

Urgency category 2

30.9

20.6

16.4

14.8

10.9

0

Urgency category 3

4.8

1.9

2.9

3.9

4.6

0

Data source: Elective Services Wait List Data Collection.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Healthcare-associated Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections
(HA-SABSI) per 10,000 occupied bed-days

Rationale

Results

Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infection is a
serious infection that may be associated with the
provision of health care. Staphylococcus aureus is a
highly pathogenic organism and even with advanced
medical care, infection is associated with prolonged
hospital stays, increased health care costs and a
marked increase in morbidity and mortality. (SABSI
mortality rates are estimated at 20–25 per cent3.)

The rate of HA-SABSI increased to 1.1 per 10,000
occupied bed days in 2020 and just above target.
Reducing the rate of HA-SABSI is a focus for SMHS,
with an associated SABSI strategy in development.
Identified actions include a renewed focus on
hand hygiene and aseptic non-touch technique,
the reinforcement of evidence-based clinical care
standards, and targeted interventions in identified
high risk areas.

HA-SABSI is generally considered to be a preventable
adverse event associated with the provision of health
care, therefore this KPI is a robust measure of the
safety and quality of care provided by WA public
hospitals.
A low or decreasing HA-SABSI rate is desirable
and the WA target reflects the nationally agreed
benchmark.

Target
The target is an infection rate of ≤1.0 per 10,000
occupied bed days in public hospitals.

Table 11: Hospital infection rate
Calendar Year

Infection rate
per 10,000
bed days

2017

2018

0.9

0.7

2019 2020 Target
0.7

1.1

≤1.0

Data source: Healthcare Infections Surveillance WA Data
Collection (HISWA).
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date
information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.

Improved or maintained performance is
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the
target.

3
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van Hal, S. J., Jensen, S. O., Vaska, V. L., Espedido, B. A., Paterson, D. L., & Gosbell, I. B. (2012). Predictors of mortality in Staphylococcus aureus Bacteremia. Clinical
microbiology reviews, 25(2), 362–386. doi:10.1128/CMR.05022-11

OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Survival rates for sentinel conditions

Rationale
This indicator measures performance in relation to
the survival of people who have suffered a sentinel
condition – specifically a stroke, acute myocardial
infarction, or fractured neck of femur (FNOF).

An improved or maintained performance is
demonstrated by a result exceeding or equal to the
target.
The following table illustrates the target for each
condition by age group.

These three conditions have been chosen as they
are leading causes of hospitalisation and death
in Australia for which there are accepted clinical
management practices and guidelines. Patient
survival after being admitted for one of these
sentinel conditions can be affected by many factors
including the diagnosis, the treatment given or
procedure performed, age, co-morbidities at the
time of the admission and complications which may
have developed while in hospital. However, survival
is more likely when there is early intervention and
appropriate care on presentation to an emergency
department and on admission to hospital.

Table 12: Survival target rates for sentinel
conditions, by age group

By reviewing survival rates and conducting caselevel analysis, targeted strategies can be developed
that aim to increase patient survival after being
admitted for a sentinel condition.

Results

Target
The target is usually based on the state average
result for the previous five calendar years excluding
the most recent calendar year. Due to the delayed
2020/21 Budget, the most recent calendar year
data was available to inform the target setting. The
2020/21 targets are based on the average result for
the five previous calendar years, including the most
recent year at the time being 2019.

Sentinel conditions

Age group
(years)

Stroke
(%)

AMI
(%)

FNOF
(%)

0–49

≥95.2

≥99.1

Not reported

50–59

≥94.9

≥98.8

Not reported

60–69

≥94.1

≥98.1

Not reported

70–79

≥92.3

≥96.8

≥98.9

80+

≥86.0

≥92.1

≥96.9

A review is undertaken of all in-hospital deaths
resulting from stroke, AMI or FNOF in order to
determine if the care delivered to patients was
appropriate or could have been delivered differently,
and to identify any areas for improvement. The
survival rates of patients admitted for FNOF in all age
groups remained above target across SMHS in 2020.
The survival rates of patients admitted for stroke
was above target in all age groups except the 70–79
group, which was slightly below target at 91.7 per
cent. Of the 27 patients who did not survive, some
had known co-morbidities including cancer and
heart disease, and the majority were assessed as
not suitable for surgical intervention, were managed
conservatively and provided with palliative care.
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Table 13: Survival rate for stroke, by age group
Calendar Year

2016
(part year)
(%)

2017
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

Target
(%)

0–49

96.5

96.8

97.1

100.0

97.7

≥95.2

50–59

98.8

95.2

98.7

97.3

96.8

≥94.9

60–69

91.2

97.4

96.5

96.9

95.6

≥94.1

70–79

93.4

92.9

92.4

93.8

91.7

≥92.3

80+

86.7

88.5

87.9

86.7

88.6

≥86.0

Age group (years)

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.

Survival rates for patients diagnosed with AMI improved in 2020, with three of the five age groups above the
target. The AMI survival rate of patients in the two age categories of 0–49 and 60–69 was 98 per cent, with
468 patients surviving out of 479 admissions. Of the 11 patients who did not survive, the majority had known
co-morbidities including heart disease, diabetes and cancer, and three were associated with an out of hospital
cardiac arrest. These patients received all available in-hospital interventions and high-level care but died despite
these interventions as a result of complications associated with their AMI.
Table 14: Survival rate for acute myocardial infarction, by age group
Calendar Year

2016
(part year)
(%)

2017
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

Target
(%)

0–49

98.7

99.4

97.9

97.5

98.6

≥99.1

50–59

100.0

98.8

97.0

98.8

99.3

≥98.8

60–69

100.0

97.2

97.8

97.3

97.3

≥98.1

70–79

97.2

97.6

97.4

96.6

97.6

≥96.8

80+

94.3

93.4

96.0

91.7

93.7

≥92.1

Age group (years)

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.

Table 15: Survival rate for fractured neck of femur, by age group
Calendar Year

2016
(part year)
(%)

2017
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

Target
(%)

70–79

100.0

100.0

99.1

100.0

99.4

≥98.9

80+

97.1

98.1

98.3

96.8

99.4

≥96.9

Age group (years)

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.

160

OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Percentage of admitted patients who discharged against medical
advice: a) Aboriginal patients; and b) non-Aboriginal patients

Rationale
Discharge against medical advice (DAMA) refers to
patients leaving hospital against the advice of their
treating medical team or without advising hospital
staff, e.g. absconding or missing and not found.
Patients who do so have a higher risk of readmission
and mortality4 and have been found to cost the
health system 50 per cent more than patients who
are discharged by their physician.5
Between July 2013 and June 2015 Aboriginal patients
in WA were almost 12.7 times more likely than
non-Aboriginal patients to DAMA, compared with
7 times nationally6. This statistic indicates a need
for improved responses by the health system to the
needs of Aboriginal patients.
This indicator provides a measure of the safety and
quality of inpatient care. Reporting the results by
Aboriginal status measures the effectiveness of
initiatives within the WA health system to deliver
culturally secure services to Aboriginal people. While
the aim is to achieve equitable treatment outcomes,
the targets reflect the need for a long term approach
to progressively closing the gap between Aboriginal
and non-Aboriginal patient cohorts.

Target
The target for Aboriginal patients is less than or
equal to 2.78 per cent. This target is based on a 50
per cent reduction in the gap between performance
for WA Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal patients from
the period of 2016/17 to 2017/18.
The target for non-Aboriginal patients is less than or
equal to 0.99 per cent and is based on the national
4
5
6

performance for non-Aboriginal patients over
the 2016/17 to 2017/18 period, as provided by the
Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.
An improved or maintained performance is
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the
target.

Results
The rate of non-Aboriginal DAMA remained within
target at 0.71 per cent. The Aboriginal DAMA rate
increased in 2020 and is above target.
The increasing Aboriginal DAMA rates is an
area of focus for SMHS, with a multidisciplinary
Aboriginal Health Focus Group formed to address
a range of priorities. These include Aboriginal
heath care education for health service staff and
the development of an Aboriginal health model of
care. An Aboriginal DAMA dashboard has also been
developed to support services in monitoring and
reviewing cases, to enable them to identify and act
on factors that may contribute to DAMA.
Table 16: Percentage of patients who DAMA
Calendar Year
Discharge
against
medical
advice

2017
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

Target
(%)

Aboriginal

2.89

2.73

3.50

3.59

≤2.78

NonAboriginal

0.60

0.74

0.73

0.71

≤0.99

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date
information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.

Yong et al. Characteristics and outcomes of discharges against medical advice among hospitalised patients. Internal medicine journal 2013:43(7):798-802.
Aliyu ZY. Discharge against medical advice: sociodemographic, clinical and financial perspectives. International journal of clinical practice 2002:56(5):325-27.
Commonwealth of Australia. (2017). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Performance Framework 2017 Report, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of less than 7
at 5 minutes post delivery

Rationale

Target

This indicator of the condition of newborn infants
immediately after birth provides an outcome
measure of intrapartum care and newborn
resuscitation.

An Apgar score of less than seven at five minutes
after birth is considered to be an indicator of
complications and compromise for the infant.

The Apgar score is an assessment of an infant’s
health at birth based on breathing, heart rate, colour,
muscle tone and reflex irritability. An Apgar score is
applied at one, five and (if required by the protocol)
ten minutes after delivery to determine how well the
infant is adapting outside the mother’s womb. Apgar
scores range from zero to two for each condition
with a maximum final total score of ten. The higher
the Apgar score the better the health of the newborn
infant.
This outcome measure can lead to the development
and delivery of improved care pathways and
interventions to improve the health outcomes of
Western Australian infants and aligns to the National
Core Maternity Indicators (2019) Health, Standard
19/06/2019.

The target for live born infants with an Apgar score of
seven or less at five minutes post-delivery is 1.8 per
cent and is based on the national average from the
Australian Institute of Health and Welfare publication
‘Australian’s mothers and babies – in brief’. In 2020/21
the target is the 2018 national figure.
Improved or maintained performance is
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the
target.

Results
An Apgar score of less than seven at five minutes
after birth is considered to be an indicator of
complications and compromise of the infant.
SMHS continues to perform well, with the percentage
of live born term infants with an Apgar below 7
remaining within the target rate for the past five
years.

Table 17: Percentage of live-born term infants with an Apgar score of less than seven, five minutes
post-delivery
Calendar Year

Percentage of live born infants

2016
(%)

2017
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

Target
(%)

1.1

1.3

1.4

0.8

1.0

≤1.8

Data source: Midwives Notification System.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Readmissions to acute specialised mental health inpatient services
within 28 days of discharge

Rationale

Target

Readmission rate is considered to be a global
performance measure as it potentially points to
deficiencies in the functioning of the overall mental
health care system.

The target is ≤12 per cent. The source of the target is
the Fourth National Mental Health Plan Measurement
Strategy (May 2011) produced by the Mental Health
Information Strategy Subcommittee, AHMAC, Mental
Health Standing Committee.

While multiple hospital admissions over a lifetime
may be necessary for someone with ongoing illness,
a high proportion of readmissions shortly after
discharge may indicate that inpatient treatment was
either incomplete or ineffective, or that follow-up
care was not adequate to maintain the patient’s
recovery out of hospital7. These readmissions mean
that patients spend additional time in hospital and
utilise additional resources. A low readmission rate
suggests that good clinical practice is in operation.
Readmissions are attributed to the facility at which
the initial separation (discharge) occurred rather
than the facility to which the patient was readmitted.
By monitoring this indicator, key areas for
improvement can be identified. This can facilitate the
development and delivery of targeted care pathways
and interventions aimed at improving the mental
health and quality of life of Western Australians.

Improved or maintained performance is
demonstrated by a result below or equal to the
target.

Results
In 2020, the rate of readmissions within 28 days to an
acute specialised mental health inpatient unit was
16 per cent. Whilst above the target, this represents
a continued reduction across SMHS, down by 3 per
cent since 2017.
A continued focus on collaboration with community
care services and patient discharge planning as well
as community follow-up have contributed to this
downward trend in mental health readmissions.

Table 18: Rate of Readmissions to acute specialised mental health inpatient services within 28 days of
discharge
Calendar Year

Readmissions rate

2017
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

Target
(%)

19

19

17

16

≤12

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data System.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.
7

Australian Health Ministers Advisory Council Mental Health Standing Committee (2011). Fourth National Mental Health Plan Measurement Strategy. Available at: https://
www.aihw.gov.au/getmedia/d8e52c84-a53f-4eef-a7e6-f81a5af94764/Fourth-national-mental-health-plan-measurement-strategy-2011.pdf.aspx.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFECTIVENESS KPI
Percentage of post-discharge community care within seven days
following discharge from acute specialised mental health inpatient
services

discharge plan that includes links with public
community based services and support, are less
likely to need avoidable hospital readmissions.

Rationale
In 2017/18, one in five (4.8 million) Australians
reported having a mental or behavioural condition8.
Therefore, it is crucial to ensure effective and
appropriate care is provided not only in a hospital
setting but also in the community.

Target
The target is ≥75 per cent.

Discharge from hospital is a critical transition point
in the delivery of mental health care. People leaving
hospital after an admission for an episode of mental
illness have increased vulnerability and, without
adequate follow up, may relapse or be readmitted.
The standard underlying this measure is that
continuity of care requires prompt community
follow-up in the period following discharge from
hospital. A responsive community support system for
persons who have experienced a psychiatric episode
requiring hospitalisation is essential to maintain
their clinical and functional stability and to minimise
the need for hospital readmissions. Patients leaving
hospital after a psychiatric admission with a formal

The target is an endorsed value from the Australian
Health Ministers Advisory Council Mental Health
Standing Committee, in May 2011.
Improved or maintained performance is
demonstrated by a result greater than or equal to the
target.

Results
The results indicate 82 per cent of all SMHS mental
health patients in 2020 received community followup within seven days of discharge from hospital.
SMHS performed above the target for this indicator,
with 2020 demonstrating the best performance for
the past five years.

Table 19: Percentage of post-discharge community care within seven days following discharge from
acute specialised mental health inpatient services
Calendar Year

Post discharge community
based contact

2016
(%)

2017
(%)

2018
(%)

2019
(%)

2020
(%)

Target
(%)

79

80

79

78

82

≥75

Data sources: Mental Health Information Collection, Hospital Morbidity Data Collection.
Note: As these are calendar KPIs, the latest and most up to date information reported refers to the 2020 calendar year results.

8
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National Health Survey 2017-18

OUTCOME 1 – EFFICIENCY KPI
Service 1: Public Hospital Admitted
Average admitted cost per weighted activity unit

Rationale

Results

This indicator is a measure of the cost per WAU
compared with the state target, as approved by the
Department of Treasury and published in the 2020/21
Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

SMHS delivered admitted activity at a cost per WAU
significantly lower than 2019/20 and slightly higher
than the target rate.

The measure ensures that a consistent methodology
is applied to calculating and reporting the cost
of delivering inpatient activity against the state’s
funding allocation. As admitted services received
nearly half of the overall 2020/21 budget allocation,
it is important that efficiency of service delivery is
accurately monitored and reported.

Target
The target is $7,073 per WAU.
A result on or below the target is desirable.

Whilst COVID-19 continued to impact the cost of
service delivery for the second successive year,
unlike 2019/20 SMHS hospitals were largely able to
maintain normal service delivery throughout 2020/21.
On top of normal demand, COVID-19 restrictions led
to a build-up in unmet patient demand. To alleviate
this SMHS undertook significant work in 2020/21 in
affected areas such as elective surgery. Aside from
making further improvements to general efficiency,
SMHS were able to deliver these expanded services
at less than full average cost, improving overall
efficiency.

Table 20: Average admitted cost per WAU

Average cost

2017/18
($)

2018/19
($)

2019/20
($)

2020/21
($)

Target
($)

7,279

7,056

7,229

7,075

7,073

Data source: Hospital Morbidity Data Collection, Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.
Note: This KPI includes PHC.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFICIENCY KPI
Service 2: Public Hospital Emergency Services
Average Emergency Department cost per weighted activity unit

Rationale

Results

This indicator is a measure of the cost per WAU
compared with the state target as approved by the
Department of Treasury, which is published in the
2020/21 Budget Paper No. 2, Volume 1.

COVID-19 had a significant impact on ED activity
levels initially and into the early months of 2020/21,
as patients avoided ED’s due to a perceived risk
of infection, as well as likely engaging in fewer
activities that result in ED attendances.

The measure ensures that a consistent methodology
is applied to calculating and reporting the cost of
delivering ED activity against the state’s funding
allocation. With the increasing demand on EDs
and health services, it is important that ED service
provision is monitored to ensure the efficient delivery
of safe and high quality care.

Target

From October 2020, ED activity began to return
to pre-COVID levels and remained strong for the
remainder of the financial year finishing almost 4 per
cent above the prior year.
Despite COVID-19 having some impact on increasing
costs in ED, SMHS were able to deliver ED services at
a cost well below the target rate.

The target is $6,853 per WAU.
A result on or below the target is desirable.
Table 21: Average Emergency Department cost per WAU

Average cost

2017/18
($)

2018/19
($)

2019/20
($)

2020/21
($)

Target
($)

6,137

6,427

6,919

6,799

6,853

Data sources: Emergency Department Data Collection, Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.
Note: This KPI includes PHC.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFICIENCY KPI
Service 3: Public Hospital Non-Admitted Services
Average non-admitted cost per weighted activity unit

Rationale

Results

This indicator is a measure of the cost per WAU
compared with the state (aggregated) target, as
approved by the Department of Treasury, which
is published in the 2020/21 Budget Paper No. 2,
Volume 1.

Non-admitted activity grew significantly in 2020/21
due to COVID-19 testing and the processing of
additional waitlist patients, stemming from a buildup of unmet demand in 2019/20.

The measure ensures that a consistent methodology
is applied to calculating and reporting the cost of
delivering non-admitted activity against the state’s
funding allocation. Non-admitted services play a
pivotal role within the spectrum of care provided to
the WA public; therefore, it is important that nonadmitted service provision is monitored to ensure the
efficient delivery of safe and high quality care.

Target

Outpatient activity grew by over 20 per cent on
the prior year and this new activity was delivered
efficiently (below activity based funded levels).
Non-admitted activity cost per WAU moved
significantly below target levels and the prior year
results in 2020/21. The continued inclusion of certain
types of drug costs in the numerator with the costs
excluded from the cost weights (denominator)
continues to artificially inflate the per unit cost of
provision making comparisons with other outcome
groups problematic.

The target is $7,025 per WAU.
A result on or below the target is desirable.

Table 22: Average non-admitted cost per WAU

Average cost

2017/18
($)

2018/19
($)

2019/20
($)

2020/21
($)

Target
($)

7,030

7,028

7,758

6,597

7,025

Data sources: Non Admitted Patient Activity and Wait List Data Collection, Interim Collection of Aggregate Data, Oracle 11i financial
system, OBM Application.
Note: This KPI includes PHC.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFICIENCY KPI
Service 4: Mental Health Services
Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient
services

Rationale

Results

Specialised mental health inpatient services provide
patient care in authorised hospitals and designated
mental health units located within hospitals. To
ensure quality of care and cost effectiveness, it
is important to monitor the unit cost of admitted
patient care in specialised mental health inpatient
services. The efficient use of hospital resources can
help minimise the overall costs of providing mental
health care and enable the reallocation of funds to
appropriate alternative non-admitted care.

SMHS designated mental health beds maintained
high occupancy levels throughout 2020/21, placing
a cap on activity growth in this area. To alleviate
pressure, SMHS sought to deliver mental health
activity outside these units using innovative services
such as HITH.

Target

With high occupancy rates and capped capacity
in these wards, the complexity of mental health
patients managed here are expected to increase over
time as lower complexity patients are moved out and
managed outside of these wards. This change will
put pressure on meeting the target going forward.

The target is $1,773 per bed-day in specialised mental
health inpatient services.

Despite these pressures the cost per bed-day
remained below target in 2020/21.

A result on or below the target is desirable.

Table 23: Average cost per bed-day in specialised mental health inpatient units

Average cost per bed day

2016/17
($)

2017/18
($)

2018/19
($)

2019/20
($)

2020/21
($)

Target
($)

2,098

1,594

1,590

1,645

1,731

1,773

Data sources: Bed State, Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.
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OUTCOME 1 – EFFICIENCY KPI
Service 4: Mental Health Services
Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care provided by
mental health services

Rationale

Target

Public community mental health services consist
of a range of community-based services such
as emergency assessment and treatment, case
management, day programs, rehabilitation,
psychosocial, residential services, and continuing
care. The aim of these services is to provide the
best health outcomes for the individual through the
provision of accessible and appropriate community
mental health care. Efficient functioning of public
community mental health services is essential to
ensure that finite funds are used effectively to deliver
maximum community benefit.

The target is $513 per treatment day of non-admitted
care provided by mental health services.

Public community-based mental health services
are generally targeted towards people in the acute
phase of a mental illness who are receiving postacute care. This indicator provides a measure of the
cost effectiveness of treatment for public psychiatric
patients under public community mental healthcare
(non-admitted/ambulatory patients).

A result on or below the target is desirable.

Results
The average cost per treatment day of non-admitted
mental health care saw a modest increase in
expenditure in 2020/21 and moved to a below target
position.
As these treatment days are not adjusted for patient
complexity this measure is less reliable with regards
to benchmarking against targets or across time.
Despite these shortcomings, the cost reductions
evident in this area present a favourable outcome for
SMHS hospitals.

Table 24: Average cost per treatment day of non-admitted care provided by mental health services

Average cost

2017/18
($)

2018/19
($)

2019/20
($)

2020/21
($)

Target
($)

584

500

479

497

513

Data sources: Mental Health Information Data Collection, Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation Application.
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OUTCOME 2 – EFFICIENCY KPI
Service 6: Public and Community Health Services
Average cost per person of delivering population health programs by
population health units

Rationale

Results

Population health units support individuals, families
and communities to increase control over and
improve their health.

Whilst the cost per person of delivering health
programs by population health units increased
in 2020/21 above 2019/20 and is now well above
target, increasing expenditure in population health
is seen as a cost-effective way of reducing health
expenditure growth over time.

Population health aims to improve health by
integrating all activities of the health sector and
linking them with broader social and economic
services and resources as described in the WA
Health Promotion Strategic Framework 2017–2021.
This is based on the growing understanding of the
social, cultural and economic factors that contribute
to a person’s health status.

With this consideration in mind it is notable that
SMHS’s target was lowered from $18 in 2019/20 to
$15 in 2020/21.

Target
The target is $15 per person of delivering health
programs by population health units.
A result below the target is desirable.
Table 25: Average cost per person of delivering programs by Population Health Units

Average cost per person

2016/17
($)

2017/18
($)

2018/19
($)

2019/20
($)

2020/21
($)

Target
($)

25

17

17

21

23

15

Data sources: 2018 calendar year population projected by the Epidemiology Branch, Oracle 11i financial system, OBM Allocation
Application.
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Governance and legal
compliance
Ministerial directives

The following informs WA public hospital patients’
fees and charges for:

On 2 July 2020, the Hon Roger Cook MLA, Minister
for Health issued a direction to HSPs pursuant to
section 61(1)(f) of the Financial Management Act
2006, to disclose all gifts and ex-gratia payments
over $100,000 made under section 36(5) of the Health
Services Act 2016 within their annual report.

Nursing home type patients

Pricing policy
The National Health Reform Agreement sets the
policy framework for the charging of public hospital
fees and charges. Under the Agreement, an eligible
person who receives public hospital services as
a public patient in a public hospital or a publicly
contracted bed in a private hospital is treated ‘free
of charge’. This arrangement is consistent with
the Medicare principles which are embedded in
the Health Services Act 2016 (WA). The majority of
hospital fees and charges for public hospitals are set
under Schedule 1 of the Health Services (Fees and
Charges) Order 2016 and are reviewed annually.
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The State charges public patients who require
nursing care and/or accommodation after the 35th
day of their stay in hospital, providing they no longer
need acute care and they are deemed to be Nursing
Home Type Patients. The total daily amount charged
is no greater than 87.5 per cent of the current daily
rate of the single aged pension and the maximum
daily rate of rental assistance.

Compensable or Medicare
ineligible patients
Patients who are either ‘private’ or ‘compensable’
and Medicare ineligible (overseas residents) may be
charged an amount for public hospital services as
determined by the State. The setting of compensable
and Medicare ineligible hospital accommodation
fees is set close to, or at, full cost recovery.

Private patients (Medicare
eligible Australian residents)
The Commonwealth DoH regulates the Minimum
Benefit payable by health funds to privately insured
patients for private shared ward and same day
accommodation. The Commonwealth also regulates
the Nursing Home Type Patient ‘contribution’ based
on March and September pension increases. To
achieve consistency with the Commonwealth Private
Health Insurance Act 2007, the State sets these fees
at a level equivalent to the Commonwealth Minimum
Benefit.

Veterans
Hospital charges of eligible war service veterans are
determined under a separate Commonwealth-State
agreement with the Department of Veterans’ Affairs.
Under this agreement, the DoH does not charge
medical treatment to eligible war service veteran
patients; instead medical charges are fully recouped
from the Department of Veterans’ Affairs.
The following fees and charges also apply:
y The PBS regulates and sets the price of
pharmaceuticals supplied to outpatients, patients
on discharge and for day admitted chemotherapy
patients. Inpatient medications are supplied free
of charge.
y The Dental Health Service charges to eligible
patients for dental treatment are based on the
Department of Veterans’ Affairs Fee Schedule of
dental services for dentists and dental specialists.

y Eligible patients are charged the following copayment rates:
− 50 per cent of the treatment fee if the patient
holds a current Health Care Card or Pensioner
Concession Card
− 25 per cent of the treatment fee if the patient
is the current holder of one of the above
cards and receives a near full pension or an
allowance from Centrelink or the Department
of Veterans’ Affairs.
There are other categories of fees specified under
Health Regulations through Determinations,
which include the supply of surgically implanted
prostheses, magnetic resonance imaging services
and pathology services. The pricing for these
hospital services is determined according to their
cost of service.

Capital works
SMHS continues to facilitate re-modelling and
development of health infrastructure within its
area of responsibility.
Table 26: Capital works completed in 2020/21

Project
Fremantle Hospital
and Health Service
Reconfiguration
SMHS – Moss St Lodge
Emergency Capital Works

Total cost
($ ‘000)
5,221
500
25
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Table 27: Capital works in progress in 2020/21

Project

Estimated total
cost 2020/21
($ ‘000)

Reported total
cost 2019/20
($ ‘000)

Variance
($ ‘000)

Expected
completion year

Variation to cost
explanation
(>=10%)

32,264

32,264

2022

FSH ICT – Pharmacy
Automation [refer note (d)]

9,600

9,600

2022

PHC – Development Stage 1

6,761

6,761

2023

1,701,524

1,701,524

2022

FSH ICT – Intensive Care
Clinical Information
Systems

4,200

4,200

2022

FSH – Facilities
Management Services
Contract Asset Solution
[refer note (e)]

15,188

15,188

2022

FSH – da Vinci System

4,950

4,950

2021

FSH Birthing Centre
[refer note (e)]

1,828

1,828

2022

PHC Reconfiguration of ED
[refer note (f)]

4,927

4,900

FSH – ICT Capital
Replacement

39,300

39,300

Fremantle Acute Mental
Health Beds

40,000

15,630

FH F Block Upgrade

900

900

2021

FH Theatre Upgrade

8,702

8,702

2023

RGH Cladding

5,400

3,200

FH Reconfiguration Stage 1

2,000

2,000 To be determined

New project

366

366 To be determined

New project

4,475

4,475 To be determined

New project

152,047

152,047 To be determined

New project

FSH ICT Commissioning

FSH – Development

SMHS Water Saving
Initiative
FSH Critical Works
PHC Transition

27

2022

Funding revised

2022
24,370

2,200

2024

2022

Funding revised

Funding revised

Notes of relevance:
(a) The above information is based on the ‘2020/21 Mid-Year Review Service Level Agreement’ and includes Budgeted Expense Capital allocation.
(b) Allocation from the medical equipment and minor works programs are not included as these are reported by the DoH.
(c) Completion timeframes are updated for latest expectations at the time of reporting.
(d) The expected completion date was revised due to dependencies on the HealthNext project.
(e) The expected completion date was revised due to the procurement time taking longer than expected.
(f) The expected completion date was revised to 2022; the project is in defect period.
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Employment profile
Government agencies are required to report a summary of the number of employees, by category, compared to
the preceding financial year.
Table 28: SMHS total FTE by category
Administration and
clerical
Includes all clerical-based
occupations together with patientfacing (ward) clerical support staff

Agency nursing

Assistants in nursing

Includes workers engaged on a
‘contract for service’ basis. Does
not include workers employed by
NurseWest

Support registered nurses and
enrolled nurses in delivery of
general patient care

1,108.39

1,167.70

22.60

20.07

184.21

197.69

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

Dental nursing

Hotel services

Maintenance services

Includes dental nurses and dental
clinic assistants

Includes catering, cleaning, stores/
supply laundry and transport
occupations

Includes engineering, garden and
security-based occupations

1.46

1.48

350.47

373.37

63.56

64.17

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

Medical

Medical support

Nursing and Midwifery

Includes all salary-based medical
occupations including interns,
registrars and specialist medical
practitioners

Includes all allied health and
scientific/ technical related
occupations

Includes all nursing occupations
including enrolled, registered and
clinical nurses, and midwives. Does
not include agency nurses

1,258.27

1,349.03

1,128.19

1,183.40

3,005.93

3,167.55

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

Other occupations

Sessional4

Not limited to but primarily includes
Aboriginal and ethnic health
specialist positions

Includes specialist medical
practitioners that are engaged on a
sessional basis

9.73

9.92

0.02

-

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

Notes:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Data source: HR Data Warehouse
Year-to-date FTE divides the total FTE paid in every pay fortnight to date by the number of periods possible during the financial year up to the date
specified.
FTE includes ordinary hours, overtime, all paid leave categories, public holidays, time-off-in-lieu and workers compensation. Penalties, allowances,
unpaid leave, leave cash-outs and terminations do not incur FTE.
Sessional staff have been moved to medical salaried as per Health Support Services project.
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Industrial relations
The Industrial Relations Policy MP 0025/16
established under the DoH Employment Policy
Framework defines service delivery responsibilities
of SMHS for industrial relations.
DoH is responsible for system-wide industrial
relations matters including negotiation and
registration of industrial instruments. SMHS is
responsible for:
y the application of the WA public sector legislative
and regulatory frameworks regulating employment
and industrial relations
y management of misconduct matters
y representation and advocacy in industrial tribunals
and courts
y engagement with unions and other external
stakeholders in industrial matters.
Key activities for 2020/21 included:
y continued coordination and advice on the
implementation of Commissioner’s Instruction
No. 23, which included actively managing and
reviewing more than 350 cases in 90 days covered
by the instruction
y supporting the transition of approximately 600
Serco staff to direct employment with SMHS
y coordination of submissions informing DoH of
upcoming enterprise bargaining negotiations
affecting SMHS medical and nursing employment
groups
y representation on up to 10 matters before various
industrial tribunals and courts
y education of managers regarding substandard
performance and appointment of fixedterm contract and casual staff to permanent
employment
y negotiation with unions and other relevant
external stakeholders in response to workplace
industrial disputes and workplace change
initiatives
y advice and assistance to managers and HR
relating to change management.
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Staff development
MyLearning, a new learning management system
(LMS) for SMHS launched on 1 June 2021 as part
transition to a single LMS platform. It is part of
a statewide WA Health initiative designed to
consolidate e-training and record keeping into
one system, greatly improving the user experience
while reducing time spent maintaining training and
records.
In February 2021, 16 Aboriginal graduate nurses
started working in SMHS across FSH, FH and
RGH sites in maternity, mental health and other
areas. The Aboriginal Health Strategy team and
FSFHG Nursing and Midwifery Education Services
developed a tailored two-day pre-induction program
to strengthen bonds and build capacity in the
graduates.
Recruitment for the 2021 Aboriginal cadet program
was finalised in December 2020 with SMHS opening
placements to five Aboriginal cadets in early 2021.

The LMS continues to provide a wide selection of
optional courses for FSH staff to access in support of
further learning, capabilities and SMHS values. Risk
solution workshops with teams in their local work
area continue to assist with problem solving patient
handling, aggression and ergonomic concerns.
Product development continues in consultation with
the Education, Training and Operations Group with
current learning being developed for:
y Appreciative enquire – eLearning module
fostering a strengths-based, positive approach
to leadership development and organisational
change
y Speak up for Safety – this eLearning module will
foster culture change from within, normalising
collegiate two-way communication to prevent
unintended patient harm
y Lite Learns – scheduled face-to-face drop in
sessions on topical areas such as emotional
intelligence, fitness bites, challenging
conversations, coaching and mentoring.
As part of the value added service provision, the
Learning and Development team continued to
honour the annual training allocation threshold from
10 hours per employee to 15 hours. This has resulted
in increased flexibility for employees to access
training and promote continuous learning and
improvement.

Additional HRMS learning accessed included the
following modules via the Corporate LMS:
Top 18 most accessed value
added learning module

Number of
employees

Speak up for Safety

208

Emotional Intelligence

75

OSHE Risk Solutions Workshop

68

Clear and Concise Emails

67

Do You Overreact?

66

Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19)

61

Psychosocial Risks at Work

36

CHoIR – Combined Hazard or
Incident Reporting: General
User Training

27

Giving Clear Work Priorities

27

OSHE Chemical Management

25

Human Factors for Safety
Module 1: Cognitive Processing

23

Persevere During Setbacks

22

Financial Management
Module 1: Introduction to Health
Funding Model and Revenue

20

Challenging conversations with
colleagues

19

Leadership and Management:
Conflict Management

19

Leadership and Management:
Difficult Conversations

18

Human Factors for Safety
Module 6: Leadership

15

Human Factors for Safety
Module 2: Decision-Making

15
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Workers’ compensation

Table 29: Workers’ compensation claims
Employee category

SMHS is committed to providing staff with a safe and
healthy work environment, and recognises this is
essential to attracting and retaining the workforce
needed to deliver effective and efficient health care
services.

24

A total of 196 workers’ compensation claims were
made in 2020/21 (refer to Table 29).

Medical support

18

Hotel services

49

For further details on the occupational safety, health
and injury management processes within SMHS,
please refer to the Occupational Safety, Health and
Injury section of this report (page 181).

Maintenance

11

Medical (salaried)

4

For the purposes of this section, employee categories
are defined as:
y administration and clerical – includes
administration staff and executives, ward clerks,
receptionists and clerical staff
y medical support – includes physiotherapists,
speech pathologists, medical imaging
technologists, pharmacists, occupational
therapists, dietitians and social workers
y hotel services – includes cleaners, caterers and
patient service assistants.
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Nursing services/
dental care assistants
Administration and clerical

Number of
claims in
2020/21
90

Total

196

Notes:
•

•

Data includes all claims lodged in 2020/21 regardless of
acceptance status. Accident dates may not align with lodgement
date.
Data excludes non-WA Health staff (ie. Serco staff at FSH).

Pecuniary interests
Senior officers of government are required to declare
any interest in or proposed contract that has, or
could result in, the member receiving a financial
benefit. There were no pecuniary interests declared
by SMHS senior officers in 2020/21.

Unauthorised use of
credit cards
Relevant SMHS staff are authorised and issued with
a corporate credit (purchasing) card if their job
function requires usage of this facility. Credit cards
are not for personal use by the cardholder. Should a
cardholder use a credit card for personal purposes,
they must give written notice to SMHS within
five working days and refund the total amount of
expenditure.
Despite being made aware of obligations pertaining
to the use of credit cards, 1 SMHS cardholder used
their card for personal purposes. The full amount
$49.00 was refunded before the end of the reporting
period.
Table 30: Personal use expenditure by SMHS
cardholders
Credit card personal
use expenditure

2020/21
($)

Aggregate amount of personal
use expenditure for the reporting
period

49.00

Aggregate amount of personal
use expenditure settled by the
due date (within 5 working days)

Nil

Aggregate amount of personal
use expenditure settled after the
period (after 5 working days)

49.00

Summary of board and
committee remuneration
The total remuneration for each SMHS board
and committee is listed in Table 31. For details
of individual board or committee members’
remuneration refer to Appendix 2 (page 194).
Table 31: Total remuneration for SMHS Board
and Committees

Aggregate amount of personal
use expenditure outstanding at
the end of the reporting period

Nil

Aggregate amount of personal
use expenditure outstanding at
the end of the reporting period

Nil

Board/committee name
South Metropolitan Service
Provider Board

Total
remuneration
488,664

Community Advisory Council,
Rockingham General Hospital

14,105

Peel Mental Health Consumer
Advisory Group

4,675

Rockingham Mental Health
Consumer Advisory Group

3,335
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Substantive equality
SMHS is committed to addressing systemic
inequalities where they exist in line with the DoH
Policy Framework for Substantive Equality and
has implemented programs and initiatives across
multiple disciplines to improve service delivery for
disadvantaged Western Australians.

Aboriginal workforce
In 2020/21, SMHS continued to build its Aboriginal
workforce through targeted initiatives, resulting
in a 13.8 per cent increase in employment rates of
Aboriginal staff across various levels and disciplines.
Initiatives included:
y development of a tailored two-day pre-induction
program for Aboriginal graduate nurses to
strengthen bonds and build capacity in the
graduates
y implementing the Aboriginal Cadet Program
which offers Aboriginal tertiary students the
opportunity to gain work experience while
completing their undergraduate degree.

Cultural awareness and
security
The Aboriginal Health Champions Program ran for the
third year, with 182 trained champions across SMHS
at the end of the financial year and an additional
61 waiting to be inducted. On completion of the
program, champions are tasked with practicing
culturally responsive care for Aboriginal consumers,
community and workforce. Three toolbox sessions
with a total of 30 participants were run with
community members to openly discuss common
topics such as ‘Communication with Aboriginal
people’ and ‘Family and Kinship’.
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Western Australian
Multicultural Policy
Framework
The SMHS Multicultural Plan 2021–2025 was
submitted to the Minister for Multicultural Interests
in December 2020.
The plan aims to progress the goal of SMHS being
a health service that supports equal opportunities
for all consumers and staff, including those from
culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds.
Significant consultation was undertaken with
internal and external stakeholders during the plan’s
development to ensure it addressed gaps in the
delivery of care for culturally and linguistically
diverse (CaLD) patients and meets community
needs.
A key strategy in the plan was the development
and implementation of a SMHS Equity, Diversity
and Inclusion Plan. The plan which is in the final
consultation phase, contains actions and initiatives
that will be implemented across the organisation to
promote an inclusive and respectful workplace for
all staff.

Occupational safety,
health and injury
management
Commitment to occupational
safety and health, and injury
management
SMHS is committed to creating a safe workplace
for staff, volunteers, students, contractors and
visitors, and ensuring that safety considerations are
integrated into all areas of the organisation through
the following principles:
y striving towards a zero harm environment, both
physically and psychologically, for staff
y supporting managers in assessing risks and
developing and implementing strategies to
improve safety in the workplace
y continuously improving the health and safety
management system to ensure it meets the needs
of staff, complies with legislation and relevant
standards, and focuses on reduction of incidents
and injuries
y instilling a WHS reporting culture to ensure SMHS
can measure its performance and meet WHS
targets
y engaging with managers, staff, volunteers and
contractors to promote accountability and action
to improve safety for all aspects of the workplace
y not tolerating aggression, physical or verbal,
against staff, and supporting staff to take
appropriate action against those who threaten or
commit violence.

The SMHS WHS management system includes
policies, procedures, strategies, and development
of best practice preventive programs to achieve
positive outcomes. All policies and procedures
articulate clear responsibilities. Hazard and risk
management processes are supported through an
electronic reporting system, Combined Hazard or
Incident Report (CHoIR), and other tools such as
audits, workplace inspections, and risk assessments.
All relevant information is available to staff on the
SMHS intranet hub.
Enhancements to hazard and incident reporting
processes include upgrades to CHoIR to improve
the user experience, and the introduction of a WHS
Incident Classification (WIC) system to support
investigation and escalation of incidents based on
risk.
The SMHS WHS training for managers eLearning
package was updated in early 2021 to include hazard,
incident and chemical management procedures,
injury management and workers’ compensation, and
fitness for duty.
The annual SMHS WHS Recognition Program
promotes and supports safety and health activities
across SMHS through an award presentation during
National Safe Work Month in October. Awards
are presented by the SMHS Chief Executive and
sponsors in categories such as Safety Innovation,
and Individual Safety Achievement. The presentation
event, supported by sponsorship, is attended by
Board, management and staff actively recognises the
achievements in health and safety across SMHS.

This commitment is documented, reviewed annually
and signed by the Chief Executive, and displayed
throughout SMHS hospitals. It is also available to staff
through the SMHS intranet hub.
SMHS’ commitment to health and safety is also
demonstrated through a robust WHS committee
governance structure, the support of over 240
elected safety and health representatives (SHRs)
and the SMHS WHS Plan outlining the priorities and
activities for managing and improving WHS across
SMHS.
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Compliance with
occupational safety, health
and injury management
y The SMHS WHS management system complies
with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Management Act 1981. An injury management
system is in place, documented in the SMHS Injury
Management Policy and Procedure and available
on the SMHS WHS intranet hub.
y Injured workers are supported by managers
in their return to work. Managers are active
participants in the management and workplace
rehabilitation of injured workers providing
opportunities, depending on medically indicated
restrictions, for full and modified return to work
programs.
y SMHS managers are supported in their
management of injured workers by injury
management consultants, through WHS for
Managers eLearning training, and a range of
resources available on the SMHS WHS intranet
hub.
y Following a successful pilot in late 2020, the SMHS
Workplace Injury Early Intervention Program
will be rolled out across SMHS sites. The early
intervention program supports injured workers to
access early assessment and treatment following
a workplace injury to facilitate improved return to
work outcomes.
y Injury management software, SolvInjury, was
implemented across SMHS in September 2020.
SolvInjury is a database for recording and
maintaining case files for workers’ compensation
claims and fitness for duty concerns and supports
the activities of injury management teams in their
interactions with managers and injured workers.
Implementing the system has streamlined injury
management processes locally and enabled
SMHS-wide oversight of cases.
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Staff consultation
Consultative mechanisms in SMHS include:
y WHS committees bringing staff and management
together to assist in the development and review
of health and safety policies and procedures, and
issue resolution processes in SMHS workplaces
y safety and health representative network
members, elected to represent respective work
areas, who are vital to investigating hazards
and incidents and working with managers
to implement recommended controls and
improvement strategies
y staff forums, meetings, and toolboxes held across
SMHS hospitals that allow for further collaboration
and consultation on WHS matters.

Occupational safety and
health assessment and
performance
The SMHS WHS audit program consists of two levels
of WHS audits conducted across SMHS:
y level 1 – to verify the SMHS WHS management
system complies with legislation and the
standards in accordance with ISO 45001:2018
y level 2 – to verify the activities of each SMHS
site comply with the requirements stated in the
SMHS WHS management system, and site-specific
policies and procedures.
Level 1 audits of the SMHS WHS management system
are undertaken across a three-yearly cycle with the
next audits due in late 2021.
In 2018, a level 1 audit of the SMHS WHS management
system was undertaken by an external contractor
and findings reported in late 2018. All 65 actions
resulting from the findings of the audit have been
completed.
All level 2 audits scheduled in 2020/21 have been
undertaken and actions to remedy recommendations
completed. Level 2 audits include reviews of
hazardous chemicals, first aid kits, spill kits,
incident and hazard management, contractors,

occupational exposures, psychological injury and
stress, workplace aggression and violence, manual
tasks, work at heights, slips trips and falls, injury
management and communication and consultation.
Level 2 audits are conducted by WHS teams across
SMHS sites.

In 2020, a stocktake process was implemented and
included in the SMHS Chemical Safety Management
Procedure to ensure that the SMHS ChemAlert
database is maintained and accurately reflects
chemical storage at SMHS sites. Audits of chemical
management procedures will be undertaken by
SMHS WHS teams in 2021/22.

Table 32: 2020/21 occupational safety, health and injury management performance
Actual Results

Results against target

2019/20
%

2020/21
%

Target

0

0

0

Lost time injury
and/or disease
incident rate

2.4%

3.06

0 or 10% Negative increase in incident rate from 2019/20
reduction to 2020/21 against target of <2.75%. While there
are a number of causes for increasing incident
rate, an increase in claims with lost time over the
year is most likely. Improvement strategies include
implementation of an early intervention program,
procurement of injury management software
support system, and local plans for managing high
risk mechanisms.

Lost time injury
and/or disease
severity rate

40.70

49.73

0 or 10% Negative reduction in severity rate from 2019/20 to
reduction 2020/21 against target of <44.75%. Improvement
strategies include implementation of an early
intervention program, procurement of injury
management software support system, and local
plans for managing high risk mechanisms.

Percentage of
injured workers
returned to work
within 13 weeks

49

46.2

Greater
than or
equal to
80%

Marginal negative decrease in 13 week return to
work rate from 2019/20 to 2020/21. Improvement
strategies include implementation of an early
intervention program, procurement of injury
management software support system, and local
plans for managing high risk mechanisms.

Percentage of
injured workers
returned to work
within 26 weeks

56

60.2

Greater
than or
equal to
80%

Positive increase in 26 week return to work rate
from 2019/20 to 2020/21. Improvement strategies
include implementation of an early intervention
program, procurement of injury management
software support system, and local plans for
managing high risk mechanisms.

Percentage of
managers trained
in occupational,
health and injury
management
responsibilities

84

79

Greater
than or
equal to
80%

Marginal decrease in compliance of managers with
health and safety training from 2019/20 to 2020/21.
Improvement strategies include an update of the
SMHS WHS for managers eLearning, and WHS
team focus on reporting and targeted reminders to
managers to improve compliance.

Measure
Number of fatalities

Comment on result
Achieved
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Advertising
SMHS incurred a total advertising expenditure of
$15,141 for 2020/21.
Table 33: Advertising by class of expenditure
Expenditure

Amount
($)

Advertising agencies

nil

Market research organisations

nil

Polling organisations

nil

Direct mail organisations

nil

Media advertising organisations

15,141

Table 34: Advertising by agency
Media advertising
organisations

Amount
($)

Initiative Media Australia Pty Ltd

6,470

Carat Australia Media Services
Pty Limited

2,962

Hg Leadership Pty Ltd

2,091

Australian And New Zealand
College of Anaesthetists

1,870

The Australasian College for
Emergency Medicine

605

Curtin University of Technology

495

Liberated Syndication

438

Facebook Ireland Limited

210

Charitable gifts and
ex-gratia expenses
Pursuant to section 61(1)(f) of the Financial
Management Act 2006, SMHS did not make any
charitable gifts or ex-gratia payments over $100,000
in 2020/21.
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Disability access and inclusion
SMHS is committed to providing health care that is respectful and responsive to the needs of all members of the
community. The importance of providing more accessible and inclusive care is demonstrated by the numerous
initiatives and activities that were implemented in 2020/21. Collaborating and consulting with consumers with
lived experience of disability to plan and evaluate service delivery will continue to be a focus for SMHS.

Outcome 1:
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, and
events organised by, a public authority.
y Through the SMHS Outpatient Reform Program, patients with disability can now access the same high quality
care from their home as if they attended our facilities in person via virtual care (Virtual Outpatient Care).
y RkPG Mental Health Services uses a variety of electronic solutions to improve access for mental health
consumers who may experience challenges attending clinic appointments. The use of virtual care to deliver
relaxation group sessions and facilitate better contact with mental health professionals helped patients
experiencing travel and public transport barriers.

Outcome 2:
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings and
other facilities of a public authority.
y FSH is improving access for patients with cognitive impairment (CI) through a range of environmental
improvements in ward areas. These improvements include painting bathroom doors and trims in different
colour tones, changing white toilet seats to colour-contrast blue, and developing and printing CI stickers
to assist patients to identify bathrooms, toilets and light switches. This work, building on environmental
changes implemented at FH, has also been implemented at MDH.

Outcome 3:
People with disabilities receive information from a public authority in a format that will enable them
to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.
y As a result of feedback provided by the SMHS Disability Advisory Network, registration processes at the
COVID-19 test clinic at FSH were updated to identify attendees who require information in easy read formats.
Large signs in easy read format are now displayed in the waiting area, providing access to further sources of
information for people with disability.
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Outcome 4:
People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of a public
authority as other people receive from the staff of that public authority.
y Education, tools and resources developed to assist State Rehabilitation Service clinicians to navigate National
Disability Insurance Scheme pathways more efficiently facilitated timely and safe hospital discharge for
patients.
y Building collaborative inter-agency relationships with staff at the National Disability Insurance Agency (NDIA)
and community service providers enabled rapid decision making by the NDIA, leading to reduced length of
stay and increased confidence and skill among staff to support their patients. As a result, patients experience
more timely access to the disability support needed to help them in their daily life post discharge.

Outcome 5:
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints to a public
authority.
y People with disability can provide feedback verbally, in written format and via the social media platform, Care
Opinion. Using these feedback processes, a number of patients highlighted concerns with access to ACROD
bays within certain car parks across the FSH site. In response, SMHS allocated additional parking officers to
assist people with disabilities at busy times of the day by identifying ACROD holders within the queue and
providing priority car park access.

Outcome 6:
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public
consultation by a public authority.
y Work has commenced on the SMHS Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 2022–2027, including
development of an engagement plan that outlines the stakeholders who will be consulted to identify
opportunities to improve access and equity to SMHS services for people with disability. A number of
engagement methods, including focus groups and surveys, will be used to obtain feedback and input into the
DAIP.

Outcome 7:
People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain
employment.
y SMHS Workforce has developed a Memorandum of Understanding/Service Level Agreement template for
use when engaging the services of Disability Employment Providers (DEP). The document clearly articulates
the duties and responsibilities of both SMHS and the DEP, ensuring staff with disability are provided the
necessary support and supervision they require for the duration of their employment.
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Compliance with Public
Sector Standards
Public Sector Standards
The Public Sector Standards in HR Management
set out the minimum standards of merit, equity and
probity required of all WA public sector bodies and
their employees.
SMHS ensures ongoing compliance with these
standards by:
y supplying new employees with information about
the standards and HR policies and procedures as
part of their induction
y managing breach of standard claims in
accordance with the Public Sector Management
(Breaches of Public Sector Standards) Regulations
2005
y developing, reviewing and implementing policies,
procedures and practices
y providing HR and industrial relations consultants
to assist managers and staff in HR activities
y training employee support officers, who are
available to all staff
y informing staff of the need to comply with the
standards by ensuring information is available
and accessible on the SMHS intranet and through
electronic newsletter reminders
y ensuring redeployment of staff is managed in
accordance with the Public Sector Commission’s
(PSC) Employment and Redeployment Standards,
the PSC Instructions and the Public Sector
Management (Redeployment and Redundancy)
Regulations 2014
y ensuring equitable and timely resolution
of employee grievances and promoting a
commitment to providing a safe and positive
workplace. In 2020/21 this included an extensive
review of the SMHS Grievance Resolution
Procedure for Employees and Managers.

During 2020/21:

5

claims were lodged against
the employment standard

1

claim was resolved by
SMHS and did not result in a
breach of standard

4

claims were sent to
the PSC for review and were
dismissed with no breach of
standard found

2

claims were lodged against the
Grievance Resolution Standard.

Both were resolved by SMHS and did not result
in a breach of standards.

Code of Conduct
SMHS works within DoH’s Employment Framework
and Code of Conduct, which are underpinned by the
WA Public Sector Code of Ethics.
SMHS demonstrates its commitment to the principles
of appropriate behaviour in the following ways:
y monthly meetings between the SMHS Chief
Executive, Manager HR and Manager Integrity
and Ethics to discuss active discipline and
performance management cases
y monthly reports to the SMHS Board Audit and
Risk Committee and Area Executive Group which
provides analysis in relation to breaches of
discipline (misconduct matters)
y continued commitment to and development of key
integrity framework documents including the:
− SMHS Integrity and Ethical Governance
Framework (v5) updated in October 2020
− SMHS Discipline Guidelines published in
December 2019
− SMHS Unexplained Medication Discrepancy
Management Framework (v3) updated in
November 2020
− SMHS Fraud and Corruption Control Plan (v1.7)
updated in August 2020
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y conduct-related staff training, including:
− accountable and ethical decision making
− protecting our patients’ confidential
information
− managing conflicts of interest
− acceptance of gifts, hospitality and benefits
y commitment to the PSC Integrity Strategy for WA
Public Authorities 2020–2023
y consideration of relevant reports issued by the
WA oversight bodies including the Corruption and
Crime Commission (CCC) and the PSC
y acceptance of an invitation from the PSC for the
SMHS Manager, Integrity and Ethics to form a part
of the PSC’s Integrity Practitioners Group.

Staff compliance with the DoH’s Code of Conduct
is monitored via reports of breaches of discipline.
During 2020/21, a total 105 complaints of
suspected breaches of discipline were finalised:

25

49

31
y

y

y

31 matters were assessed as not meeting the
threshold of either ‘minor’ or ‘serious’
misconduct and finalised in line with the
DoH Discipline Policy
25 matters were assessed as meeting the
threshold of ‘minor’ misconduct, i.e. reportable
to the PSC
49 matters were assessed as meeting the
threshold of ‘serious’ misconduct, i.e. reportable
to the CCC.

Of these 105 matters:

10
29

55

11
y
y
y
y

55 were either fully or partially substantiated
11 matters resulted in allegations being not
substantiated
29 were progressed via a non-disciplinary
pathway
10 resulted in no suspicion being formed, or the
allegation was withdrawn or dropped.

Investigations, when required, were either
undertaken by a delegated SMHS staff member or
by an investigator sourced through the Common
Use Arrangements. Neither the PSC nor the CCC
undertook any investigation on behalf of SMHS.
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Integrity Strategy for
WA Public Authorities
2020–2023
In December 2019, the PSC released its Integrity
Strategy for WA Public Authorities 2020–2023. The
strategy aims to improve integrity within the WA
public sector and sets clear actions for all public
authorities. The strategy provides an additional
avenue for SMHS to promote integrity matters
helping in the prevention of fraud and corruption.
Following a review into the four key areas identified
within the PSC strategy, SMHS has implemented
an action plan to ensure appropriate controls are
implemented where there is an identified need. A
review will be undertaken annually and confirmation
of this assessment will form part of the SMHS
Integrity and Ethical Governance Framework.

Recordkeeping plans
SMHS continues to develop and implement
recordkeeping initiatives in accordance with
the State Records Act 2000 and State Records
Commission Standard 2, including:
y reviewing the SMHS Recordkeeping Plan for
submission to the State Records Commission in
December 2021
y delivering recordkeeping training to all new SMHS
employees and undertaking a review of content
and delivery method of the training
y keeping staff informed on best practice
recordkeeping information through a dedicated
records management intranet site providing as
well as through electronic newsletter reminders
and targeted training sessions as and when
required.
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Appendices

Appendix 1
Addresses and contacts
South Metropolitan
Health Service
14 Barry Marshall Parade, MURDOCH WA 6150
Locked Bag 100, PALMYRA DC WA 6961
(08) 6152 2222
SMHS.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au
www.smhs.health.wa.gov.au

2 Abbott Street, ROTTNEST WA 6161
RINP, c/o Fiona Stanley Hospital, PO Box 100,
PALMYRA DC WA 6961
(08) 9292 5030
(08) 9292 5121
FSH.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au
www.fsh.health.wa.gov.au

Fiona Stanley Fremantle
Hospitals Group

Rockingham Peel Group

Fiona Stanley Hospital

Rockingham General Hospital

11 Robin Warren Drive, MURDOCH WA 6150
Locked Bag 100, PALMYRA DC WA 6961
(08) 6152 2222
FSH.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au
www.fsh.health.wa.gov.au

Fremantle Hospital
South Terrace (near Alma Street),
FREMANTLE WA 6160
PO Box 480, FREMANTLE WA 6959
(08) 9431 3333
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Rottnest Island Nursing Post

Elanora Drive, COOLOONGUP WA 6168
PO Box 2033, ROCKINGHAM WA 6968
(08) 9599 4000
(08) 9599 4619
RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au
www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Murray District Hospital
McKay Street, PINJARRA WA 6208
PO Box 243, PINJARRA WA 6208
(08) 9531 7222

(08) 9431 2921

(08) 9531 7241

FH.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.fhhs.health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Peel Mental Health Service (Adult)

Mandurah Community Health Centre

110 Lakes Road, MANDURAH WA 6210

112 Lakes Road, MANDURAH WA 6210

PO Box 162, MANDURAH 6210

112 Lakes Road, MANDURAH WA 6210

(08) 9531 8080

(08) 9586 4402

(08) 9531 8070

(08) 9586 4499

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Rockingham Peel Group Mental Health
Service (Adult and Older Adult)
Cnr Clifton and Ameer Streets, ROCKINGHAM
6168
PO Box 288, ROCKINGHAM 6968

Peel Health Campus (Public)*
110 Lakes Road, MANDURAH WA 6210
110 Lakes Road, MANDURAH WA 6210
(08) 9531 8000

(08) 9528 0600

(08) 9531 8578

(08) 9529 1266

Enquiries.PHC@ramsayhealth.com.au

RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au

www.ramsayhealth.com.au

www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au

Kwinana Community Health
1 Peel Row, KWINANA WA 6167

* Public health services provided by Ramsay Health
Care Australia Pty Ltd on behalf of the WA State
Government.

PO Box 187, KWINANA WA 6966
(08) 9419 2266
(08) 9419 1088
RkPG.GeneralEnquiries@health.wa.gov.au
www.rkpg.health.wa.gov.au
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Appendix 2: Board and
committee remuneration
South Metropolitan Service Provider Board
(Referred to as South Metropolitan Health Service Board)

Position

Chair
Chair

Deputy Chair

Member

Member

Member

Member

Member
Member

Member
Member

Name

Type of
remuneration

Robert
McDonald

Annual

Robyn Collins

Annual

Kim Gibson

Ryan Atkinson

Amanda
Boudville
Julian
Henderson
Susan Le Souef

Colin Murphy
Yvonne Parnell

Liam Roche
David Rowe

Annual

Annual

Annual

Annual

Annual

Annual
Annual

Annual
Annual

Period of
membership
(months)
2020/21

3 weeks
12

12

12

12

12

12

5
12

Term of appointment and
tenure

76,230 (per
annum)

8,000.50

1 July 2016 to 8 November 2023
(reappointed for a further 3
years on 9 November 2020)

76,230 (per
annum)

84,645.361

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2022
(reappointed for a further 3
years on 1 July 2019)

41,926 (per annum)

45,762.08

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022
(reappointed for a further 2
years on 1 July 2020)

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

45,762.08

17 July 2017 to 30 June 2023
(reappointed for a further 3
years on 1 July 2020)

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

45,762.08

1 July 2016 to 8 November 2023
(reappointed for a further 3
years on 9 November 2020)

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

45,762.08

9 March 2020 to 8 November
2023
(reappointed for a further 3
years on 9 November 2020)

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

47,522.161

9 November 2020 to
8 November 2022

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

28,161.28

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2023
(reappointed for a further 3
years on 1 July 2020)

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

45,762.08

12 August 2019 to 30 June 2022

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

45,762.08

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2023
(reappointed for a further 3
years on 1 July 2020)

825 (per full day)
537 (per half day)

45,762.08

* Includes superannuation
1. A portion of this allowance belongs to 2019/20 however was paid in the 2020/21 financial year.
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Gross/
actual
($)*

1 July 2016 to 30 June 2022
Resigned as of 24 July 2020

12
12

Base salary/
sitting fees
$

Consumer Advisory Council, RGH

Position

Name

Type of
remuneration

Period of
membership
(months)
2020/21

Term of appointment and
tenure

Base salary/
sitting fees
$

Gross/
actual
($)*

Chair

Phoenix Huege
de Serville

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

12

Two year term
1 February 2021 to
28 February 2023

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

1,977.50

Vice Chair

Judith Balfe

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

12

Two year term
1 February 2021 to
28 February 2023

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

2,607.50

Member

Ashton
Calteaux

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

12

Two year term
1 February 2021 to
28 February 2023

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

1,977.50

Member

Glenice Garvie

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

12

Two year term
1 February 2021 to
28 February 2023

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

1,557.50

Member

Rowan
Lambert

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

12

Two year term
1 February 2020 to
28 February 2022

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

1,417.50

Member

Sharyn Pickett

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

12

Two year term
1 December 2020 to
31 December 2022

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

1,347.50

Member

Margaret Spray

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

12

Two year term
1 February 2021 to
28 February 2023

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

1,750

Member

Sally Whyte

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

4

Two year term
11 March 2021 to
31 March 2023

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

647.50

Member

Rachel Wilson

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

3

Two year term
13 May 2021 to 31 May 2023

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

227.50

Member

Tom Avery

Hourly
attendance at
meetings

4

Two year term
20 January 2020 to
8 October 2020 (resigned)

35 per hr
(minimum
2 hours)

595
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Peel Mental Health Consumer Advisory Group

Position

Name

Type of
remuneration

Term of appointment
and tenure

Base salary/
sitting fees*
$

Gross/
actual
($)*

Chair

Helen Abbott

Per meeting

12

Three year term
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023

70 per meeting

$570

Member

Stuart
Anderson

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 October 2019 to 30
September 2021

70 per meeting

$635

Member

Raymond
Hendra

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

$640

Member

Kirsty Holloway Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022

70 per meeting

$570

Member

Sue Jowett

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

$710

Member

Saffron Murfitt

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

$570

Member

Sasha Nelson

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 May 2021 to 30 April 2023

70 per meeting

$350

Member

Noel Reed

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 November 2020 to 31 October
2022
70 per meeting

$280

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

$350

N/A

N/A

Member

Edwina (Ani)
Ross

Per meeting

Staff
support

Susie
IsherwoodO’Donnell

SMHS
employee

*Sitting fee increased to $75 per meeting in April 2021
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Period of
membership
(months)
2020/21

12
N/A

N/A

Rockingham Mental Health Consumer Advisory
Group

Position

Name

Type of
remuneration

Period of
membership
(months)
2020/21

Term of appointment
and tenure

Base salary/
sitting fees*
$

Gross/
actual
($)*

Chair

Lisa Langlands

Per meeting

12

Three year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2022

70 per meeting

570

Member

Ingrid Bentsen

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

500

Member

Lesley Jardine

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

640

Member

Linda
Maddocks

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

210

Member

Richard Papais

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 October 2019 to 30
September 2021

70 per meeting

280

Member

Kathryn Porter

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2019 to 31 July 2021

70 per meeting

565

Member

Soraya Tynan

Per meeting

12

Two year term
1 August 2020 to 31 July 2022

70 per meeting

570

Staff
support

Lee Semmler

SMHS
employee

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

*Sitting fee increased to $75 per meeting in April 2021
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Appendix 3: List of acronyms
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Acronym Explanation

Acronym Explanation

AAS

Australian Accounting Standards

PBS

Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme

Apgar

Appearance, pulse, grimace, activity and respiration

PHC

Peel Health Campus

ATO

Australian Taxation Office

PSC

Public Sector Commission

CCC

Corruption and Crime Commission

RGH

Rockingham General Hospital

CHOICE

Consider Home Over Inpatient Care Every

RkPG

Rockingham Peel Group

DAMA

Discharge against medical advice

SAC

Severity assessment code

DiT

Doctors in training

SMHS

South Metropolitan Health Service

DoH

Department of Health

TI

Treasurer’s Instruction

ED

Emergency department

VEM

Virtual Emergency Medicine

ENT

Ear, nose and throat

VFC

Virtual Fracture Clinic

FBT

Fringe Benefits Tax

WA

Western Australia

FFS

Fee for service

WAPHA

WA Primary Health Alliance

FH

Fremantle Hospital

WAU

Weighted activity unit

FNOF

Fractured neck of femur

WEAT

Western Australian emergency access target

FSFHG

Fiona Stanley Fremantle Hospitals Group

WHS

Work health and safety

FSH

Fiona Stanley Hospital

WSS

West State Superannuation

FTE

Full time equivalent

GESB

Government Employees Superannuation Board

GP

General Practitioner

GSS

Gold State Superannuation

GST

Goods and services tax

HA-SABSI

Healthcare associated Staphylococcus aureus
bloodstream infections

HISWA

Healthcare Infections Surveillance WA

HSP

Health Service Provider

HR

Human Resources

ICU

Intensive Care Unit

KPIs

Key Performance Indicators

LMS

Learning Management System

MDH

Murray District Hospital

OBM

Outcome Based Management
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